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(as at the Latest Practicable Date)
(MEREBERTI1TEHE)

Shareholder Information Online

www.gwpaholdings.com

Our website contains up-to-date information about our Company
including financial information, corporate communications and
other corporate information
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Stock Listing
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of the Company, | hereby present the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and am pleased to report that we continued to successfully
execute our strategic objectives in year 2021.

Financial Results

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately HK$120.4 million and a consolidated
net profit attributable to Shareholders of approximately
HK$759.7 million, which included fair value gain on investment
properties of approximately HK$97.1 million.

Carving out this exceptional item, the consolidated net profit
attributable to Shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2021 amounted to approximately HK$662.6 million, representing
an increase of 544.7% as compared with the consolidated net
loss attributable to Shareholders of HK$149.0 million in 2020.
The swing from loss to profit was mainly due to the significant
increase in share of profits of associates of approximately
HK$773.5 million in 2021, representing an increase of 1,245.2%
as compared with HK$57.5 million in 2020, resulting from
the rise in the growth of fair value revaluation gains on the
investment properties of an associate of the Group. Earnings per
share was HK48.5 cents in 2021, based on weighted average of
1,567,745,596 shares in issue, compared with loss per share of
HK20.4 cents in 2020.

Property Investment

During the year 2021, the Group’s property investment segment
continued to contribute stable rental income to the Group by
maintaining satisfactory occupancy rates of and income from the
investment properties in Hong Kong, comprising of Kwai Fong
Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central,
Yue King Building in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in
Yau Tong and Sea View Estate in North Point. Yue King Building,
which has been vacant since 2018, was successfully leased to
Pine Care Group (1989.HK) this year as an elderly house. It is
anticipated to officially operate in 2022. Despite the borderless
CQOVID-19 outbreak which has adversely affected the fair value of
the investment properties held by the Group, these investment
properties generated segment operating revenue of HK$119.1
million during the year.
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The Group has made substantial steps in improving its existing
positions within the property industry in Hong Kong by investing,
through a joint venture, in a diversified retail portfolio in Hong
Kong. The portfolio comprises a number of strategically-
located commercial properties and shopping centres, plazas
and carparks across Hong Kong that sit in the heart of densely-
populated communities and in close proximity to Mass Transit
Railway stations.

The gross floor area of the portfolio totals 2.048 million sqg. ft.
of prime retail space and comes with over 7760 parking spaces
that are connected to highly-convenient transport links. Their
excellent accessibility and holistic shopping environments have
made them attractive destinations for retailers and hubs of
community life for residents. This investment enabled the Group
to further expand its property investment business and gain
sizeable retail presence in Hong Kong, thereby creating additional
source of revenue and enhancing its profitability.

Financial Services

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
holds license under the SFO to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities) (restricted by certain conditions), Type 4 (advising
on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type
9 (asset management) regulated activities in Hong Kong. The
asset management business generates revenue by charging
management fees based on the amount of assets under
management and the scope of services of corporate finance
services includes advising on corporate finance transactions,
advising on deal structure and financing strategies in the context
of mergers and acquisitions, takeovers and other notifiable
transactions. The revenue and profit generated from financial
services segment decreased by approximately 95.0% and
533.3% respectively, from revenue of approximately HK$26.1
million and profit of HK$1.2 million in prior year to revenue of
approximately HK$1.3 million and loss of HK$5.2 million in the
current year. The decreases were mainly due to decrease in the
number of project under corporate finance services in year 2021
as compared with year 2020.
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The financial year 2021 was a challenging year for the Group.
Hong Kong, as the Group’s key operating market, slipped into a
further recession as the COVID-19 outbreak took its toll on the
economy. These major headwinds created a tough business
environment for the Group and the operating environment in
the 2022 fiscal year is expected to be full of challenges. Due
to unrelenting trade disputes between China and the United
States, a slowdown in global economic growth and the COVID-19
pandemic, we expect the operating performance of relevant
assets and businesses and the estimation of changes in the fair
value of investment properties will be temporarily affected, yet we
believe that the local economy will be gradually stabilized once
the current epidemic ends, and remains confident of the long-
term economic fundamentals and prospects of Hong Kong.

Moreover, the Group will actively seize the investment
opportunities, especially the development opportunities arising
from the China’s Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
strategic plan, in expanding its scope of businesses and exploring
potential investment projects by continuously leveraging on
the brand of GWAMCC. With the support and experience of the
Group’s controlling Shareholder, the Board and the management
of the Company are committed to expanding prudently and
thoroughly the Group’s businesses to generate favourable
investment returns to our Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express the Board’s sincere
gratitude to all our Shareholders, investors, customers and
business partners for their continuous support and to express my
appreciation to my fellow Directors, management and all the staff
of the Company, who have contributed substantially to the Group,
for their hard work, dedication and contribution throughout the
year.

Mr. Wang Hai
Chairman of the Board

8 March 2022
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Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hai, aged 52, was born in Beijing, holds a Master degree
in Business Administration from Tsinghua University and holds
the title of senior accountant. He has been an executive Director,
the Chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company since 20 August 2021. Mr. Wang has
engaged in finance-related work since July 1992 and has over 29
years of experience in finance field. From July 1992 to October
1999, he served as cadre of business department, cadre, staff
member, senior staff member and principal staff member of
capital planning department in Beijing branch of Agricultural
Bank of China. From October 1999 to March 2007, he served as
cadre and deputy director of capital operation division, deputy
director of operation planning division and director of capital
planning division of the finance department of GWAMCC. From
March 2007 to November 2010, he served as Party member,
leader of the significant project team, deputy general manager
and secretary of the commission for discipline inspection in
Shenyang branch of GWAMCC. From November 2010 to January
2014, he served as deputy general manager of significant
project department, deputy general manager of mergers and
acquisitions department in GWAMCC. From January 2014 to June
2021, he served as general manager, chairman of the board and
Party secretary of Great Wall (Tianjin) Equity Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltdx (B (KE) RIEREESERARE
fE/A7])). From October 2011 to December 2014, he served as
chairman of the board of Hunan Tianyi Science and Technology
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000908) (now known as Hunan Jingfeng
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,a company listed in the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange). Since June 2021, Mr. Wang has served as general
manager and director of Great Wall International.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Xu Yongle, aged 52, has been an executive Director of the
Company since 26 March 2021, a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company since 19 July 2021 and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since 8 December 2020
Mr. Xu is also currently a director of various subsidiaries and
associates of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a doctoral degree in
management (accounting) from the Institute of Fiscal Science
under the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (F Bl B B B B B R 22
B ZEFT) and holds the title of senior economist. He is a supervisor
for candidates for master degree. He has engaged in finance-
related work since July 2005. From July 1995 to December 2011,
he served as senior staff member, principal staff member, deputy
director of general foreign affairs division and director of foreign
exchange credit division of the head office and the international
business department of the Agricultural Development Bank
of China (FEIBZZREIRTT). From January 2012 to August
2017, he served as assistant to general manager, deputy general
manager of the office (international business department) of
GWAMCC and deputy general manager of international business
department of GWAMCC. From May 2017 to January 2019, he
served as general manager, managing partner and a member of
the investment committee of Great Wall WL Ross Fund (I & 87
E=). From February 2019 to November 2020, he served as the
deputy general manager of Great Wall International (in charge
of operations). Since October 2012, he has served as director of
Great Wall International.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Xianqing, aged 50, was born in Anging City, Anhui Province,
holds a Master degree in Engineering from Institute of Plasma
Physics Chinese Academy of Sciences. He has been a non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company since 20 August 2021. Mr. Yu has engaged in finance-
related work since July 1997 and has over 24 years of experience
in finance field. From July 1997 to February 2000, he served as
cadre of technology department in Anhui branch of Agricultural
Bank of China. From February 2000 to March 2012, he served as
deputy division chief and division chief of finance department,
deputy director of assets operation department and senior
manager of business development department in Hefei office of
GWAMCC. From March 2012 to March 2015, he served as board
secretary, general manager of equity investment department
and director of business approval office in Great Wall Guorong
Investment Management Limited” (RIFEIRIEEEERERAF).
From March 2015 to February 2018, he served as senior manager
of product promotion division Il of division synergy department
in GWAMCC. Since February 2018, Mr. Yu has served as senior
manager of division Il of subsidiaries management department of
GWAMCC.

*  For identification purpose only
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Song Ming, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company on 5 November 2016.
Dr. Song graduated from Zhejiang University in July 1982 with a
bachelor degree in applied mathematics. Dr. Song obtained his
master degree in applied mathematics from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (formerly known as Huazhong
Institute of Technology), and was awarded a doctorate by Ohio
State University. He has over 29 years of experience in the
research of bank regulation and management, financial market,
derivatives and macroeconomics. Between 1991 and 1997,
Dr. Song was the associate professor and assistant professor
at the department of economics, Cleveland State University.
From 1997 to 2018, Dr. Song was employed by the school of
economics and finance of the University of Hong Kong, and
he was a professor, the director of Centre for China Financial
Research and the associate director of the Institute for China
and Global Development at the University of Hong Kong. Dr.
Song is currently the Dean of the Economics and Management
School of Wuhan University and has been heavily involved in
various academic conferences, researches and consultation
projects. He served as an independent non-executive director of
Wuzhou International Holdings Limited (previously listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1369 (delisted))
from May 2013 to December 2020. Dr. Song is currently an
independent non-executive director of The United Laboratories
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3933) and Guotai
Junan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1788), both
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. In
addition, Dr. Song is also an independent director of Tande Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600665), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange.
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Dr. Sun Mingchun, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 5 November 2016. He is the Chief Economist of
Haitong International Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since
November 2019. During the period from October 2014 to October
2019, Dr. Sun served as the chairman and chief investment
officer of Deepwater Capital Limited. Prior to joining Deepwater
Capital Limited, Dr. Sun held the positions as the senior partner
and chief economist at China Broad Capital Co., Limited, the
managing director, head of China research and chief Greater
China economist at Daiwa Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited,
the chief China economist, head of China equity research and
managing director at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited
and the senior China economist, vice president at Lehman
Brothers Asia Limited. During the period from July 1993 to August
1999, Dr. Sun was also an economist of the State Administration
of Foreign Exchange of the PRC. Dr. Sun is currently the vice
chairman of the Chinese Financial Association of Hong Kong
and a member of the China Finance 40 Forum. He is also a guest
professor of the Finance EMBA program of Shanghai Advanced
Institute of Finance and the School of Economics of Fudan
University, and the honorary institute fellow of The Asia-Pacific
Institute of Business of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr.
Sun received a bachelor’s degree in international economics from
Fudan University in July 1993. He also obtained a master’s degree
in engineering economic systems and operations research and
a doctoral degree in management science and engineering from
Stanford University in June 2001 and June 2006, respectively.
From July 2014 to June 2020, Dr. Sun served as an independent
non-executive director of HJ Capital (International) Holdings
Company Limited (now known as Huafa Property Services Group
Company Limited) (stock code: 982), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange. He is currently an independent non-executive
director of Weimob Inc. (stock code: 2013), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERERmREHE

Ms. Liu Yan, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and the chairlady of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 26 November 2018. Ms. Liu obtained a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics in 1992 and a Master degree in
Business Administration from University of Rochester in
2005. She is a member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CICPA) and passed all three levels for Chartered
Financial Analyst (CFA) Program. Ms. Liu has over 21 years of
experience in auditing, financial management, taxation and fund
management. From 1992 to 1994, Ms. Liu worked at Brilliance
Group Holdings Limited in Shanghai. From 1994 to 2001, she
worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers in Guangzhou. From 2005
to 2007, she worked at the Global Financial Risk Management
Department at Barclays Capital in New York City. From 2007 to
2010, Ms. Liu served as vice president at Angelo Gordon Asia
Limited. From 2010 to 2015, she served as managing director of
Investment Management Department and Fund Management
Department at China Everbright Limited (Hong Kong). From
November 2016 to September 2018, Ms. Liu served as an
independent non-executive director of U Banquet Group Holding
Limited (stock code: 1483), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. From June 2018 to August 2021, Ms. Liu
served as an independent non-executive director of Haitong
International Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She
is currently an independent non-executive director of Tai United
Holdings Limited (stock code: 718) and Planetree International
Development Limited (stock code: 613), both of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRmREHE

Senior Management

Ms. Zheng Yuanyuan, aged 43, was appointed as the Deputy
General Manager of the Company with effect from 15 March
2019. She was the company secretary of the Company from 31
October 2016 to 11 October 2019 and acted as head of the legal
department of the Company from the same date to June 2018.
Ms. Zheng has extensive experience in handling large investment
and transaction projects. She passed the National Judicial
Examination of the PRC and obtained the Legal Profession
Qualification Certificate in 2002. She acquired bar qualification in
the New York State of the United States in 2008 and qualified as a
practicing solicitor in Hong Kong in 2015. After obtaining a Master
degree in Common Law from the University of Pennsylvania in the
United States, Ms. Zheng worked in the Hong Kong office of Baker
& McKenzie from 2007 to 2015, and served as special counsel
prior to her resignation. From December 2015 to June 2018, Ms.
Zheng served as co-head of the legal department of Great Wall
International and acted as the Chief Administrative Officer of the
general affairs department of Great Wall International from June
2018 to March 2019.

Mr. Zou Laiying, aged 45, was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect from 23 November 2021. He
graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law
in 2000 with a bachelor degree in Finance and was awarded
a master degree in Financial Management from Newcastle
Business School in the United Kingdom in 2011. He is a Certified
Public Accountant of the PRC and holds the qualification of
Professional Risk Manager designated by the Professional Risk
Managers’ International Association. Mr. Zou has extensive
experience in financial analysis, risk management and audit.
From July 2000 to July 2002, he served as an office staff in
Qingdao branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.. From July
2002 to July 2006, he worked at Shandong Huide Certified Public
Accountants as an auditor. From July 2006 to August 2009, he
served as a finance manager in the Bank of East Asia (China)
Limited. From May 2011 to January 2012, he served as the
manager of the financing department of China Universal Leasing
Co., Ltd.. From January 2012 to September 2015, he served as the
senior manager of Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited.
From October 2015 to December 2018, he served as the head
of compliance division of compliance and risk department of
GWAMCC. Since January 2019, Mr. Zou has served as the deputy
senior manager of finance management division of financial
planning department of GWAMCC. He has served as the head of
finance department of Great Wall International since September
2021.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERERmREHE

Company Secretary

Mr. Kong Hok Kan, aged 38, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 11 October 2019 and
is primarily responsible for the company secretarial and listing
compliance functions of the Group. He served as the Deputy
Company Secretary from April 2017 to October 2019. He is a
Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional, and
a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University
of Brighton in the United Kingdom and a Master of Science
degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance
from City University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Kong had served various listed companies during the period from
August 2006 to March 2017 and has over 15 years of extensive
experiences in company secretarial and corporate governance
practices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

Operating Results of the Group

The Group’s consolidated operating results for the years ended #H®EBHE_S_—SFK_ZT_TFE+_H
31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows: —t+—HIEFEZGAERESEERNT -

For the year ended 31 December

HE+-A=+—BILEE

(HK$ millions, except percentages (BEAmT BNt 2021 2020 % Change
and per share amounts) RER SRR - ZZTTHE EFHFol
Revenue Wz 120.4 130.2 (7.5%)
Rental and utilities & K i (14.3) (13.3) 7.5%
Other operating expenses H& SR (48.9) (49.4) (1.0%)
Operating costs before depreciation and impairment ReHTERBEZ

KEA (63.2) (62.7) 0.8%
Impairment of property plant and equipment and WZE B BRI A

right-of-use assets FRESERE (41) (92.9) (95.6%)

Depreciation e (10.0) (12.5) (20.0%)
Adjusted operating profit/(loss)" RBRCERT

(&518) " 434 (37.9) **
Other income and gain or losses HtA k= 50818 0.8 0.1 i
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties SEYENTERG,

(5518 971 (170.6) o
Operating profit/(loss) R (5518) 141.0 (208.4) o
Net finance cost ISR 3 R (146.4) (160.9) (9.0%)
Share of profits of associates FE(LEHE AR R 773.5 575 *o
Income tax expense FrigMB (8.4) (7.8) 77%
Profit/(loss) for the year 2ERBF/ (5i8) 759.7 (319.6) *k
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders RERE AEGRT

(5518) 759.7 (319.6) o
Earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) SREFN (5B

(L) 48.5 (20.4) o

REBEERT, (BB REARTEMUEA
RGEMERTEWED, (B 2KERF,/

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) is defined as operating profit/ 7
(loss) before other income and fair value gain/(loss) on investment

properties. (&518) °
**  Represents a change in excess of 100%. ** RNEBFEIE100% ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE Vi

Profit attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to approximately HK$759.7 million,
representing a significant increase of approximately 337.7%
as compared with loss attributable to equity holders of
approximately HK$319.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. Earnings per share was HK48.5 cents for the year ended
31 December 2021, based on weighted average of 1,567,745,596
shares in issue (loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2020: HK20.4 cents based on 1,567,745,596 shares in issue).
Profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 is mainly attributable
to the fair value gain on investment properties and the significant
increase in share of profits of associates.

Excluding the revaluation gain of investment properties for the
year ended 31 December 2021 of approximately HK$97.1 million
(revaluation loss of investment properties for the year ended 31
December 2020: approximately HK$170.6 million), the net profit
attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$662.6 million (net loss attributable
to equity holders for the year ended 31 December 2020:
approximately HK$149.0 million), representing a significant year-
on-year increase of approximately HK$811.6 million or 544.7%.
The turnaround of the Group’s annual results from loss to profit
was mainly due to the significant increase in the share of profits
of associates of approximately HK$773.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended 31 December 2020:
share of profits of associates of approximately HK$57.5 million),
resulting from the growth of fair value revaluation gains on the
investment properties of an associate of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

Business Review

The Group principally engages in the operation of two segments,
namely, the property investment segment and the financial
services segment.

The positive results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 are primarily attributable to the contribution by the
property investment segment. The Group’s investment property
portfolio had no significant changes during the year and it has
maintained a diversified investment property portfolio in Hong
Kong which comprises Kwai Fong Plaza, certain floors of the
Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue King Building in Causeway
Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau Tong and Seaview Estate in
North Point. On the other hand, the Group has also participated
in the investment in the JV Group (as defined in the paragraph
headed “Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in
an Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate” on page 24 of
this report) which holds a diversified portfolio of properties in
Hong Kong. Details of the said investment in the JV Group have
been set out in the paragraph headed “Significant Investment in
relation to the Investment in an Associate and Share of Profit of
an Associate” in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.

In 2021, the Group’s investment property business continued to
make good progress against an uncertain economic background.
In these challenging times, the Group focused on maintaining the
stability of its existing investment property portfolio, engaging
with its tenants and improving its balance sheet. Through its
diversified property portfolio, the Group’s investment properties
contributed a relatively steady income stream of approximately
HK$119.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as
compared to HK$104.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue
decreased by 7.5% to HK$120.4 million (for the year ended
31 December 2020: HK$130.2 million) due to the decrease of
revenue from financial services segment, despite the above, a
profit attributable to equity holders of HK$759.7 million was
recorded (for the year ended 31 December 2020: loss attributable
to equity holders of HK$319.6 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE Vi

As a result of the recovery of the Hong Kong property market as
the COVID-19 pandemic gradually came under control during the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a significant
gain in fair value of the Group’s investment properties of HK$97.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year ended
31 December 2020: fair value loss of HK$170.6 million) and the
significant increase in share of profits of the Group’s associates
of HK$773.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for
the year ended 31 December 2020: share of profits of associates
of HK$57.5 million). At 31 December 2021, capitalisation rates
range from 2.65% to 3.90% (at 31 December 2020: range from
2.75% to 3.90%) are used in the income capitalisation approach
for the investment properties which are owned by the Group. With
other variable(s) held constant, the higher the rates, the lower
the fair value. At 31 December 2021, rental rates of HK$10.0 psf
to HK$96.0 psf and HK$3,379.0 per car parking space (at 31
December 2020: HK$10.0 psf to HK$98.0 psf and HK$3,326.0 per
car parking space) are used for investment properties and car
parking space respectively in the income capitalisation approach.
With other variable(s) held constant, the lower the rental rates,
the lower the fair value. Given the unknown future impact that
COVID-19 might have on the real estate market, management will
keep the valuation under frequent review.

The Group continues to leverage on the successful strategy in
diversifying its portfolio of investment properties as outlined
in its previous Annual Reports. This strategy has proven to be
successful in year 2021 and we are confident that it will continue
to succeed in the future so as to generate sustainable return for
our shareholders.

The Group also operates in the financial services segment which
comprises provision of asset management and corporate finance
services (licensed by the SFC to carry out Types 1, 4, 6 and 9
regulated activities). Although the Group recorded a year-on-year
decrease in the revenue generated from the financial services
segment for the year ended 31 December 2021 given the volatile
financial market in year 2021, as more particularly discussed
in the paragraph headed “Financial Services” below, the Group
will continue to explore and seize opportunities to develop its
financial services segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

Revenue

The consolidated revenue for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 by business segments and for the Group were as

Wz
BE_ T —FREFEF+_H=1+—H

IFFE BEF DB RAERERE 2 FEWmil

follows: T
For the year ended 31 December

BE+B=1t—HILEE

2021 2020 % Change
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (BEBT BRI ZBZ—F ZZTZF EFHILEL
Property investment MELE 11941 104.1 14.4%
Financial services T RARTS 1.3 26.1 (95.0%)
Total revenue W AR %E 120.4 130.2 (7.5%)
Financial Review by Operating Segments EIED P2 M5 [olEa

The Group’s reportable and operating segments during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

(a) property investment segment which comprises the
investment in retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces for rental income; and

(b) financial services segment which comprises provision
of asset management and corporate finance services
(licensed by the SFC to carry out Types 1, 4, 6 and 9
regulated activities).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE Vi

Property Investment MERE
For the year ended 31 December
BE+_B=1+—HLEE
2021 2020 % Change
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (BEAT BRI ZBZT—4F ZZTTTF fZFaoH
Revenue W 119.1 104.1 14.4%
Adjusted EBITDA" RBERRETFIE
MIETER
#iEz B 54.3 56.4 (3.7%)
Depreciation TE (9.2) (11.5) (20.0%)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and W RS R R B A
right-of-use assets EREEERE (41) (92.8) (95.6%)
Adjusted operating profit/(loss) RRREERT],/
(518) 41.0 (47.9) **
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties and BREMEATEWT,
other income (B518) REMA 113.8 (153.9) *k
Net finance cost BSR4 B ER (15.1) (29.5) (48.8%)
Income tax expense FrigMB (8.5) (6.5) 30.8%
Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders* LR, (B518)* 131.2 (237.8) xx

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, impairment, other income and fair value gain/loss on
investment properties.

Including fair value gain on investment properties of approximately
HK$97.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 and fair value
loss on investment properties of approximately HK$170.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

**  Represents a change in excess of 100%.

Revenue of property investment segment for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$119.1 million, compared
with approximately HK$104.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. The increase is mainly due to the increase in
revenue generated from the new rental agreement relating to Yue
King Building.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

The profit attributable to shareholders from property investment
segment was mainly due to the fair value gain on investment
properties for the year ended 31 December 2021. An adjusted
operating profit of approximately HK$41.0 million was recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2021, compared to an adjusted
operating loss of approximately HK$47.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly attributable to
the recognition of impairment charge of property, plant and
equipment of HK$92.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2020.

As at the date of this report, the Group’s diversified investment
property portfolio in Hong Kong comprises Kwai Fong Plaza,
certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue King
Building in Causeway Bay (including the outdoor billboards at the
exterior wall), Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau Tong and Seaview
Estate in North Point.

Revaluation gain on investment properties for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$97.1 million, compared
with the revaluation loss of approximately HK$170.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The revaluation gain for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was mainly caused by the
increase in fair value of Kwai Fong Plaza and certain floors of
Yue King Building of around HK$90.1 million and HK$7.0 million
respectively. The increase in appraised value of the investment
properties of the Group was attributable to recovery of the Hong
Kong property market as the COVID-19 pandemic gradually came
under control in second half of year 2021.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31
December 2021 by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited (31
December 2020: Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited), which holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations and
segments of the investment properties being valued. For all
investment properties, their current use equates to the highest
and best use. The revaluation gains or losses are shown as “Fair
value gain or loss on investment properties” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Fair values of the retail
shops, office buildings, industrial properties and car parking
spaces are derived using the income capitalisation approach.
There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year.
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Financial Services ERLARTS
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-_A=+—HLEE
2021 2020 % Change
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (BEAT BRI ZBZT—4F ZZTTTF fZFaoH
Revenue Wz 1.3 26.1 (95.0%)
Adjusted EBITDA" RBERRETFIE
RIETER
iz B (5.1) 27 *k
Depreciation e (0.1) (0.3) (66.7%)
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit RS
(8518 /&F (5.2) 2.4 *x
Net finance cost B N - 0.1 (100.0%)
Income tax credit PRIGHIIR SR - (1.3) (100.0%)
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders BmFE ANEE
(§518) /&7 (5.2) 1.2 *x

A

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and other income.

**  Represents a change in excess of 100%.

The revenue derived from asset management and advisory
services for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$1.3
million (31 December 2020: HK$25.7 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 94.9%). There was no revenue derived
from corporate finance services for the year ended 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: HK$0.2 million, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 100%). The sharp decrease in the financial
services income was mainly due to the expiration of the asset
management agreement entered with an intermediate holding
company in October 2020 and the decrease in the number of
projects under corporate finance services due to the volatile
financial market in year 2021.
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Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in an
Associate and Share of Profit of an Associate

Significant investment in an associate represents the Group’s
35.78% equity interests in a joint venture, Everwell City Limited
(together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “dJV Group”), which
owns 16 diversified commercial properties and shopping centres,
plazas and carparks across Hong Kong at Cheung Hang Shopping
Centre, Kai Yip Commercial Centre, Kam Tai Shopping Centre, Lei
Cheng Uk Shopping Centre, On Ting Commercial Complex, Shek
Lei Shopping Centre | & Il, Tai Wo Hau Commercial Centre, Tsz
Ching Shopping Centre, Yau Oi Commercial Centre, Yung Shing
Shopping Centre, Kwai Shing East Shopping Centre, Lai Kok
Shopping Centre, Lee On Shopping Centre, retail and car park
within Shun Tin Estate, Tsing Yi Commercial Complex and Lions
Rise Mall. The initial investment cost was HK$3,123.4 million in
2018. The fair value of the investment was HK$4,556.7 million as
at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: HK$3,863.7 million)
and represented around 52.2% of the total assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 49.3%). The Group’s
share of profit of an associate from JV Group was approximately
HK$774.7 million in 2021 (share of profit for the year ended 31
December 2020: HK$56.8 million). The increase in the share
of profit of an associate of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 is mainly due to the growth of fair value gains
of the investment properties of the JV Group (which comprise of
commercial properties), which was attributable to the recovery
of the Hong Kong property market as the COVID-19 pandemic
gradually came under control in the second half of year 2021.
The Group presently intends to hold the abovementioned equity
interests in the JV Group as long-term investment.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Group’s main source of liquidity is recurring cash flows from
the property investment and financial services businesses. The
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
were as follows:

MEMEERERKIR

FEEZIERPETRKERKENERE
BRIRBEBR L KEHIRERE - AEENR ST

R ZECEF+_A=+—BZHHKR
LI

31 December 31 December

2021 2020 % Change

"B EBEH

+=B +=A
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (BE8EmT anttksyy =+—H =+—H #“FHEDL
Cash and bank balances RE MBI 329.6 212.5 55.1%
Shareholders’ funds REEE 3,400.9 2,640.7 28.8%
Current ratio MENEEZ 0.07 0.25 (72.0%)
Gearing ratio BEQMBILE 56.5% 63.2% (10.6%)

The Group’s cash and bank balances are held predominantly
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has no significant exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group has maintained a
strong cash position and expects its cash and cash equivalents,
and cash generated from operations to be adequate to meeting
its working capital requirements.
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$329.6 million, as compared
to approximately HK$212.5 million as at 31 December 2020.
The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 was 56.5%
(as at 31 December 2020: 63.2%), being calculated as total
debts (which includes the loans from an intermediate holding
company, amount due to an intermediate holding company and
bank borrowing) less cash and bank balances (“net debt”), over
the Company’s total capital employed. Total capital employed
is equivalent to the sum of net debt and shareholders’ funds.
The decrease in gearing ratio is mainly due to the increase in
shareholders’ funds as a result of the fair value gains of the
investment properties. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
had outstanding principal of unsecured shareholder loans of
HK$4,750.1 million (as at 31 December 2020: HK$3,848.4 million).
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has no undrawn bank facility
(as at 31 December 2020: HK$485.0 million), and the Group had
no outstanding bank borrowing as at 31 December 2021 (as at
31 December 2020: HK$901.0 million). As disclosed in Note 14
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had repaid
the bank borrowing in February 2021 by a term loan provided by
Great Wall International. The Group actively and regularly reviews
and manages its liquidity position and financial resources and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions
and business development needs.

For the SFC licensed corporations under the Group, the Group
has ensured that each of the licensed corporations maintains
a liquidity level adequate to support the level of activities
with a sufficient buffer to accommodate increases in liquidity
requirements arising from potential increases in the level of
business activities. During the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2021, all the licensed subsidiaries have complied with
the liquidity requirements under the Securities and Futures
(Financial Resources) Rules.
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Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2020, an investment property of the Group
with fair value of approximately HK$1,840.0 million and restricted
cash of HK$6.2 million were pledged to secure the mortgage loan
granted to the Group. Following the repayment of the mortgage
loan in February 2021, there is no charge over the assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2021. For details, please refer to Notes
14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended
31 December 2021 was HK$51.3 million, compared with net cash
generated from operating activities of HK$59.4 million in 2020.
The decrease in operating cash inflow was mainly due to the
decrease in revenue in the year ended 31 December 2021.

Investing Activities

Net cash generated from investing activities for the year ended
31 December 2021 was HK$85.9 million, compared with the net
cash generated from investing activities of HK$2.4 million in
2020. The increase in investment cash inflow was mainly due to
the dividend income from an associate of HK$67.1 million and
repayment of loan from an associate of HK$14.6 million in year
2021.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2021 was HK$20.3 million, compared with the net
cash used in financing activities of HK$31.5 million in 2020. The
decrease in financing cash outflow was mainly due to decrease
in interest paid from HK$26.0 million in year 2020 to HK$15.0
million in year 2021.
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Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 18 employees
(as at 31 December 2020: 21). As the Group’s businesses will
continue to grow, its remuneration philosophy is designed to
provide its employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,
while aligning with our business strategies and values.

The Group’s remuneration and benefit policies, which are
structured in accordance with market terms and statutory
requirements, aim to recognise employees with outstanding
performance, motivate and reward employees in order to achieve
its business performance targets, retain and attract key talents
and ensure alignment with the interests of our businesses, and
thereby enhancing shareholder value. In addition, other staff
benefits such as medical insurance, medical check-up scheme,
mandatory and voluntary provident fund scheme and rental
reimbursement scheme are offered to eligible employees.

The Group’s employee recruitment and promotion are primarily
based on individuals’ merits, relevant experiences, development
potentials for the positions offered and performance.

Outlook

2021 was another challenging year under the COVID-19
pandemic. Yet signs of recovery in the global economies
have been seen in 2021. With the rapid development and
popularisation of COVID-19 vaccination and the effective control
of the pandemic, the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
have eased in many developed countries. Economies around
the world, including Hong Kong, are showing signs of recovery.
The Hong Kong Census and Statistics Department forecast that
Hong Kong economy was on the path to recovery with global
commercial conditions improving. The rebound in the economy
of Hong Kong continued in 2021, with gross domestic product
growing 6.4% year-on-year as business activities revived amid a
relaxation of rules on social distance.
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To cope with such challenges, the Board and management of the
Company will fully leverage on the competitive edges of the Group
to drive the performance of core businesses at a steady pace
and will also actively seize investment opportunities prudently
and thoroughly in order to generate favourable returns for our
Shareholders while maintaining strong cash position. The Board
considers that the overall financial and business positions of the
Group remain healthy.

Currently, the Group’s investment properties continue to
contribute stable stream of revenue. For the year under review,
the local economy has stabilized, however, the road to recovery
is still unpredictable. Overall, there are positive signs that
the economic recovery will maintain its momentum and our
management remains confident of the long-term economic
prospects of Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, in the complicated and constantly-changing
macro-economic environment with fierce competition, the Group
will seize the development opportunities arising from the China’s
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area strategic plan
and further strengthen the synergy effect by leveraging on the
substantial resources from GWAMCC, our controlling shareholder,
through the integration of domestic and foreign capital markets,
and expanding its domestic business, to ensure the Group can
make full use of its role as the sole overseas listed platform of
GWAMCC.
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The Board and the Company’s management are committed to
upholding the Group’s obligations to Shareholders. We regard the
promotion and protection of Shareholders’ interests as one of our
priorities and keys to success.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders and enhance corporate value,
formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its
transparency and accountability.

The Group has put in place sound corporate governance practices
to ensure it adheres to high ethical and business standards. The
key test of corporate governance practices is whether they can
align the interests of management with those of Shareholders
to adequately protect and promote Shareholders’ interests. The
Group is committed to the continuous improvement of corporate
governance practices to support the performance of our
business and enable effective oversight. The Group constantly
reviews these guidelines and policies and implements new ones
to ensure they remain relevant and practical in today’s fast
changing business environment and market expectations.

The Group has adopted and applied the applicable principles
and code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its corporate
governance practices. The Group also adheres to certain
recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code
insofar as they are relevant and practicable.

The Board is of the view that, throughout the year ended 31
December 2021, the Company has complied with the principles
and code provisions applicable for listed issuers with a financial
year commencing before 1 January 2022 as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code, save for the deviations from code
provisions A1.7 and E.1.2 as explained below and in this report.
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Code provision A1.7 of the Corporate Governance Code (updated
reference for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2022: code provision C.5.7) provides that if a substantial
shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in a matter
to be considered by the board which the board has determined
to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a physical
board meeting rather than a written resolution. Independent
non-executive directors who, and whose close associates, have
no material interest in the transaction should be present at
that board meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Board approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the proposed renewal of tenancies of portions of
certain floors of the Group’s premises in the Bank of America
Tower to its controlling shareholder, Great Wall International, by
way of circulation of written resolutions in lieu of physical board
meeting on 25 October 2021, for which certain Directors who
are nominated by the controlling Shareholder of the Company,
was regarded as having material interests therein. However, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that such proposed renewal of tenancies and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fair and reasonable,
are on normal commercial terms or better and are in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Company and are in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders of the Company
as a whole. In addition, each of Mr. Wang Hai and Mr. Xu Yongle,
being the Director of the Company and a director of Great Wall
International, had abstained from voting on the relevant written
resolutions of the Board in approving the proposed renewal
of tenancies and the transactions contemplated thereunder
pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and the Listing Rules.
Before formal execution of the written resolutions, the Directors
had discussed the matters via electronic means and the Board
considers that adoption of written resolutions would facilitate
and maximise the effectiveness of its operation. The Board shall
nevertheless review its board meeting arrangement from time to
time to ensure appropriate arrangement is being taken to comply
with the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code.
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The Group believes that its current corporate governance
practices, which combine governance framework and practices
that develop over time and new practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, provide the Group with a sound and sensible
framework for balancing the business of the Group and the
interests of its Shareholders. The Group will continue to evaluate
its corporate governance practices in light of its business needs,
regulatory changes and new corporate governance philosophies.

Set out below are our current framework of governance and
explanations about how the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code have been applied.

The Board of Directors

The Board recognises its responsibility to represent the interests
of Shareholders. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board
comprises six Directors: two executive Directors and four non-
executive Directors (including three independent non-executive
Directors). Independent non-executive Directors represent more
than one-third of the Board.

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date
of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Hai (appointed on 20 August 2021)
Mr. Xu Yongle (appointed on 26 March 2021)
Mr.Huang Hu (resigned on 20 August 2021)
Mr. Meng Xuefeng (resigned on 19 July 2021)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr.Yu Xianging (appointed on 20 August 2021)
Ms. Lv Jia (resigned on 20 August 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Song Ming

Dr. Sun Mingchun

Ms. Liu Yan

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship) among members of
the Board. The biographies of all the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 8 to 15 of this Annual Report.
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The Board’s main responsibility and purpose is to deliver the
long-term success of the Group and to create long-term value
for its Shareholders by providing strategic and entrepreneurial
leadership, and by exercising prudent oversight and control
over the Company. As the business continues to grow, the Board
needs to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources —
both funding and talent - to deliver success. The Board also
recognises the need for effective engagement by the Company
with its key stakeholders, including all its investors.

Each Director brings a wide range and years of business
experience to the Board to meet our long-term objectives.
The Directors’ combined knowledge, expertise and experience
are extremely valuable in overseeing the Group’s business
operations.

The Board sets the strategic direction and oversees the
performance of the Group’s business and management. The
principal matters the Board is responsible for include:

- approval of strategic direction, policies and objectives

« review and approval of business plans and budgets

« monitoring operational and financial performance

« review and approval of annual results and interim results

« review and approval of annual report and interim report as
well as the related financial statements

« review and approval of dividend policy and recommendation
of final dividend, and declaration of interim dividend and
where appropriate, special dividends

« appointment of auditor

« review and approval of significant acquisitions and disposals
and major financings, borrowings and guarantees

- approval of material contracts

« overseeing the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring their effectiveness

In addition, the Board discusses major operating issues,
evaluates opportunities and business risks. Decisions and
conduct of matters other than those specifically reserved to
the Board are delegated to the management whilst structured
monthly updates on the Group’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient details are provided to the Directors to
enable them to discharge their duties.
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The Board reviews the arrangements between the
responsibilities of the Board and the matters delegated to the
management periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate
to the needs of the Group and its businesses.

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code (updated reference for financial
years commencing on or after 1 January 2022: code provision
A.2.1) and adopted a revised Terms of Reference of the Board on
Corporate Governance Functions in March 2017, including:

« develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance

« review and monitoring of the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management

« review and monitoring of the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

« development, review and monitoring of the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors

« review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report as specified under the Listing Rules

Key corporate governance matters reviewed by the Board during
the year were:

+ review of the Company’s compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements

« review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code

« review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Group

« proposal on the appointment of BDO Limited as the
Company’s external auditor following the retirement of
PricewaterhouseCoopers

« appointment of Mr. Xu Yongle as member of the
Remuneration Committee

« appointment of Mr. Wang Hai as Chairman of the Board,
executive Director and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee
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« appointment of Mr. Yu Xianging as non-executive Director
and member of the Audit Committee

« appointment of Chief Financial Officer

« annual review of continuing connected transactions

« approval of continuing connected transactions

« review and adoption of revised Matters Specially Reserved
for the Board of Directors and Functions and Responsibilities
Delegated to the Management and certain internal policies

The Group has devised a Whistleblowing Policy (updated on 21
June 2019) on malpractice reporting and investigation setting
out specific procedures facilitating whistle-blowing reports and
investigation thereof.

The Company is also committed to upholding sound corporate
governance practices and complying with its obligations to
disclose inside information under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as well as the Listing Rules. The Company had adopted
a Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information setting out specific
policies and procedures facilitating the Company’s compliance
with these obligations.

Board Proceedings

The Board holds four regular meetings annually as a minimum,
usually quarterly, and also meets at such other times as
necessary. The Company generally gives notice and draft agenda
of regular Board and Board Committees meetings at least 14
days in advance. For other Board and Committees meetings,
notice is generally given pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws
and the respective Terms of Reference of the Committees.

Agenda of Board meetings are prepared by the Company
Secretary in consultation with the Chairman of the Board, and
based on a forward calendar that helps to ensure that all relevant
matters for the year ahead are considered by the Board in a
timely manner. Each Director is encouraged to contribute to the
agenda setting process. The Board is provided with adequate,
timely and reliable information about the Group’s businesses and
developments before each Board meeting at which the Directors
actively participate and make informed discussions. Each
Director is asked to review and comment on the Board minutes
within a reasonable time after each meeting to maintain accurate
records of Board discussions and decisions.
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During the year, the Board held four Board meetings. The FR> EEGERTOREFTEERZ -SEETE
attendance of each Director at Board and Committee meetings, BEEKEETTE BREBEARDLULKERS
the annual general meeting and the special general meeting is ~ BIKREHEXREFTWT :

detailed in the table below:

Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

LERB/EEHE
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual Special
Board  Committee =~ Committee  Committee General General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENZEE HHEREE RWERE  RREE  RRED

Name of Director BEtY EE EE: EE] EE] AE AE
M. Huang Hu B8 540 2 - - " " -
M. Wang Hai Tispae 202 - - - A o/
Mr. Meng Xusfeng® HZBREY 172 -/- 171 -/- 0/1 -/-
Mr. Xu Yongle® 9E Sl 3/3 -/- -/- -/- 1/1 171
Ms. LvJia® BELLY 212 171 -/~ -/- on -/-
M. YuXianging® SEBRED 202 202 - - A o
Dr.Song Ming REL 44 3/3 1" 1n 0n 01
Dr. Sun Mingchun hEERL 3/4 -/- 171 1/1 0/1 1/1
Ms. Liu Yan fgut 4l 3/3 -/- -/- on 0N
Notes: PEET

(1) Resigned as Chairman of the Board, an executive Director and (1) RIZZEZ—FNBZ+HBEESEEE 1T

Chairman of the Nomination Committee on 20 August 2027. Two EERRELEEGFE - N B —FN\BZ+
Board meetings and one Nomination Committee meeting were held BRZAERITMARESEEZR—RIELS
on or before 20 August 2021. BEE®&e

(2) Appointed as Chairman of the Board, an executive Director and (2) RZZE_—FENB_+HEZTAESZTTIE

Chairman of the Nomination Committee on 20 August 2021. Two HITESKREREZEGTE-R_ZE_—FN\A
Board meetings were held on or after 20 August 2021. “tHAZBERITMANEETTEE

(3) Resigned as an executive Director and a member of Remuneration  (3) MZZEZ—F+ B+ HEHEHITES K5

Committee on 19 July 2021. Two Board meetings and one ZEENE N2 _—FtA+NABZHZAB
Remuneration Committee meeting were held on or before 19 July BIOMRESEEEN—RFTNEZEEEH-
2021.
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(4) Appointed as an executive Director on 26 March 2021 and a member
of Remuneration Committee on 19 July 2021. Three Board meetings
were held on or after 26 March 2021.

(5) Resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee on 20 August 2021. Two Board meetings and one Audit
Committee meeting were held on or before 20 August 2021.

(6) Appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee on 20 August 2021. Two Board meetings and two Audit
Committee meetings were held on or before 20 August 2021.

All the Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure all board procedures and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are complied with.
The Directors update the Board regarding offices held in
public companies and organisations, and other significant
commitments once every half year. There are also procedures for
the Directors to obtain independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense.

Code provision A.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code (updated
reference for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2022: code provision C.2.7) stipulated that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
directors without the presence of other directors. The meeting
was held on 16 December 2021.

Board Diversity Policy

The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of the Company’s
performance.

The Nomination Committee of the Board is primarily responsible
for leading the process for Board appointments and for
identifying and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
benefits of diversity continue to influence the succession
planning of the Board.
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When identifying candidates for Board membership of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes into account the
board diversity policy of the Company (‘Board Diversity Policy”). A
range of diversity factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional and industry
experience, skills, knowledge and time commitments will be
considered in selection of each candidate to become member of
the Board. All Board appointments will be based on merits and
contribution that the selected individuals will bring to the Board.
The Company’s own business model and specific needs has
also been taken into consideration in setting the Board Diversity
Policy. External recruitment professionals might be engaged to
carry out the selection and recruitment process when necessary.

In conducting the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the balance
of talents, skills, experience and background and the diversity
representation of the Board. The Nomination Committee will
review annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The
Nomination Committee will report annually on the process it has
used for Board appointments.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process and
Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”),
which aims to set out the relevant selection criteria and
nomination procedures to assist the Nomination Committee
and the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirement of the Group’s businesses. A summary of the
Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1. Criteria
The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for

directorships:

« Character and integrity.
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+ Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

+ Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships and
significant commitments.

« Requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

« Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee or the Board for
achieving diversity on the Board.

«  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

2. Nomination Process
2.1 Appointment of New Director

211 The Nomination Committee or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section 1 above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

21.21f the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

21.3 The Nomination Committee shall then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship.
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2.1.4 For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship
and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.

2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting

2.21The Nomination Committee and the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out in section 1 above.

2.2.3The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the
general meeting.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Board confirms the term of appointment and functions of
all non-executive Directors and Board Committee members with
formal letters of appointment.

Directors who are appointed to fill vacancies or as an addition to
the Board are subject to re-election at the next following general
meeting of the Company after his or her appointment. In addition,
every Director, including every non-executive Director, shall retire
from office no later than the third annual general meeting after
he/she was last elected or re-elected. One-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then a number not less than one-third, are required to
retire by rotation from office at every annual general meeting
under the Company’s Bye-Laws. A retiring Director is eligible for
re-election.
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The Company maintains procedures for Shareholders to propose
a person for election as a director of the Company. The details of
these procedures are published on the Company’s website.

Directors’ Remunerations

The Directors’ fees and all other reimbursements and
emoluments (if any) paid or payable to the Directors during the
year are set out, on an individual and named basis, in Note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report on
pages 221 to 226.

The remuneration policy of the Group is set out on page 28 of this
Annual Report.

Compliance with the Model Code and the Company’s
Guidelines

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this Annual Report.

The Company has also adopted written guidelines (the
“Company’s Guidelines”), which are equally stringent as the
Model Code, in respect of securities transactions by relevant
employees of the Company who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information of the Company pursuant to
code provision A.6.4 of the Corporate Governance Code (updated
reference for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2022: code provision C.1.3). No incident of non-compliance
against the Model Code or the Company’s Guidelines by the
Company’s relevant employees has been noted after making
reasonable enquiry.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules and is grateful for the
contribution and independent advice and guidance that they
have been giving to the Board and the Board Committees.

Directors are required to declare their direct or indirect interests,
if any, in any proposals or transactions to be considered by the
Board at Board meetings and withdraw if appropriate.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors are arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics are distributed to Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, all the Directors
had participated in continuous professional development
programmes, including but not limited to internally-facilitated
briefings organised by the Company and qualified professionals
and trainings conducted by law firm, and reading materials
relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilities. A record of
the trainings received by the respective Directors are kept and
updated by the Company. The training areas that the Directors
received during the year were as follow.
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== ke
Corporate Legal and Group’s
Governance Regulatory Business
EER
Name of Director SENMY TEER BEEMRE REEER
Mr. Huang Hu® =RED v v v
Mr. Wang Hai® FiERE? v v v
Mr. Meng Xuefeng® B BIELED v v v
Mr. Xu Yongle® KBS AW v 4 v
Ms. Lv Jia® BELZLO v v v
Mr. Yu Xianging® REEBFLE® 4 4 4
Dr. Song Ming REgig+ v v v
Dr. Sun Mingchun HASEEL v v v
Ms. Liu Yan 2881+ v v v
Notes: PEE

(1) Resigned as an executive Director on 20 August 2021.

(2) Appointed as an executive Director on 20 August 2021.
(3) Resigned as an executive Director on 19 July 2021.

(4) Appointed as an executive Director on 26 March 2021.
(5) Resigned as a non-executive Director on 20 August 2021.

(6) Appointed as a non-executive Director on 20 August 2021.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Other matters relating to the Board

The Group has appropriate insurance in place to cover the
liabilities of the Directors and officers of the Group.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wang Hai is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Xu Yongle
is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The primary
role of the Chairman is to provide leadership for the Board.
He is responsible for the proper functioning of the Board and
for securing the application of good corporate governance
practices. The Chairman ensures the Board has formulated the
corporate goals and objectives, long-term business model and
strategy for delivering the corporate strategy of the Group, and
establishes an effective system for monitoring the progress of
their effective implementation and achievement. He directs the
corporate development activities of the Group, and ensures that
effective steps are taken to provide effective communication
with Shareholders and that their views are communicated to the
Board as a whole. The Chairman is also responsible for setting
the Board’s agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available
for discussion of all agenda items in particular strategic issues.
He promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-
executive Directors. Furthermore, the Chairman is responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, accurate,
clear,complete and reliable information.

The primary role of the Chief Executive Officer is to focus on
attending to the formulation and implementation of Group’s
policies and overseeing the implementation of the strategies and
objectives agreed by the Board. The senior management should
support the Chief Executive Officer in performing this. The Chief
Executive Officer has principal responsibility for overseeing day-
to-day management of the Group’s businesses and operations,
maintaining the operational performance of the Group and
monitoring the operating and financial results of the Group’s
businesses against plans and budgets.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees with mandates to deal with certain
corporate governance affairs of the Group. The Terms of
Reference of each of the above-mentioned Committees
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website.
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From time to time, the Board will also establish other board
committee(s) to deal with specific aspects of its business.

Each Committee is established with written terms of reference
which are no less exacting than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, setting out its roles and functions. Each
member of the Committee has a formal letter of appointment
setting out key terms and conditions relating to his/her
appointment.

Each Committee meets as frequently as required by business
developments and the operation of the Group. Committee
members are provided with adequate and timely information
before each meeting or discussion. All Committee members are
asked to review and comment on the minutes of their meetings
within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The procedures and arrangements relating to the meetings of
the Board are applied to meetings of the Board Committees
whenever it is appropriate.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1998 with its defined
written terms of reference (which was revised in August 2018).
As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Yan
(Chairlady of the Audit Committee) and Dr. Song Ming, and a non-
executive Director, Mr. Yu Xianging. A majority of Audit Committee
members are independent non-executive Directors, with Mr. Liu
Yan and Dr. Song Ming possessing the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The Audit Committee members have professional qualifications
and experience in financial matters that enable the Committee
to exercise its powers effectively and provide the Board with
independent views and recommendations in relation to financial
matters.
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The principal roles of the Audit Committee are to ensure that
the Company has formal and transparent arrangements for
considering matters relating to the Group’s financial reporting,
and risk management and internal control systems and for
maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
internal auditor (if any) and external auditor.

The duties of the Audit Committee, as set out in its terms of
reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Audit Committee holds two regular meetings annually
and also meets at such other times as circumstances require.
Any Audit Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee. The external auditor may also request the Committee
Chairman to convene a meeting of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee may invite the external auditor and/or members of
management to attend any of the meetings. Special meetings
may be called at the discretion of the Committee Chairman or at
the request of management to review significant internal control,
risk management or financial issues. The Committee Chairman
reports to the Board at least twice a year on the Committee’s
activities and highlights any significant issues.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Audit Committee held
three meetings and the individual attendance records of each
of the Audit Committee members are set out on page 36 of this
Annual Report.

The Audit Committee’s main works during the year included
reviewing:

« 2020 Annual Report, including the Corporate Governance
Report, Directors’ Report and the audited consolidated
financial statements, as well as the related annual results
announcement (with recommendations made to the Board
for approval)

« 2021 Interim Report and interim results announcement (with
recommendations made to the Board for approval)

« compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the SFO,
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules
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« in relation to the external auditors, their report on the review
of interim consolidated financial information and the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, key audit
findings, audit services plan and letter of management’s
representation, and terms of engagement

« change of external auditors

« Internal Control Assessment Report (with areas of concerns
discussed and highlighted to the Board)

- effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management, internal audit function and internal control
systems and associated procedures within the Group

« annual review of the continuing connected transactions

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is
different from that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any
recommendation presented by the Audit Committee.

There were no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which in turn
endorsed the view) that, subject to Shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, BDO Limited be re-
appointed as the external auditor for year 2022.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2000 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Song Ming (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Dr. Sun Mingchun, and an executive Director, Mr.
Xu Yongle.

The Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration policies
and structure of the Group with the delegated responsibility to
determine the remuneration packages of executive Director(s)
and senior management of the Group (as defined in the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee). It also makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.
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In conducting its work in relation to the determination of
remuneration of Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee ensures that no individual (or any of
his/her close associates) was involved in determining his or her
own remuneration.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee, as set out in its
terms of reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration Committee meets once a year and at such
other time as necessary. Any Committee member may convene a
meeting of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting and the individual attendance
records of each of the Remuneration Committee members are set
out on page 36 of this Annual Report.

The Remuneration Committee’s main works during the year
included:

« review of the remuneration policy and structure of the Group

+ review and determination of the remuneration package
of executive Directors and senior management and the
assessment of their performance

« review and recommendation of the Directors’ fees of all the
independent non-executive Directors for approval by the
Board

« approval of the terms of executive Directors’ and non-
executive Director’s service contracts

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2005 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises an executive Director, Mr. Wang Hai (Chairman of the
Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Song Ming and Dr. Sun Mingchun.
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The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors and senior management, reviewing
the size, structure and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board, reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s Board Diversity Policy annually
and making recommendations to the Board on the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board. It also assesses
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Before an appointment is made, the Nomination Committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the
Board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepares a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.
If deemed appropriate, external consultants may be engaged to
identify suitable candidates.

The duties of the Nomination Committee, as set out in its terms of
reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least annually or meet
at such time as the Committee Chairman shall require. Any
Nomination Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting and the individual attendance
records of each of the Nomination Committee members are set
out on page 36 of this Annual Report.

During 2021, the Nomination Committee completed the review of
the size, structure and composition of the Board and assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to code provision A.5.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code (updated reference for financial years commencing
on or after 1 January 2022: code provision B.3.1) and made
recommendations to the Board on the re-election of retiring
Directors. It also conducted a review on the diversity of the Board
and recommended to the Board for approval of the appointment
of Mr. Wang Hai as executive Director and Chairman of the Board,
the appointment of Mr. Xu Yongle as an executive Director and the
appointment of Mr. Yu Xianging as a non-executive Director of the
Company.
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for ensuring there
is a good and timely flow of information to Directors, both in their
roles as Board members and as members of individual Board
Committees. He also assists with the continuing professional
development of Board members. The Company Secretary is
responsible for taking and keeping minutes of all Board and
Board Committee meetings.

The Company Secretary also plays an important role in advising
the Board on all corporate governance-related matters and is
also available to provide advice to the Board. Mr. Kong Hok Kan,
the Company Secretary, has confirmed that he has undertaken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The primary contact person of Mr. Kong Hok Kan at the Company
is Ms. Zheng Yuanyuan, the deputy general manager of the
Company.

Risk Management and Internal Control

All activities conducted and all decisions made by the Company
may involve risks to a certain extent. The Board plays a critical
role of monitoring the risk exposure of the Company. The Board
considers the risks in an active manner in setting of strategies.
The Board also considers the risks in assessing opportunities for
business development and growth so as to determine the risk
appetite of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
risk management and internal control systems and for reviewing
the effectiveness of these systems annually so as to safeguard
the Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.
Accordingly, the Company has established internal control and
risk management systems to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss and manage or mitigate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
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The Company’s objective is to establish a comprehensive and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is aware of its responsibility to ensure that an appropriate
and effective risk management system is established and
maintained by the Company.

The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”)
framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate and
monitor key risks. The framework provides a proactive and
structured approach to identify, manage and monitor risks
on an on-going basis with a common framework across the
organisation to evaluate risk significance and likelihood of
occurrence.

Risks faced by the Company fall into a number of principal
categories: strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk,
financial risk and information risk. The procedures of ERM
of the Company involve risk identification, risk assessment/
prioritisation, risk response and risk monitoring and reporting.
Risks and uncertainties associated with the business of the
Company may have an adverse effect on business, financial
conditions and results of the Company. The Company has
identified certain principal risks through risk identification and
assessment, and has developed risks monitoring mechanism to
facilitate risk monitoring and control.

The Group operates a “Three Lines of Defence” risk governance
model to delegate and coordinate essential risk management
and control duties in a clear and cohesive manner:

(a) First line of defence — Business units are responsible for
maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk
and control procedures on a day-to-day basis. Operational
management identifies, assesses, controls, and mitigates
risks, guides the development and implementation of
internal policies and procedures and ensures that activities
are consistent with goals and objectives. Through a
cascading responsibility structure, mid-level managers
design and implement detailed procedures that serve as
controls and supervise execution of those procedures by their
employees.
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(b) Second line of defence - (1) Business Management
Department monitors the risk management system,
and facilitates the development, setting and effective
implementation of policies and guidelines. It provides
advice and guidance to the first-line functional units on
implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems; (2) Legal and Compliance Department
monitors various specific risks such as non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations; (3) Company Secretarial
Department monitors various specific risks such as violation
of applicable rules and regulations; (4) Finance Department
serves as a controllership function that monitors financial
risks and financial reporting issues.

(c) Third line of defence — internal audit function, which reports
to the Audit Committee, provides independent assessment
over the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems and makes recommendations based on the
audit findings.

During the year, an independent professional advisory firm
has been engaged by the Company as the consultant of the
Group. It is responsible for conducting in-depth review on
risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The advisory firm has issued a report with its opinion that
the Company has maintained effective and adequate risk
management and internal control systems, which are compliant
and align with the Company’s operational and management
systems.

The purpose of the internal control system of the Company is to
improve the operating effectiveness and efficiency, safeguard
assets against abuse and unauthorised disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records and that the financial
statements give a true and fair view, and ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. It provides reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss,
and manages, rather than eliminates, risks associated with the
business activities of the Company.
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The Board together with the Audit Committee have reviewed
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company during the year.
The Board will upgrade the existing systems of the Company
with reference to the recommendations given by the above-
mentioned independent professional advisory firm, in the areas
of financial management, operation and corporate controls
and risk management. The Board is satisfied that effective and
adequate risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are maintained and align with the operational and
management systems of the Company. The Directors consider
that it is necessary for the Company to continuously improve its
internal control system to the extent that the risks preventing the
Company from achieving its objectives can be properly managed.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and implemented specific policies
and procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, including limiting employees’
access to inside information on a “need-to-know” basis and
ensuring that those who need to know understand their
obligations to maintain the confidentiality of any confidential
information of the Group. Appropriate confidentiality agreements
are put in place when the Company enters into significant
negotiations. All inside information is disclosed to the public
pursuant to the requirements under the SFO and the Listing
Rules and is kept strictly confidential before disclosure.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results. Key risks affecting the Group are
identified below. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may
also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Group
employs an ERM framework to identify current and foreseeable
risks at different levels of the organisation so as to take
preventive actions to manage and mitigate their adverse impacts.

(1) Regulatory compliance risks

54

The Hong Kong financial market in which the Group operates
is highly regulated. The Company, as a listed company in Hong
Kong, together with certain subsidiaries with SFC licences
to carry out relevant regulated activities, are required
to comply with the rules and regulations from various
regulatory bodies. The regulatory and compliance regime in
the financial industry of Hong Kong is changing constantly,
which increases the likelihood of regulatory non-compliance
as new rules are introduced and existing ones are tightened.
The Group may encounter challenges in keeping abreast
of the changes and managing regulatory compliance risks,
particularly in the areas of handling connected transactions,
notifiable transactions and managing the disclosure of inside
information, preventing money laundering transactions for
money lending business. In case of failure to comply with the
applicable rules and regulations, the Group may be subject to
fines, or even suspension or revocation of some or all of the
licenses for carrying on the business activities. Accordingly,
the Group’s business operations and financial results might
be materially and adversely affected.
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(2) The Group requires the right people, skills and

3)

capability to manage growth and change

The Group has established an organisation structure to
address recent business changes and relevant regulatory
requirements. Staff roles and responsibilities, authorities and
limits, reporting lines and segregation of duties need to be
clearly defined. Since most of the Group’s core businesses
commenced operation with limited number of key personnel
in each business segment, the Group is required to review
the needs of staff resources in order to cope with the
business expansion and deliver success in the future.
Given that the competition for competent personnel in the
industry is intense, there is high likelihood that competent
personnel may leave the Company, therefore, the Group may
encounter difficulties in attracting or retaining the services
of the necessary key personnel for that business segment.
The Group should hire and retain highly skilled employees
with particular expertise or leadership capability in order
to remain competitive. The implementation of the Group’s
strategic business plans could be undermined by failure to
build a resilient corporate culture, failure to recruit or retain
key personnel, unexpected loss of key senior employees,
failures in the Group’s succession planning and incentive
plans, or failure to invest in the development of key skills.

The Group is subject to a competitive and changing
industry

Financial services segment is one of the reportable and
operating segments of the Group. The financial service
industry in Hong Kong has a large number of participants
which makes the industry highly competitive. The Group has
to compete against competitors which may have greater
brand recognition in the market, more human and financial
resources, a wider range of services and longer operating
history than that of the Group. Apart from large multinational
financial institutions, the Group also faces competition from
local small and medium-sized financial services firms which
offer a similar range of services. Failure to maintain the
Group’s competitive strengths by responding rapidly to the
changing business environment and intensified competition
may erode the Group’s market share and result in an adverse.
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(4) Risks related to strategic planning and reputation

56

GWAMCC, one of the four major state-owned financial
asset management corporations in the PRC, is engaged in
the businesses of acquisition, management and disposal
of non-performing assets, asset management, banking,
securities, insurance, trust, leasing, investment, etc. As a
result of changes in the Group’s shareholding structure and
businesses in 2016 and 2017, GWAMCC became the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company. The Group is now
principally engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services including asset management and
corporate finance. The Board has formulated development
plans and strategies to accomplish the strategic objectives of
transforming the Group into a conglomerate with businesses
in property investment and integrated financial services,
and developing the Company as a major listed entity and
an integrated development platform of GWAMCC outside
Mainland China.

The Group will leverage the solid foundation, strengths and
reputation that GWAMCC has formed in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, in order to constantly expand its businesses.
As such, the Group is exposed to inherent reputation risks,
failure to deliver quality services to clients could result in an
adverse impact on Great Wall’'s brand reputation.
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(5) Financial and regulatory reporting risks (5) B REERESEE

As a listed company, the Company has statutory and social
responsibilities to prepare accurate and timely financial
statements which provide objective and reliable information
for stakeholders to base their decisions upon. Inaccurate
or untimely reporting could seriously affect the Group’s
position such as a drop in share price, or impaired sourcing/
financing ability. The Group carried out asset management
and corporate finance businesses, which indicates that
new financial reporting processes are implemented and
experienced finance staff would be required to extract,
assemble, aggregate and analyse financial data to ensure
accurate financial reporting. The process of financial
reporting becomes more complex and frequent, and
transactions may involve complex accounting treatment or
estimation. The Finance Department is required to assess
the impact of the new or revised standards upon adoption
from time to time. In addition, licensed corporations are
subject to various statutory returns (i.e. the Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules, Disclosure of Interests,
etc.) under the requirement of the SFC and other regulatory
bodies.

The Group is exposed to various key risks including credit
risks, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Details of the
aforesaid key risks and risk mitigation measures are
elaborated in Note 30 “Financial Risk Management” to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.
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(6) The Group requires a robust internal control system

and controls

The Group is operating under a highly regulated environment.
As a listed company with SFC licensed subsidiaries,
members of the Group are required to establish sound and
effective internal controls which are designed to identify and
manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
ensure reliable financial reporting, effective and efficient
operations, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. Apart from the investment property business,
other core businesses, including asset management and
corporate finance were introduced in 2017. The Group has
established relevant policies and procedures to cope with the
business development. Strengthening of the internal control
and risk management systems is an ongoing process, the
Group is expected to continue designing and implementing
appropriate measures to meet the changing business
environment. Failure in delivering services in a proper
manner, the Group may result in facing a loss in market
share, reputation and sales revenue.

(7) Risks pertaining to investment properties

58

The prospects of the Group’s property investment business
depend on the performance of the property market in
Hong Kong. The property market in Hong Kong is affected
by many factors, including but not limited to, changes
in local and international economic, political, social and
legal environments and changes in Hong Kong's fiscal
and monetary policies, all of which are beyond the control
of the Group. The Group holds various commercial, retail
and industrial buildings in Hong Kong and derives revenue
through leasing out the properties. Being one of the Group’s
core businesses, any property market downturn in Hong
Kong may materially and adversely affect the financial
position, operations, businesses and prospects of the Group
and may lead to fair value loss of the Group’s investment
properties.
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As part of the periodic evaluation by management,
implications of COVID-19 on its fair value estimation process
have been considered. Management engages an external
valuer using the income capitalisation approach which takes
into account market information with reference to sales
evidence as available on the market. Management considers
that such market information is already reflective of the
impact of COVID-19 during the year on achievable rental
yields and capitalisation rates of the implied valuation as at
the valuation date. Management is also aware of potential
valuation uncertainty given the unknown future impact that
COVID-19 might have in the short term and longer term, and
continues to monitor and reassess potential indicators due to
COVID-19 affecting valuations at the relevant reporting dates.

External Auditor

BDO Limited was appointed as the Group’s external auditor on 16
June 2021 following the retirement of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as external auditor with effect from the same date.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, BDO Limited provided
the following audit and non-audit services to the Group:
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BDO Limited will retire and offer themselves for re-appointment
at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 16 June 2022.

The statement by BDO Limited about their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” section of
this Annual Report on pages 139 to 146.
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Investor Relations & Shareholders’ Rights

All of the Company’s shares are ordinary shares carrying equal
voting rights. Please refer to the “Directors’ Report” section of this
Annual Report on page 82 for information regarding the public
float status of the Company.

The Company recognises its responsibility to look after the
interests of its Shareholders. Shareholder relations play an
integral part in corporate governance. The Company keeps
Shareholders informed of its performance, operations and
significant business developments by adopting a transparent
and timely corporate disclosure policy, i.e. the Shareholders’
Communication Policy, which complies with the Listing Rules and
provides all Shareholders with equal access to such information.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy of the Company is
available on the website of the Company.

The Company reports on financial and operating performance
to Shareholders twice each year through annual and interim
reports. Shareholders are given opportunities to raise concerns
or propose recommendations to the Board at the Company’s
annual general meetings. The Company’s external auditor attend
annual general meetings to answer questions about the external
audit and the audit report. Shareholders may visit our website
(www.gwpaholdings.com) for share price information, latest
business developments, announcements, corporate governance
policies and practices and other relevant shareholder
information.

The Company Secretary is responsible for responding
enquiries from Shareholders and other interested parties.
Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board’s and
management’s attention (to the extent it is publicly available
and appropriate to provide) can be sent to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by mail to 21st Floor, Bank of
America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

Note: Any such letter from the Shareholders should be marked
“Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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The Company promotes fair disclosure of information to all
investors and uses best endeavours to ensure that disclosures
made by the Company comply with the Listing Rules’ prohibition
against selective disclosure of inside information.

During the year, the Company held one annual general meeting
and one special general meeting, and the attendance records
of each of the individual Directors are set out on page 36 of this
Annual Report.

Code provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code (updated
reference for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2022: code provision F.2.2) provides that, among others, the
chairman of the board should invite the chairmen of the audit,
remuneration, nomination and any other committees (as
appropriate) to attend the annual general meeting. In their
absence, he should invite another member of the committee
or failing this his/her duly appointed delegate, to attend. These
persons should be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting. With the COVID-19 pandemic and in light of
the regulations introduced by the government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, the chairlady nor members of
the Audit Committee of the Company did not attend the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on 16 June 2021 (“2021
AGM"). In order to ensure an effective communication with the
shareholders of the Company, other Board members (including
executive Directors and Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
attended the AGM to answer relevant questions from the
Shareholders present thereat. The then incumbent external
auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, also attended
the 2021 AGM.

Shareholders have specific rights to convene special general
meetings. A Shareholder or Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the Company’s Shares may require the Directors to
convene a special general meeting of the Company by depositing
a signed requisition at the registered office of the Company,
pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, with a copy
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
stating the purpose of the meeting.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be
marked “Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.
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Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a
resolution at general meeting. The Shareholders shall represent
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the general meeting to which the requisition relates, or
shall not be less than one hundred Shareholders. The written
requisition must be signed by all the requisitionists and state
the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at the
Company’s registered office pursuant to the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, with a copy to its principal place of business
in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, not
less than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any other
requisition. If, after the requisition requiring notice of a resolution
has been deposited at the registered office of the Company, an
annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after
the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not
deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be deemed
to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof. The
requisitionists shall be responsible for the relevant expenses
incurred in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
unless the Company otherwise resolves.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be
marked “Shareholders’ Communication” on the envelope.

The Company held the 2021 AGM at 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, 16
June 2021, during which matters including approving the 2020
audited financial statements of the Group and the accompanying
reports, re-election of retiring Directors, authorisation of the
Board to fix Directors’ remuneration, appointment of external
auditor and authorising the Board to fix their remuneration, and
grant of general mandates for the issuance and buy-back of
Shares by the Group as well as to extend the general mandate
to issue shares of the shares bought back by the Company, were
presented for Shareholders’ approval. At such annual general
meeting, details of the poll voting procedures and the rights of
Shareholders to demand a poll were set out in the circular to
Shareholders. All proposed resolutions were voted by poll and
the poll results were published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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During the year 2021, the Company has not made any significant
amendment to its Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws.
The Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held
on Thursday, 16 June 2022. A circular containing, among other
matters, further information relating to the forthcoming annual
general meeting will be dispatched to the Shareholders as soon
as practicable.

Disclosures of Directors’ Information Pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Change in other Major Appointments

Ms. Liu Yan (our independent non-executive Director) resigned as
an independent non-executive director of Haitong International
Securities Group Limited (stock code: 665), a company listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, with effect from 25 August
2021.

Directors’ Positions Held

- Mr. Xu Yongle was appointed as an executive Director on 26
March 2021 and a member of Remuneration Committee of
the Company on 19 July 2021.

- Mr. Meng Xuefeng resigned as an executive Director and a
member of Remuneration Committee of the Company on 19
July 2021.

- Mr. Huang Hu resigned as Chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company on 20 August 2021.
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- Mr. Wang Hai was appointed as Chairman of the Board, —

an executive Director and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company on 20 August 2021.

- Ms. Lv Jia resigned as a non-executive Director and a —

member of Audit Committee of the Company on 20 August
2021.

- Mr. Yu Xianging was appointed as a non-executive Director ——

and a member of Audit Committee of the Company on 20
August 2021.
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Renewal of Appointment Letters BEEEERIER

On 8 March 2022, the Board approved the renewal of

K2 "F=A/N\B EFEOFRESER

appointment letter of each of Dr. Song Ming and Dr. Sun Mingchun 88+ RZBEE B L HERAT B IERITES
as the independent non-executive Directors of the Company, fora ZZ&(ER - FHHHE "S- " E=F+HHEE"
term of three years commencing from 15 March 2022. RHA=5Fo
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Disclosures Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing

Rules

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included
in respect of the Company’s loan agreement, which contains

covenants requiring performance obligations of the controlling
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Shareholders of the Company, as follows:

On 11 June 2018, the Company (as the borrower) entered
into a facility letter with a bank (“Bank A”) (as the lender) in
relation to a one-year uncommitted revolving loan facility
in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$300,000,000
and that such loan facility continues in full effect after expiry
of the said one-year term until terminated by either party
pursuant to the facility letter. Pursuant to the facility letter,
the Company has undertaken to Bank A that during the
term of the facility letter, (i) Great Wall International directly
or indirectly owns not less than 50.1% of the total share
capital of the Company and retains management control of
the Company; and (i) GWAMCC directly or indirectly owns
not less than 50.1% of the total share capital of Great Wall
International and retains management control of Great Wall
International.

Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

i}

B

RIZ2E—N\FERB+—H &xRQE (FAE
N E—ER1T (BR1TA)) EAERA) 57
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25 _F PR #300,000,00078 T2 FEAE MEEIR
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HET2EN BEEA—HIREERR MY
T - IRIBERR G AR BIEERTTAK
ERERRGBEEAN)RIEEEEZDE
BRAERDREARBEIRARS01% 2 ok
BHEHENSIETSE ; Ri)PERNE
EAEERIERFE NN RMBEIRAER A
501%z Bt » B A S EN BRI

REEREME
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ETET
B R B3 FBNEEEE) DRI &S 20T -

Number of
members of
senior
management

SREEEMEHE

Below HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 - HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 - HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000

1,000,000 7TA T

1,000,001 &7 % 2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,00187T 53,000,000/ 70
3,000,001 7T £ 4,000,000 7T

3

1
1

Total
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The Board is pleased to submit this report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Principal Activities and Segments Information

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group during the year are property investment
and provision of financial services.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Business Review

A fair review of the Group’s business and the analysis of its
performance as well as prospects of the Group’s business are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this Annual Report (which
form part of the Directors’ Report).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers represented 37% of the Group’s
total revenue and revenue attributable to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 14%.

Save for the continuing connected transactions entered with the
Company’s controlling Shareholder, Great Wall International, as
disclosed in this report, as far as the Directors are aware, neither
the Directors, their close associates, nor Shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 20271 had any interest in the five
largest customers.

Since the Group is engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services, in the opinion of the Directors, the Group did
not engage with significant purchase during the year. Therefore,
no major suppliers were identified, there was no purchase
attributable to the largest supplier and the percentage of
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers combined is
less than 30%.
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Financial Results

The profits of the Group for the year and the financial position of
the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 147 to 248 of
this Annual Report.

Dividends

The Board resolved not to declare any interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2021 (for the six months ended 30 June
2020: Nil).

The Board has resolved not to recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year
ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

Five-year Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 249 to
250 of this Annual Report.

Investment Properties

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued by an
independent professionally qualified valuer as at 31 December
2021 using the fair value model. Details of investment properties
of the Group are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2021 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Associates

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December

2021 are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Share Capital

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
of the Company as at 31 December 2021, calculated under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to HK$639,101,000
(2020: HK$639,101,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$4,750.1 million (31 December 2020: HK$4,749.5

million). Particulars of borrowings are set out in Notes 14 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

Charitable Donations

During the year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HK$20,000 (2020: HK$5,000).
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date
of this Annual Report are:

Title
i8]

S

FRRNAFERSBRNALTESOT !

Notes

B 5E

Executive Directors
WITES

Mr. Wang Hai
Tkt

Mr. Xu Yongle
Rl

Mr. Huang Hu

it
oA
off
H¥

Mr. Meng Xuefeng
AL E
Non-executive Directors
JEHITES

Mr.Yu Xianging

Ms. LvJia

BEXL

Chairman of the Board

EFXEER

Chief Executive Officer
TTIE&H/L: j&

Appointed on 20 August 2021
BT -FN\ATHEZE

Appointed on 26 March 2021
=R+ HEZME

Appointed as a non-executive Director on
5 November 2016 and subsequently re-designated
from non-executive Director to executive Director
on 15 March 2019, and resigned on 20 August 2021
“E-RE+—ALHEZERIFNITES  BE
RIE-NFE=ZA+HEHEFNTEFTHAETAH
TES IR _FE_—F)/\AZ+HEHE

Appointed on 5 November 2016 and resigned on
19July 2021

—E—RET—RRHEZE R 2 —Ft
)ﬂ—i—hEI%ﬂifiiE

Appointed on 20 August 2021
B -FN\B+HEZE

Appointed on 5 November 2016 and resigned on
20 August 2021
TE-RFt+—HAAHEZT IR IZTEZ—FN
BZ+H&E
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Title
B 187

Notes

B 5E

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIERITES

Dr.Song Ming

REEL

Dr. Sun Mingchun
HREAEE L

Ms. Liu Yan
R|gpir+

Appointed on 5 November 2016
“E-RF+—ALREZE

Appointed on 5 November 2016
—EREt+—ALHEZE

Appointed on 26 November 2018
- )\F+—HAZ+/"BEZME

The Board has established three committees, being the Audit BEEETRE=-BZES > DHABZESE
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination & #MEEEMIRREZE T - FERDAEHHP
Committee. The table below details the membership and ZAEERSEHHE=EEE LI ENME KA
composition of each of the three committees as at the date of this ~ 1B°

Annual Report.

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Director S BZEEg TNEEg RREEE
Mr. Wang Hai FiEksE C
Mr. Xu Yongle Rok 8 A M
Mr. Yu Xianging REEBRE M
Dr.Song Ming REiE+ M c M
Dr. Sun Mingchun BEAEEL M M
Ms. Liu Yan Ed kg c
C: Chairman/Chairlady of the Committee C: HZEEXE
M: Member of the Committee M. ZEEgmME

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Dr. Song Ming  1RIFABIAMAIHEME 2 R » REIE L M AEE
and Dr. Sun Mingchun shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, 1B &ERE WRHEERBEBENRRAEE
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual ERFBEEAY LESEET-

general meeting of the Company.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company and is appointed for a specific term.

No Director proposed to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Group, which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company not terminable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation). No emoluments were paid to any Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2020: Nil).

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to the Directors,
none of the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company
had any interest or short position in any Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company were
deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Rights to Acquire
Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and Chief
Executives (including their spouses and children under 18 years
of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or exercised,
any rights to subscribe for Shares (or warrants or debentures, if
any) of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders

The interests of substantial Shareholders in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021, as

recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of

Part XV of the SFO or as the Company is aware, are set out in the

table below.

The Company had been notified of the following substantial

Shareholders’ interests in the Shares of the Company as at 31

December 2021:

Name of substantial Shareholder

TERRRE

FERRED

RIRE 5 R EAE IR A EXVERE336IFIRE H 7N
BMArEEBER AT T2RFN-F
T —F+ZRA=+—HARTAT KRN KRS
REAREmEYIN TR

FRBEETNEERRN B _—F+"A4
=+—BFANEARRMDERNT -

Approximate
Number of percentage of

China Great Wall Asset Management

Co., Ltd. ™

TEHERSESERNMAERATY
China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings
Company Limited™

PEENEE @) ERERAR"

Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited™

Central Huijin Investment Ltd.?
PRESKERREEAT?

China Construction Bank Corporation®
FERRIRITRABERAT?

Wan Tai Investments Limited®?

BREEARAF?

ordinary the issued
Capacity/Nature of interest shares held share capital®
LB T
BB B A B9 HBE 4T
BM/EEEE TEREE B
Interest in a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
corporation
TS A E R
Interest in a controlled 1174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
corporation
TS A E R
Beneficial owner 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Em#EEA
Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
corporation
el N
Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
corporation
el N
Beneficial owner 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%

BEmBEAA

The letter “L” denotes the entity’s long position in such shares.

NLRTZERERARARNDPHEFE -
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Notes:

(1) Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings
Company Limited which, in turn, is wholly-owned by China Great
Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd.. Under the SFO, China Great Wall
AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited and China Great Wall
Asset Management Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares of the Company owned by Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding
Limited.

(2) Central Huijin Investment Ltd. holds 57.31% of China Construction
Bank Corporation which, in turn, indirectly owns 100% of Wan Tai
Investments Limited. Wan Tai Investments Limited is therefore a
controlled corporation of China Construction Bank Corporation and
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. pursuant to Section 316 of the SFO.

(38) Approximate percentage was calculated based on the 1,567,745,596
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company
had not been notified of any persons who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”)
that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholding value.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. The recommendation and
declaration of payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

MYEE

(1) Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited#3 R
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When deciding whether to propose or declare a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves,
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans, liquidity position, shareholders’
interests, general economic conditions and business cycle of the
Group’s businesses, any restrictions on payment of dividends and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group and
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Listing Rules and all relevant
applicable rules and regulations in Bermuda, Hong Kong and the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall not constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors of the Company has any interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, or with the businesses of the Group during the year.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which the Company,
the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2021
or at any time during the year.
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Management Contracts

M

A Tenancy Management Agreement was entered into
between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
(“C&W”) whereby C&W is responsible for the management of
certain investment properties of the Group.

The Tenancy Management Agreement was entered for a
term of 2 years commencing from 14 November 2018 to
13 November 2020 and will be renewed automatically on a
year to year basis unless terminated in accordance with the
terms of such agreement. Management fee of approximately
HK$102,000 was paid by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

A Services Agreement was entered into between a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Asiaray Advertising
Media Limited whereby Asiaray Advertising Media Limited,
as the exclusive advertising agent, is responsible for
management of our outdoor billboards, which are at the
exterior wall of 1st Floor to 3rd Floor of Yue King Building at 1
Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Services Agreement was entered for a term commencing
from 1 May 2020 and ending on 30 April 2023. Service fee of
approximately HK$2,237,000 was paid by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

An Asset Management Agreement was entered into between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Gaw Capital
Asset Management (HK) Limited pursuant to which Gaw
Capital Asset Management (HK) Limited is responsible
for the management of one of the Company’s investment
properties, Kwai Fong Plaza.

The Asset Management Agreement entered for a term
commencing on 13 June 2018 was restructured on 13
March 2019 and shall continue and remain valid unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of such agreement.
Management fee of approximately HK$6,174,000 was paid by
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the businesses of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

The Bye-Laws provide that, to the extent not avoided by the
statues, the Directors are entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses, liabilities and costs
which he/she may sustain or incur in connection with the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

Directors’ liability insurance policies containing permitted
indemnity provisions have been taken out and maintained in
force during the financial year and as at the date of approval
of this report to provide appropriate cover for the Directors
and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group in respect of the
relevant liabilities and costs associated with legal proceedings
against them.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

For more details about the principal risks and uncertainties
in which the Group are facing and also the relevant risk
management objectives and policies, please refer to the “Risk
Management and Internal Control” section contained in the
Corporate Governance Report and Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the businesses of the Group are set out in the “Management

Discussion and Analysis” section and the consolidated financial
statements of this Annual Report.
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Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The Group mainly carries out its businesses in Hong Kong. As
far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the year ended
31 December 2021, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance, with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. To constantly
enhance the sustainable development and strengthen the
awareness of environmental protection of all staff, the Company
has formulated and implemented the Green Office Policy, and
such policy will be updated from time to time in accordance
with actual market conditions so as to cover more scopes,
thus benefiting the implementation of green office culture.
The Green Office Policy states that the Company is committed
to the materials saving, energy saving, waste reduction, and
strives to minimise the consumption of natural resources
and energy; reduce the creation of waste and recycle material
whenever practical; ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and
responsible manner; and monitor and evaluate progress and
performance for continuous improvement.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section on pages 84 to 138 of this
Annual Report.
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Relationship with Employees and Customers

The Group ensures all employees are reasonably remunerated
and regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration
and other benefits.

Details of the practices in relation to employment are set out in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section on
pages 84 to 138 of this Annual Report.

The Group maintains a good relationship and close contacts with
the customers and conducts regular review of requirements of
customers.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The Group’s principal retirement benefits scheme available
to its Hong Kong employees are defined contribution scheme
(the Mandatory Provident Fund) which is administered by
independent trustees. Both the Group and the employees
contribute respectively to the schemes sums which represent a
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions — Tenancy Agreements
in relation to the tenancies of portions of certain floors of the
Group’s premises in the Bank of America Tower

On 8 March 2019, each of Sunny Bright Development Limited
MFAtEZEEB R AT (“Landlord 1) and Sunny Success
Development Limited ¥ p 2 BB R A S ("Landlord 27)
(collectively the “Landlords”), being indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, received a letter of offer from Great
Wall International, a controlling Shareholder of the Company,
(“Tenant”) which offered to rent Premises 1A and Premises 1B (as
defined in the CCT Circular) from Landlord 1 and Premises 2A and
2B (as defined in the CCT Circular) from Landlord 2, respectively
(collectively the “Tenancies”). Upon the approval of the Tenancies
by the independent Shareholders at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 30 April 2019, each of the Landlords
and the Tenant entered into a formal tenancy agreement on 31
May 2019 (collectively the “Tenancy Agreements”). Details of
the Tenancies and the agreed annual caps set for each of the
three financial years ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 4 April 2019 (the “CCT Circular”).

As Great Wall International is a controlling Shareholder of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the entering of
the Tenancy Agreements and all the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of
rents received by Landlords under the Tenancy Agreements was
HK$16,773,780.00, which is within the annual cap for the year
ended 31 December 2021 of HK$16,951,831.00.
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On 25 October 2021, each of the Landlords received the Letters
of Offer from the Tenant which offered to renew the existing
Tenancies for a term of three years commencing on 1 January
2022 and expiring on 31 December 2024. As the Tenant is
a connected person of the Company. Hence, the renewal of
Tenancies constitutes continuing connected transactions for
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Upon
the approval of the renewal of Tenancies by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 28 December 2021, each of the Landlords and the Tenant
entered into a formal renewed tenancy agreement on 23 March
2022. Further details are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 25 October 2021 and circular of the Company
dated 6 December 2021.

The Group has followed the terms of the continuing connected
transactions conducted during the year as mentioned in the
paragraphs above, which were determined in accordance with
the pricing policies as set out in the relevant circular of the
Company. Such continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company who have confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) inaccordance with the agreement governing the transactions
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
of the Company has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules and confirmations of the matters set
out inthat rule. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions, undertaken
in the normal course of business are provided under Note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements, none of which constitutes
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules other than the
continuing connected transactions as disclosed above.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date
of this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance. Details of the Company’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” section on pages 30 to 65 of this Annual Report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of
the Company’s Shares which were in the hands of the public
exceeded 25% of the Company’s total issued Shares as at
the date of this Annual Report. As at 31 December 2021, the
public float capitalisation was approximately HK$3,937,275
(approximately 25.11% of the issued share capital of the
Company).

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding
of the Shares. Intending holders and investors of the Company’s
Shares are recommended to consult their professional advisers
if they are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including
tax relief) of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or
dealing in the Shares. It is emphasized that none of the Company
or its Directors or officers will accept any responsibility for any
tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of Shares in the Company
resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal
of or dealing in such Shares.
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Change of Auditor

GWAMCC, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company,
is a central state-owned enterprise regulated by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC. Under the relevant requirements of
the Ministry of Finance of the PRC, there are certain limits
to the number of years for which an accounting firm may
continuously undertake financial auditing work in respect of a
central state-owned enterprise and its subsidiaries. Accordingly,
PricewaterhouseCoopers was not proposed to be re-appointed
upon its retirement as the auditor of the Company at the 2021
Annual General Meeting.

On 4 May 2021, as recommended by the Audit Committee,
the Board has resolved to appoint BDO Limited as the
Company’s auditor for the year 2021 following the retirement of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

BDO Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the Company
in the 2021 Annual General Meeting to hold office until the
conclusion of the next following annual general meeting of the
Company. Save as disclosed herein, there were no other changes
in auditor of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by the auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Hai
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 8 March 2022
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About this Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
serves as a review on the sustainability efforts and achievements
of the Company. The Report intends to work as a communication
platform between the Company and all stakeholders, with all
work, responsibilities, and long-standing commitment to the
environment, social and governance (‘ESG”) areas disclosed.
In order to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the
Company’s performance in relation to ESG, the Report shall be
read in conjunction with the Corporate Governance Report.

Reporting Boundary

The Report covers the Company’s ESG issues, as well as
correlated policies, measures, and activities under the control
of the Company. Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the
period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting
Period”), all business activities are conducted at the offices
owned by the Company during the Reporting Period. The Report
scope encompasses the operations of the offices, which are the
units at the 20/F & 21/F, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt
Road, Central, Hong Kong.

Basis of Report Preparation

The Report complies with all the mandatory disclosure
requirements and “comply or explain” provisions of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide under
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and was prepared in accordance to the four reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, consistency and balance,
the application of reporting principles is presented below:

Materiality: The Report focuses on ESG issues that are
considered relevant and significantly important to the Company
(the “material issues”) during the Reporting Period. The Company
conducted a materiality assessment during the Reporting Period,
which further strengthened the content structure of our ESG
report, and the identified materiality issues are reviewed and
confirmed by the Board.
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Quantitative: Information in this Report is presented
quantitatively whenever feasible. This Report presents
comparable and measurable performance data by disclosing
past and present data during the Reporting Period, which lays
a solid foundation for the Company to set environmental and
social targets in the future. Meanwhile, quantitative information
shall help the Company to better evaluate and validate the
effectiveness of relevant ESG policies and management systems.

Balance: The Report discloses the Group’s progress and
challenges in ESG development management, so as to fully
demonstrate our ESG development performance.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the methodologies used in
the Report for data calculation are consistent with previous years
to ensure meaningful comparability.

Approval and Confirmation

The Board is fully responsible for overseeing the Company’s
management and implementation of ESG related policies, and
is also responsible for ensuring the reliability, truthfulness, and
completeness of our non-financial disclosures. The Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board on 8 March 2022.

Feedback to the Report

The Company is looking forward to your feedback on the
sustainability performance and reporting of the Company.
You can contact us by mail to 21/F, Bank of America Tower, 12
Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Bt AREFTTNER T REERER - &
BREBBNEBENBEHMAVERULRATE
ERENEE AAABRRRERERTER
REETHENER AR EEEEAMINAE
NEEF M B SEESGIERANBERN EIE R
Ao

T AR EWEARNATEESGEE S EER
FeHkEr > LIsE D R B PIBYESGEE FRAR RS

—M BRIES BN AREEAEUE—R
ABIRAR ST 75 7% » LUBEIRBTEE M o

ERYS&i:3

ESE2EAESEEARTESGHERBNER
BEMANT TREFVBEENIRE BB
MMTEE AREEEBESTEERRIN _F
—TF=RAN\RESEEHE-

BEERRER
AT R AR BRI FHES RGNV RS
RUERR REERAIBERFTHAERRER

BIME ML A B A RIRERE 1 258X EIRTTH
02118

RIIRGIERBRATG —_ S —FEHRS | 85



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B g RE IR

Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder engagement is indispensable to the Company’s
endeavours in promoting sustainable development. The Company
will only succeed by working collaboratively with stakeholders.
Hence, the Company pays high attention to the vastly different
expectations from stakeholders and has been maintaining
regular communication with its stakeholders through various
communication channels to thoroughly understand their
concerns and demands and spares no effort in addressing them.
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Shareholders and « Corporate reports and other « Bi-annually/Depending on operational
Investors announcements needs
+ Shareholder meetings « Annually
- Websites « Recurring/Depending on operational
needs
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Government and « Corporate reports and other « Bi-annually/Depending on operational
Regulatory announcements needs
Authorities
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Employees « Employee performance appraisals +  Annually

« Meetings and trainings
« Emails and notice board

« Team building activities and festival
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Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency
R ELER BRERE gk
Customers + Customer satisfaction surveys « Upon the completion of the terms of
services with each customer
« Interviews, site visits and emails + Depending on customers’ needs
« Customer service hotlines and emails  « Depending on customers’ needs
s - BRREERAE - EREAXRFPRRBRRE
- HRIFERKEI - REERFERZE
- BRIRFBERGR BT - BREBEERFERE
Suppliers « Purchase in accordance with the « Depending on procurement needs
procurement guidelines
HEER - BREBEREIFIESIETRE - RERERE

Professional Group

SXERE

Media
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General Public
HEARR

Professional group satisfaction surveys
Meetings and emails
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Media conferences
Interviews
BIRE=
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Charitable activities and donations
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Depending on business needs
Depending on business needs
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Depending on media needs
Depending on media needs
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At least once a year
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Focusing on What Matters Most

Focusing on the material issues for business and stakeholders
is an essential step for the Company to maintain a sustainable
business. Each year, the Company systematically identify the
Company’s priorities, in addition to the regular communication
with stakeholders. In 2020, the Company conducted a materiality
assessment questionnaire with key stakeholder groups. This
year, a of material issues to further identify, assess and refine
material issues to ascertain whether they remain substantive to
the Company and its key stakeholders. As the business evolves,
this process is critical to the company’s response in changing
ESG context, and to further consolidate the Company’s future
sustainability strategy and scope of reporting.

2021 Materiality Assessment

The Company conducted an internal review this year to determine
and adjust the materiality issues in 2020, the steps are described
below:

Review

The company reviewed the requirements of the latest ESG
guidelines and standards, industry best practices, results from
stakeholder engagement throughout the year, and the results
of the materiality assessment undertook in 2020. Moreover,
the Company’s business development strategies identified
ESG risks, along with the level of impact the Group’s business
activities have on the environment and society, have also been
included into the consideration.

Determine and adjust

Through the materiality assessment, fully supported by the ESG
working group, the Company further adjust the ESG issues and
the materiality issues to cope with the needs in our business
development. This decision is subsequently validated by the
Board.

The result of the materiality assessment guides the Company in

formulating ESG reporting framework and provides insights into
our strategic decision-making in sustainability strategy.
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Our major adjustment on the materiel and ESG issues are as
follows:

+  We have combined the 2020 material issues “Compliance
with laws” and “Regulations and corporate governance”, and
presented in “Compliance operation”, “ESG governance”,
“ESG risk”, which remain as materiality issues in 2021, so
as to present a broader image of our ESG management and
strategy in an orderly manner.

+ Re-defining “Service quality and responsibility” as a
material issue, which allows us to invest more resources
in maintaining good service in the future, as well as to
enhance customers’ satisfaction and our long term corporate
advantage.

+ Re-defining “Green office measures” as a material issue.
Although our business does not pose significant material
environment impacts, we highly value green development
within our operations. We strive to implement more
environmentally friendly initiatives in the future.
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Materiality Issues EE4EE

Throughout the materiality assessment, the Company have AATREEMEHETEBINBEEZEZEK

identified a total of 10 material issues and 9 ESG issues. * HAMEESGERE © *
Governance Aspects Environmental Aspects Social Aspects
EREE BEEE HEEE
1. Compliance operation 1. Green office measures 1. Employment and employee benefits
AREE BN EEEETEF)
2. ESG governance 2. Solid waste discharge and management 2. Health and safety
ESGE A EREBF U EIE Rz
3. ESGrisks 3. Energy usage and efficiency 3. Employee development and training
ESG/E [z AE RS2 AR R 3 e BT #EEE
4. Water usage and efficiency 4, Labour standards
IKE TR e & T A8
5. Greenhouse gases emission and 5. Equality and diversity
management
BERBBREEE FERZTIE
6. Climate change 6. Services quality and responsibility
RIEEE IRBEEMEE

7. Information Privacy

EEME

8. Supply chain management

g EE

9. Anti-corruption
R&5

10.Community engagement
and contribution
e KR ER

* |ssues that are bold are the materiality issues during the * LUMEBRTNZEARSHANEEMZE
Reporting Period. e

The Report has been prepared with a particular emphasis ABRENEEREFHAENREEMLZAUTS
on material issues to comply with the “materiality” reporting  ESG¥REFS5 |00 TEEM | ERRE > BRI A
principles in the ESG Reporting Guide, while ample information &R TTMRERD LT D BB EMESGE
is also provided for stakeholders to sufficiently understand other BB 2ZFESGERR » 13RS ER4H:EE » BNA#R
material issues. All ESG issues, particularly materiality issues, are &S HE4Eo

summarised in the Report.
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Corporate Governance

Robust governance is fundamental to ensuring that ESG
issues the Company faces are well-considered and well-
incorporated into the business agenda of the Company and is of
paramount importance to continuously safeguard the interests
of stakeholders and to enhance corporate value. The Board
and the Company’s management are committed to upholding
the Company’s obligations to stakeholders, along with a well-
established governance framework in place to govern corporate
behaviours. The Company adheres to high ethical and business
standards and ensures compliant operation at all times under
the rigorous implementation of policies and procedures. To
ensure that all pertinent requirements are complied with and to
prevent various risks such as non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, regular reviews on current laws and
regulations are conducted by both the Legal and Compliance
Department and the Company Secretarial Department, and
necessary changes will then be made to the Company’s policies
accordingly.

The Board has established and delegated authority to the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, in which the Audit
Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company has
formal and transparent arrangements for considering matters
relating to risk management and internal control systems, and
the duties of Remuneration and Nomination Committees set out
in the corresponding terms of reference, covering the relevant
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

The Board
B2
Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
BIZEEE MEEE

X8R

RENEEEGERAAATNESGERERSEIT
NERAMAETSZIZOVERE  TIHRAREF
BHEEROENNGNREACXBEEREE-
KRB EEEREEERIBITARTHEND
EWET URUTENEARBLRERET
7o ANEBRFSBEKREFRE  EEBERMEZ
FRIBMHIT T  REBERR RS REE 5
ERESTFIEERER MBS ERRE  ERE
REB R A BEME BRI AR ERETER
BE WHARBBERE TR ZEN -

EFECRUTRESZ FREREES
HPREZEZE T SHRANAEFHERKRA
FERENZH UERERREIEM B EES
EARRIN SR Ml iR 228 GRS R
Y ERNBEEER  REDEELTRIZ AR
SRR

Nomination
Committee
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Relevant corporate governance information, including Director
profiles, Board and committee terms of reference and certain
policies, shall be read in conjunction with the Corporate
Governance Report or can be found on the official website of the
Company (https:/www.gwpaholdings.com/en/investor-relations/
corporate-governance).

Sustainability Governance

As a socially responsible corporate, we proactively manage ESG
matters and promote sustainability. In addition to pursuing
prosperous business development, we demonstrate our social
responsibility by actively engaging with our stakeholders,
contributing to the environment and the society and thus the
sustainable development of the society.

We remain committed to our environmental and social promises,
and have defined clear responsibilities for the Board which lays
a solid foundation for our sustainable development. Meanwhile,
The ESG governance framework has been established to ensure
ESG material issues are fully considered during operating, and
thus to make decisions that safeguarding the interests of our
stakeholders while also align with our corporate values.

The Board
By

ESG Working Group
ESG I{E/4E

Business Management Department

FEN=E ST

Dedicated ESG work leader in
the functional departments

ZIHAESFIMESGIIEAEA

BRFTAEMEEELRER BRESEENE
FEREEGMESE LS TER 550
EARE | —HRABHSRA QTR (https/
www.gwpaholdings.com/en/investor-relations/
corporate-governance) ©

AFHEEERER

FR—RAMLEESERAEE  HFABEHEE
ESGEE KIS I FEEE -HEREBLEN
(B By > B PIAR G B 355 1) & Bt B2 0 R IR R AN 44
2 BRABEHEEME RNHRLENAIRESR
R SRR -

FFIEERERTRPIRVIRIZA L & KGE - A FIRFRE
TEFENRE AR RENAREEREET
RERIELR [  RIFURBRIIESGRIEMELR
BRTASEEERE RN EBESCEERFIR
WA AERRRF N ER @ R EEFEEBER

TEo

Property Investment & Asset
Management Department

MERER

Dedicated ESG work leader in
the functional departments

ZIAEEFINESGIIERE A

ESG Governance Structure and the ESG Working Group
ESGE /A R KRESGI{F/\AE
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The Board is the highest decision-making institution in our ESG
governance structure. With the responsibility of monitoring
and determining the overall ESG management objectives,
strategies and approaches, the Board has established an ESG
Working Group to assist, guide and monitor the progress of
the ESG objectives. The ESG Working Group is composed of
representatives from functional departments, who are dedicated
to implementing the ESG strategies into our daily operations.
Meanwhile, the ESG Working Group liaises with the Company
through reporting decisions made by the Board, work progress
and feedbacks from functional departments.

ESG Working Group & Responsibilities
The main responsibilities of the ESG Working Group include:

I. Assist the Board in coordinating and supervising ESG-related
matters of the Company;

Il.  Assist the Board in formulating ESG management policies
and strategies, including the process of assessing,
prioritizing and managing material ESG-related matters,
including risks to the Company’s business;

lll. Assist the Board to identify and assess ESG risks related
to the Company, and ensure that the Company establishes
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems;

IV. Assist the Board in setting ESG-related goals, and review
with the Board on the progress of achieving relevant ESG
goals;

V. Coordinate and conduct materiality assessment related
work;

VI. Coordinate and coordinate the implementation and
execution of all ESG-related work by the functional
departments of the Group;

EEERHMESCEERRBINRS REHAE
EEgaERENRTREBESCERBZ KK
7575 MILESGLTE4AR > 1Bh ~ 16 S M BB ESG
BIZHE R - ESGTEAH B BAE IR FRAE

B I D PR EESGEBR IE B M H B = EP
BB - BR > ESGLIFAEBEBEEREETRE

PESR T (EEREA E%BF%&?&%HE&@%@@E

REREHE-

ESGL{EVEREE

ESGT R EREZMSEIE

. BYHEFERERES
H;

S AN BESGHEBAN S

I BhESEFTIIESCE IR #t K&K B1F
b BREY R EIEEEMESGIEEE
(BEHAATEFHER) FBE ;

Il BENEE G R EAR T BRAVESG
ERR > WHERAA TR LS B R A MAIESG
EfREE R AERERIERAT ;

V. #BNESE G 5] ILESGAERIAY EF » AL AR
ESGEREMERHEE T —RETIR
V. HERAETERMRHMEAER I

VI RERGBEAERSBESFTEER
BESGHERATAE ;

HITPR
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VII. Communicate with stakeholders (including but not limited
to the Board, management, employees, shareholders and
investors, government and governing bodies, customers,
suppliers, professional bodies, the media, the general public)
on ESG matters, and when necessary, relevant feedbacks to
the Board, management or relevant departments;

VIII. Review and regularly report to the Board on major ESG
management matters and work status, submit for approval,
and propose ESG improvement suggestions;

IX. Coordinate and coordinate the preparation of the annual ESG
report by the relevant departments of the Group and submit
it to the Board for approval; and

X. Perform other ESG-related work as requested by the Board,
including but not limited to providing ESG-related training to
the Board.

Continuous efforts in improving ESG matters

Through supports and regular reporting from the ESG Working
Group, the Board effectively supervise the company’s overall ESG
development strategy, including the management on the material
issues, identification of ESG risks and opportunities. It enables
a timely evaluation on the implemented policies and initiatives
in our operation, which encourage a continuous improvement on
key ESG targets, performance and progress.

To further enhance our governance structure, we adhere to the
ESG Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange, so as to
understand the rising corporate sustainability expectations and
the importance of the Board’s participation in ESG governance.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company regards risks as possible opportunities for
business development and growth and is committed to the
identification, monitoring and management of risks associated
with business activities across the Company. The Board
acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
and plays a critical role in monitoring the risk exposure and
reviewing the effectiveness of related systems annually. Key
risks are thoroughly considered in an active manner so as to
safeguard stakeholders’ interests and the Company’s assets,
and the Company recognises the importance of continuously
improving corresponding internal control systems to the extent
that the risks could possibly impede the Company from achieving
abovementioned objectives.

The Company has in place an Enterprise Risk Management
(*ERM”) framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate,
and monitor key risks. Risks faced by the Company fall into a
number of principal categories: strategic risk, operational risk,
compliance risk, financial risk and information risk, and risks
monitoring mechanisms were then developed to facilitate risk
monitoring and control.

More details of the Company’s risk management and internal
control shall be read in conjunction with the Corporate
Governance Report.
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ESG Risk Management

With the basis of the existing risk management and response
mechanism, we have conducted an ESG risk assessment in 2021
to further explore the potential ESG risks posed to our business.
The ESG risks assessment is conducted through performing a
megatrend analysis and a process of peers’ benchmarking. Next,
ESG risks are evaluated and prioritised under the perspectives
of “severity of potential negative impacts” and “possibility
of occurrence”. We have identified 22 ESG risks and has
incorporated into our ESG risk checklist.

Secondly, we invited internal stakeholders to rank identified ESG
risks into four levels: “Very Low”, “Low”, “Medium” and “High”
and has defined “High” level ESG risks as significant ESG risks.
Currently, we have implemented relevant policies and measures
in response to the identified significant ESG risks. A detailed

management approach is shown below:
Significant ESG risk
Regulatory compliance risks

Changes in regulatory and compliance systems, and increasingly
stringent requirements for public disclosure of information
such as failure to comply with laws and regulations, regulatory
requirements, rules, relevant standards formulated by self-
regulatory organizations, and codes of conduct applicable to our
own business activities, which may result in legal sanctions or
regulatory penalties, major financial losses, etc.
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Our responses

Operating a “Three Lines of Defence” risk governance model
to delegate and coordinate essential risk management and to
control duties in a clear and cohesive manner > to help monitoring
and controlling key risks such as operational risks, compliance
risks, financial risks and information risks, etc

Our business units are able to effectively execute risk and control
procedures on a daily basis as the first line of defence. Business
Management Department and the Legal and Compliance
Department as the second line of defence, while Internal Audit
serves as the third line of defence, providing independent
assessment over the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems and makes recommendations based on
the audit findings.

The Company considers to further integrate the identified ESG
risks into our sound ERM framework, so as to cope with the
latest ESG risks in the industry and the global market. We will
continuously monitor, analyse, and identify potential ESG risks
and opportunities in our operations.
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Employment

Protecting the legitimate rights of employees and fostering
an inclusive and people-oriented corporate culture is of the
utmost importance for the Company. The Company believes
a sound human resources management system that attracts
and retains the right talents and harnesses the Company’s
competencies. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
receive any irregularity nor complaint relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare that have significant impacts on the
Company.

Employment Policies and Regulations

The Company believes that it is incumbent for the Company to
respect and protect the rights and benefits of employees. The
Company strictly complies with laws and regulations, in regard
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, that have
significant impacts on the Company’s operation in Hong Kong,
including, but not limited to, the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Employee Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). To ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
the human resources policies and procedures of the Company
are comprehensively established with reference to labour laws
and regulations.

The Company strives to establish a mutual understanding
and respectful relationship between the Company and its
employees. The Employee Handbook, which contains details on
personnel policies, regulations and employee benefits to ensure
that all employees are treated fairly and rationally, is therefore
established. The Employee Handbook is periodically reviewed by
the Company as to ensure that it is in line with the existing labour
laws and regulations and to keep pace with the latest market
development.
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Fair and Equal Employment

The Company believes that standardized recruitment and
promotion procedures provide equal opportunity to right talents
and trusts that allocating human resources in an appropriate
manner will help sustainable business development. The
Company has the Management Methods for Recruitment set in
place to clarify employee recruitment and promotion process.
Specifically, recruitment work of the Company not only adheres
to four basic principles: business development needs, talent
structure optimization, scientific standardization principle and
equal opportunity, but also is conducted towards a diversified
composition of employees with various races, education
backgrounds, work experience, nationalities, knowledge, and
skills.

All comprehensive recruitment and promotion mechanisms
established by the Company ensure that all candidates are
treated fairly. Decisions made on employment and promotion
solely focused on the assessment of candidate’s work
experience, technical skills, and work performance while
their age, gender, race, marital status, sexual orientation, and
physical disability will not be taken into account. At the same
time, the Company proactively checks the identity certificates
of candidates during recruitment and employment to prevent
recruiting child labour. Also, the Company allows employees to
work overtime only with the consent of their department heads
and promises in no way the Company will force employees
to work overtime, completely prohibiting the occurrence of
any forms of forced labour. As an effective way to prohibit any
forms of unfair or unreasonable dismissal, the Employment
Contract with employees clearly sets out the terms of dismissal
of employees. The termination of Employment Contract and
dismissal of employees are also carried out in strict compliance
with relevant laws and regulations to fully protect the rights and
obligations of the Company and employees.

NERMFERRE

RRBBRBRECHNEENEAREFREEN
AT RBFER S BEEBMEBEANTERE
BEERMAIFERE ARTGE T (BIEEIE
PR)  REETHENSARE - ABMms &
NEREEBENMEENMNERERRA | EHBERE
2> N\T BRI BHERBRAMEEIE > 75
RO e T RER e R TIFEER-
BUFE ~ AN AERZ b A ABAR

RABRUMNEEBRNE A HEIERTRE
REABES I RTINS - BEREEREAN
RTE R ETZIREE AR TARASER ~ B firhe sEAN TIF
TR TEREREABFE MR &R 1SR
MAMRARNEERESTRERWAZ BHEZ
A o B > ZIK’./_}TE}”HJDH#HB LR EHIRER
BEANS M BAXALUBILBREET - AAF)E
AFETIHEERHEISMIEEAREER TN
B> WAGEAB A RBINIE > ST 2 B IE AW
HRRBEH - (BIRGX) BHRESIBRES T
BIERUUER—BARBLERFAAFHAGE
BARERVATE - A (BEG X)) BURERR R B T A7
BB IR IRABRR A A RRETT LIS M RESR
NEIRHE B TR ZES

RIMIREERBRAG —_ S —FE®RSE | 99



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B g RE IR

The Company’s remuneration and benefit policies, which are
structured in accordance with market terms and statutory
requirements, aiming to recognise employees with outstanding
performance, motivating and rewarding devoted employees
for achieving business performance targets. The Management
Methods for Compensation and Welfare are therefore
established, with competitive compensation and benefits
packages of employees clearly stated to attract and retain
employees. Employee performance appraisals are conducted
once a year to determine the compensation package and are
remunerated based on their work performances and standard
market salaries with discretionary year-end bonuses awarded
according to individual performance, reasonable adjustments
are also made in due course as a recognition to employees’ work
efforts.

Employee’s Welfare

The Company values the health and well-being of its employees.
In addition to a competitive salary, the Company also provides
employees with medical insurance that covers employees
and their eligible family members. In addition, other staff
benefits such as medical check-up scheme, mandatory and
voluntary provident fund scheme and rental reimbursement
scheme are offered to eligible employees. Labour insurance,
rental reimbursement allowance, overtime allowance, holiday
allowance, birthday allowance, monthly transport and
entertainment allowance are also provided as part of employees’
total compensation package. The Company also provides study
subsidy to employees to encourage them to continuously
enhance their knowledge and skills. Moreover, the Company
sets out employees’” work and rest periods in the Employment
Contract, and ensures that they enjoy statutory holidays, paid
annual leaves, sick leaves, casual leaves, marital leaves, and
maternity leaves, according to the Hong Kong'’s labour legislation.

The Company encourages open communication in workplace,
where employees can freely express their opinions and ideas
with the senior management. Various channels were set up to
facilitate effective communication and collaboration between
all levels of employees, creating an encouraging environment for
creativity and innovation.
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Employee Health and Safety

The Company is committed to creating a healthy, safe, and
comfortable workplace for employees. Although employees of
the Company expose to limited health and safety hazards as
compared to other industries, the Company remains immensely
concerned about employees’ health and safety at office and
correspondingly takes various precautionary measures in place
to minimise any risks in the working environment. The Company
complies with laws and regulations that have significant
impacts on the Company’s operation in Hong Kong related to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards, including, but not limited to, the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not receive any prosecutions in relation
to occupational health and safety that have significant impacts
on the Company.

The Company provides versatile medical insurance plans and
arranges regular body examinations for employees and their
eligible family members. The Company also provides flexibility
in the insurance package and the body examination plan so
that employees can personalise the plans according to their
needs. The Company also arranges employees to participate in
fire drills regularly to strengthen their emergency preparedness.
To enhance air quality, the Company regularly carries out air-
conditioning system cleaning and places plants and vegetations
in the offices. Health and safety related tips are posted in the
office for employees to review at a timely manner.

The Company actively promotes work-life balance, with an aim
to reduce negative psychological and physical health effects
of employees, by discouraging employees from working off the
clock. Meanwhile, the Company regularly organises various
sports and leisure activities for employees to develop a habit of
exercising and to prevent them from exposing to occupational
diseases. Furthermore, the Company organises employee
engagement activities from time to time, such as birthday parties,
festival celebrations, team building activities, etc., to promote the
bonding between employee and the sense of belonging to the
Company.
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Talent Training and Development

The Company adheres to a people-oriented principle, valuing
every employee as an indispensable asset that stipulates
sustainable business development of the Company. The Company
attaches immense importance to employee trainings, committed
to connect employees’ career development with the Company’s
development by providing a wide range of training opportunities,
building career advancement paths for employees at the same
time and developing a competent and industry-leading team.

As the needs of the financial industry, our employees are well-
adapted in rapid developments and meanwhile maintain their
professional competence through constantly upgrading their
knowledge and skills. Training Management Methods have been
formulated to ensure that the support of the needs of our talents
and our business developments. Compliance trainings on Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing are organized
annually to strengthen the awareness of our employees. The
Human Resources Department organises no less than 12
training sessions each year, and invites internal and external
professionals to hold a series of trainings and lectures covering
securities, investment, compliance, anti-money laundering, asset
management and capital funding. Internal professionals invited
are generally the Company’s executive directors or above, while
external professionals are senior specialists from other large
corporations or in any professional fields.
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Diversified Training Activities & Leading Visions

During the Reporting Period, the Company carried out various
training activities. The following are the training categories and
the training contents in 2021:

Trainings Aspects Required Frequency

Z e EEE IR SR ARET

RSN ZMFRT ZEEIES  UTR
—E T —FREIIBERIEIIRE

Training Contents in 2021

plE e BLES —_E_—FNEIIRNE
Business trainings Twice a month Enhancing professional skills in operations
EHEIl ERAMR BEFEREERTT

Professional certification trainings in the
Securities & Future Commissions in Hong
Kong (SFC)

MHoRRGERNEEDZEI BFAR

Five times annually

Legal compliances trainings Yearly basis
R BF—X
Compliance trainings on Anti-Money Yearly basis
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing
RFEBNRBBHDFECEENGREN B8F—R

Regular internal trainings with an average of three hours are
organized at every month. The training focuses on the exchange
of knowledge and information in the industry and operation
aspects, which ensure that employees keep pace with the market
trend and maintain a leading vision.

The Company encourages every employee, regardless of position
and responsibility, to actively participate in training to improve
their knowledge in different fields and to get to know each other’s
team through training to strengthen team bonding. Apart from
providing regular trainings that enhance employees’ capability,
induction trainings are also provided to new employees, enabling
them to smoothly integrate into the Company.

During the Reporting Period, a total of 14 employees of the
Company received trainings, which achieved 100% training
rate, with each employee received an average of 28.7 hours of
trainings.

A series of trainings covers heated issues, latest
developments, and professional skills in the
Financial Industry

TRITRIAFIRE TBRNBE  FEREE
£ — R
~1 Ao

News & Insights: Amendments relating to the
guarantee arrangement by the Civil Code

BHERR : RIAHPBREMREZIREDN

Compliance training on anti-money laundering
and terrorist financing
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Enhance Trainings Quality

Subsequent to the completion of each training, training
assessment forms are collected from employees to evaluate
the effectiveness of the training, in particular the training
arrangement, course content and lecturer performance,
commensurate adjustments are then made to cater for the
training needs of our employees. The Human Resources
Department will also collect attendee list which is used as
a record to fulfill SFC’'s requirements of annual continuous
professional training hours.

Simultaneously, all training materials are uploaded to the
Company’s shared drive to create a culture of knowledge sharing,
enabling all employees an easy access to the information they
need.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Company aspires to construct a long-term collaborative
relationship with business partners along the supply chain
with a sincere and responsibly attitude. The Company
recognises that the success of business inextricably relies on
the performance of the supply chain, thus the Guidelines on
Procurement (“Guideline”), a comprehensive method of supply
chain management, has been accordingly established, which
prescribes the transparent procurement mechanism and clearly
sets out the tendering process, responsible personnel and its
responsibilities, ensuring that suitable suppliers are selected
in an open, fair, just and honest manner with their qualification
verified and in a centralized procurement approach.

In compliance to the Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Regulation on the Implementation of the Bidding Law
of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations,
the Company upholds equal and effective procurement
principles, with the Guideline setting for all service providers of
the Company that provide property valuation services, property
management services, company secretarial services and other
services. For every centralised procurement, a procurement
assessment team is formed to review suppliers’ competencies
and select adequate suppliers based on their business
reputation, quality, service, price, and terms of sale, aiming to
identify and reduce environmental and social procurement risks
as well as to improve procurement efficiency.
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Each year, to continuously ensure fair and effective procurement,
the Procurement Department of the Company conducts supplier
appraisals for product and service providers respectively, with
evaluation indicators setting in four different aspects. The
evaluation results are timely recorded. Well-performed suppliers
will be considered as recommended units in future procurement
while the cooperation with ineligible suppliers will be terminated
for three years.

Aligning Sustainability value with Supply Chain

Although the Company works as a part of financial sectors
that generally do not have much concern regarding supply
chain sustainability, the Company aims to cooperate with like-
minded business partners that shares similar sustainability
philosophy of the Company. We have stipulated the Green
Procurement Policy, taking into account of n the environmental
cost and delivery time caused by long-distance transportation,
and to provide support for the local economic development, the
Company actively cooperates with Hong Kong suppliers. The
Company attaches great importance to environmental protection
and social ethical responsibility of the suppliers’ performance
into consideration in collaborations.

Since property investment is one of the principal activities of the
Company, the Company pays high attention to the environmental
and the occupational health and safety performances of property
management service providers. The Company’s major property
management service providers hold corresponding certifications
such as the /SO 9001:2015 Quality Management, ISO 14001.2015
Environmental Management Systems—Requirements with
guidance for use and OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health
and Safety. Additionally, the Company regularly reviews and
amends procurement requirements such that the Company could
achieve greater sustainability in near future.
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Service Quality and Responsibility

The Company has upheld its business philosophy in serving
customers with sheer professionalism under a prudential and
proactive approach, and unceasingly builds successful win-
win business relationship with partners and customers. While
delivering quality financial products and excellent services to
customers, the Company has always strictly complied to laws
and regulations in relation to health and safety, advertising,
and privacy matters of the products and services provided by
the Company, that have significant impacts on the Company’s
operation in Hong Kong, including, but not limited to, the Landlord
and Tenant (Consolidation) Ordinance (Chapter 7 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Main Board
Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company was
not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning the provision and use of the Company’s
products and services, including but not limited to, marketing
communications including advertising and promotion, and
property rights including intellectual property rights that have
significant impacts on the Company.

Comments and suggestions from customers are one of the keys
to allow continuous improvement of our product and service
quality. We highly values customers’ satisfactions, therefore, we
have formulated the Complaint Handling Procedure during the
Reporting Period, which sets out the actions to be taken upon
receipt of a complaint and the handling methods for different
types of complaints to identify complaints, the sources and
areas for improvement in our services. We actively review each
submitted appeal and respond promptly.
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The Complaint Handling Procedure is formulated under reference
on Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission and the Guidelines
on Management, Supervision and Internal Control for Persons
Licensed or Registered with the Securities and Futures
Commission, and it clearly states that all complaints, including
the nature of, the actions taken, verification, the method
proposed for the complaint incident, the collection of data files
involved in the complaint incident, etc., should be recorded
in the Complaint Register book. The employees must report
the complaints to the relevant responsible department heads
and relevant leaders respectively within two working days.
The employees must respond to the results of the customer
investigation after handling the investigation of the customer
complaint.

In addition, the Company has set complaint office, which is
responsible for proper reviewing or investigating all matters
involved in the complaint, such as reporting results of the internal
investigation to the relevant leaders of the company and handling
recommendations, and all other customers complaints and
handling results. The complaint office ensures that the required
internal and external reports are properly prepared and available
for inspection by relevant management members or the relevant
regulatory body upon request. The Company will continue to
maintain and execute the policies and procedures specified in
the Complaint Handling Procedure, while to update and revise
from time to time to guarantee that customer complaints can be
properly handled, and appropriate remedial measures are taken
seriously.
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Integrated Financial Service

The Company upholds the vision of building a service provider for
financial assets with diversified business, distinguished feature,
and top-notch brand, and the Company therefore formulated
a series of policies to continuously offer trustful, professional,
and fair financial services to customers and other stakeholders.
The Company has a proper due diligence procedure in place
which enables employees to better understand and familiarise
with customers’ financial situations, investment experience
and investment objectives, such that any recommendation
or inducement of the Company made is appropriate in all
circumstances. If the Company is exposed to high-risk customer
or business nature, stringent measures will be taken to manage
and mitigate such risks. At the same time, the Company promises
that customers shall always be well-informed with the terms and
conditions and associated risks before engaging in any kinds of
financial transaction with the Company.

The Company is committed to maintain a fair and informed
market, and thus requires employees to abide by the Code of
Conduct and to fully understand their responsibility. Since the
disclosure of inside information is central to the orderly operation
and integrity of the market, the Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information, stating the responsibilities of the Board and senior
management in monitoring all disclosures in accordance with the
provisions of the SFC, is constructed and strictly followed by every
member of the Company.

The Company prohibits any forms of false or misleading
statement in the course of publicity, ensuring that all
advertisements and marketing materials truthfully describe the
matter and are approved in accordance with the provisions of the
SFC before they are issued.

The Company is fully aware that the protection of customer
privacy is of great importance to a financial service provider. The
Company, therefore, reinforces the importance of confidentiality
and promises that any customer’s confidential information
will be properly and adequately protected from leakage. During
the Reporting Period, the Company neither experienced any
customer data leakage, nor received any complaints about
inappropriate use of customer information that would have
significant impacts on the Company.
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Property Investment

As a property investment company, the Company always chooses
experienced service providers to manage properties and outdoor
billboards. The Company has maintained a diversified investment
property portfolio in Hong Kong which comprises Kwai Fong
Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue
King Building in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau
Tong and Seaview Estate in North Point. On the other hand, the
Company has also participated in the investment in the JV Group
which holds a diversified portfolio of properties in Hong Kong.
Details of property investment information can be found in the
session of “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

To ensure all tenants’ needs are thoroughly considered, the
Company requires all property management service providers
to collect opinions and recommendations from the tenants on a
regular basis and to provide real-time feedback to the Company;,
so that their concerns can be adequately and timely addressed.
Meanwhile, the customer complaint handling process is also
continuously followed by the Company, which makes sure all
customer complaints to be handled in a prompt and reasonable
manner. When a customer complaint is received, corresponding
department heads will first respond to the customer’s complaint
and the case will then be passed to responsible personnel for
further handling in order to avoid any recurrence of similar
events.

Anti-corruption

The Company firmly believes that stakeholders’ confidence is
built upon the integrity and honesty of every employee of the
Company. Therefore, the Company is committed to operate with
the highest standards of ethical conduct and professionalism
through adopting a zero-tolerance approach to any forms of
corruption, including, but not limited to, bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.
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The Company strictly complies with laws and regulations, in
regard to corruption and bribery, that have significant impacts on
the Company’s operation in Hong Kong, including, but not limited
to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission. During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not receive any allegation against the
Company or its employees of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering that would have significant impacts on the Company.
No whistleblowing incidents related to anti-bribery nor anti-
corruption were notified as well.

Comprehensive management of anti-corruption

The Company has been working painstakingly to combat all
forms of corruption by establishing and putting into practice a
comprehensive set of anti-bribery and corruption policies. The
Company has clearly set out the internal monitoring systems and
procedures, the Code of Ethics for employees, the declaration and
approval procedures of the acceptance of gift or entertainment,
etc., to protect the Company’s integrity and reputation. During
the Reporting Period, The Company revised on the internal
Anti-bribery and Corruption Policies and Procedures, Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Policy and
established a Customer Due Diligence and Money Laundering
Risk Assessment Form and Guidelines on Disclosure of Conflicts
of Interest to achieve the aims of further strengthening relevant
work mechanisms by providing ample guidance regarding
the delegation of investigative units and their respective
responsibilities and requirements, which have been clearly
stated in detail in the Integrity and Self-discipline Commitment,
Employee Handbook and Compliance Handbook. To effectively
avoid any violation as stated, the Company upholds high
ethical standard in business operations, and places significant
emphasis on managing employees’ work ethics.

In additions, to further fostering a good anti-money laundering
work environment, Anti-money Laundering Working Group
(the “Working Group”) has been formed under the Legal
and Compliance Department since 2019. The Working Group is
responsible for anti-money laundering affairs, and specialises
in customer due diligence and other compliance matters.
The Working Group regularly shares anti-money laundering
information through email and training programs with employees,
S0 as to raise the awareness among the employees.
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Effective Anti-corruption initiatives

The company requires all employees to be familiar with and
strictly abide to the above policies, and provides training to
further enhance the awareness of directors and employees.
During the Reporting Period, the company invited compliance
consultant lawyers to provide training on anti-money laundering,
including typical cases, relevant policies, regulations, and
information. The training is in the form of lecture along with “Anti-
laundering knowledge Questions-and-Answering”, which vividly
provided compliance and up-to-dated knowledge of anti-money
laundering in everyday duties.

The company also stipulates the Whistleblowing Folicy, which
has been placed on malpractice reporting and investigation
setting out specific procedures facilitating whistle-blowing
reports and investigation thereof. The Whistleblowing Policy
provides guidance to employees to raise complaints in relation
to fraudulent acts, unethical acts or non-compliance with laws
and regulations that may lead to adverse risks on the Company’s
reputation. The Company endeavours to handle all complaints in
a highly confidential manner and is committed to protecting and
keeping the whistle-blower’s identity confidential, encouraging
all types of employees to whistle blow any suspected behaviours
or misconduct directly to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company or mail to 21/F, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt
Road, Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company.
Investigation procedures are clearly stated in the Whistleblowing
Policy to ensure adequate follow-ups.
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Environmental Stewardship

Our company is committed to environmental protection, energy
conversation, emission reduction and reasonable utilization of
resources and energy in day-to-day operation activities, and
ensures the compliance to related laws and regulations. Since
the operation of the Company focuses on property investment
and finance with major activities involving clerical work
and business meetings in office environment, the Company
generates limited impacts on the environment and has relatively
low environmental impacts as compared to other industries.
Nevertheless, the Company strictly complies with laws and
regulations that have significant impacts on the Company’s
operation in Hong Kong in relation to air and greenhouse
gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including,
but not limited to, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the IWaste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
During the Reporting Period, there were no non-compliance
incidents or infringements in relation to environmental protection
that would have significant impacts on the Company.

Recognizing Green Organisation

The Company was consecutively granted the title and logo of
the “Hong Kong Green Organisation” led by the Environmental
Campaign Committee, along with 10 organisations such as the
Environmental Protection Department, the Hong Kong Council
of Social Service, chambers of commerce and other business
organisations. We believe that alongside of our excellent
management approaches as well as earnest actions from our
employees, the Company’s efforts on sustainability will be more
recognised.
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Hong Kong Green Organisation Certificate

MERSOHEIRE

Overview on our Environmental Management
Approaches

To fulfill our social responsibilities as a responsible corporate
citizen, the Company aspires to strike a balance among
economic, social and environmental impacts. As climate change
is increasingly affecting the society, the Company strives to
reduce the carbon footprint generated from the operation of
the Company. Proactive measures in energy conservation and
emissions reduction as well as adequate waste disposal and
the effective use of resources to fight against climate change
are taken on all fronts. In the reporting period, we have set
environmental targets with corresponding action plans under
different aspects, so as to implement more effectives initiatives
working towards the environmental protection approach.
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Meanwhile > to continuously advocate and strictly follow
on our Green Office Policy, which ensure that activities in
the offices of the Company are in accordance with sound
environmental practices, we require all employees to be aware
of the environmental and health impacts of their work, and are
committed to the ongoing efforts as follow:

+  Minimise the consumption of natural resources and energy

+ Reduce the creation of waste and recycle material whenever
practical

«  Ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and responsible
manner

+  Monitor and evaluate progress and performance for
continuous improvements

The Green Office Policy is regularly reviewed and revised.
Responsibilities of green office management are clearly
stated in the Green Office Policy, with responsible employees
notified. All employees could easily access the policy document
in the Company’s shared drive and relevant trainings will
also provided to new employees by the Human Resources
Department. Meanwhile, the Company communicates with its
employees’ through various channels to collect their opinions
and suggestions on the Company’s green office initiatives and
performance.
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Developing achievable targets and action plans

In order to manage office activities more strategically and
effectively, the Company has established environmental goals
and corresponding action plans at different levels during
the Reporting Period, so as to effectively implement various

HIE R BRNERMITEFE

AT EREEEMNBE M ERR A TGS AR
BIRNIREHN 5] 1L T A REEIRIE B R AME
FERVTTENST R LB B A RO IT R IRIRIR (ReE
A7t o

environmental protection strategies within the Company.

Aspects Environmental Targets  Corresponding Action Plan Targets Progress in 2021
[EE IRIGER 17858 —_Z”—F58ER
Energy Saving Increase employees’ Affix reminders of “Energy-saving” v Fully implemented
EI#XIREIR awareness of energy next to the lighting system and vEZEBITIER
saving photocopiers
REEILHEEH TERRPARARA > SCENHE S RE ETEIAV A E)
AR
Conduct energy audits Formulates energy-saving measures v Fully implemented
MAEETREREZ il E B AEFE I vEEZEBTHEH
Improve energy efficiency Regularly repair and upgrade office v’Under preparations
of office equipment electronic equipment to optimise vIRERERHEE T(E
REWAEREMEE energy efficiency
R EERARMAEEFHR
1 BIEBE IR E
Water Efficiency Strengthen Water Affix reminders of “Water-saving” next ¢ Fully implemented
EEES)EERIN Efficiency awareness to water taps of pantry and bathroom  vEZEE{THEH

RS 8 TEIKEH

Improve the water

fm%?ﬁ&i‘#Fﬁm?}méﬁﬁi&ﬁﬁt
Stop using equipment with high water

efficiency of sanitary ware consumptions

B =5 A K

FRBEKRRE
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v/ Under Preparations
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Aspects Environmental Targets ~ Corresponding Action Plan Targets Progress in 2021
[E RIFER (L] —_E_—F5tEER
Waste Reduction  Advocate paper-less Widely apply electronic means and v Fully implemented
B BEEY) practices encourage the use of online systems ~ VEZHEBITIEHE
FEHTEALERA for document approval
ERABFHEMEN IS IEAERE
ERGETXHER

Collect and reuse old binders, and
archive documents in the internet
electronically where possibleWg 1 &
EEAEEEN URAEREFH

HEITX 175
Reduce the use of single  Prior to purchase office suppliesthat ¢ Fully implemented
used items made of recycling materials, vERHEEBTIEH

B — R A BRRBRIREBSYEAMNI AR
i
Encourage employees to reduce the
use of disposable materials, such as

cutlery
BB TR MER—RMA & I
&R

Enhance the awareness of recycling,
waste avoidance and reduction

BARETRVEVEES RIEBAE

Fi
Recycle on wasted office  Develop reuse and recycle plan for v’ Under Preparations
equipment and furniture  office furniture viRERERmESE TE
IR KA il E Bl ~ B A B AR AT

Regularly check on the progress
R E S8 TR
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By developing achievable targets and action plans, our ESG
working group is responsible for reporting to the Board regularly
on the progress and the implementation on our environmental
protection strategies, so as to assist the Board in reviewing the
effectiveness and applicable on the efforts. The Company will
continue to evaluate and identify improvement areas for these
target and actions consistently.

Green Office Measures

As stated, to advocate a green working environment, we strive to
make efficient use of resources, promote green awareness within
the daily operations while follow effective environmental-friendly
management approaches. The following chapters shed light on
our office usual environmental practices under different aspects.
It is expected that with the implementation of the Green Office
Policy, and our corresponding targets and actions ’ shall pose a
positive impact on the overall environmental performance of the
Company in the foreseeable future.

The Company has received two green certifications in the year,
which is “Energywi$e Certificate (Basic Level)’and “Wastewi$e
Certificate (Basic Level)” from the Hong Kong Green Organisation.
The awards enhance the recognition of our commitment
to continuously implement and improve our environmental
strategies.

il O PR
Hong Kong
Green Organisation Certification

(“j fifi il% it ..*

fld?NLPI

Pk AR W)
Great Wall Pan Asis Holdings Limited

0

Energywi$e Certificate
(Basic Level)

ENAERR B TELEAR B

BBGE I BIRMNBZMTEI ) FFIMESG
TREBETHEEESRERMIRIEREE
BUKREREHNIER  UBNEEEEITERK
FNBEMMERAITTE . KA BB #EE T EE
L B IR TN 5 R CCE RIS o

EA

WA BEEHKEBTERE RPN E
MABER LEHSEEPRSRBREN

B ANERAMNIRREEBER - LU TEH
%%THEEF‘Q%%&T?W‘EﬁﬁLE’JIE@JO
EABIHAE > BEE GBI A LRARETE B R
Bt R AR BRIRSENEEBIBEmNT
2o

RATERESHIAN %ﬁ%ﬁ@uummﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁr
BESSZ TERRAR A K HiEE 5= IR AR R
E T R ERIRIEE AR AR o

AR g
———

ik R
Hong Kong
Green Organisation Cemification

D M
WastewiSe
—Certificate—

'Mllﬂa

Basic Lo

BT R AL
Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited

0

e o wia
——

Wastewi$e Certificate
(Basic Level)
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Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

The Company’s business operations are mainly conducted
indoors in offices, hence the main sources of carbon emission
are limited to direct emissions from vehicle use and indirect
emissions from purchased electricity consumption. Yet several
energy conservation measures are implemented to reduce
electricity usage and relevant emission.

All employees strictly followed the energy-saving measures as
set forth in the Green Office Policy and electricity consumption
has been continually monitored by responsible personnel. The
company continues to record and annually disclose electricity
consumption and other relevant environmental data at the
office as to assess the effectiveness on our performance in the
reasonable use of energy.

Resources Management

The generation of domestic wastes from day-to-day business
activities is insignificant for the Company due to its business
nature, the Company still spares no effort in reducing wastes
and using resources in an efficient and effective manner. The
Company identified the major types of non-hazardous wastes
to be domestic wastes and paper wastes, and also identified
toner cartridges and disposed batteries as hazardous wastes.
Meanwhile, the Company encourages employees to use
recyclable toner cartridges and return all used toner cartridges to
suppliers for recycling purposes.

Meanwhile, the Company set up wastepaper recycling station
next to every printer for recycling purpose,. Employees are
encouraged to avoid the use of disposable materials, plastic and
glass bottles are limited to generate in the office. Other recyclable
materials, including paper wastes, plastic bottles and glass
bottles, disposed batteries are assembled by types and collected
by the property management offices for centralised recycling.
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The Company adheres to the importance of water saving in
the office. The Company’s water is sourced from municipal
supply and controlled by a third-party property management
company. Despite not having any issues in water sourcing during
the Reporting Period, the Company still proactively implement
various measures in raising employees’ awareness on water
conservation.

Green procurement

The Company also actively considers green elements in the
procurement activities of daily office equipment. As guided in our
Green policy, we focus on the energy and water consumption and
efficiency of items, as well as their toxicity and recyclability.

Procurement Guideline

In terms of office equipment, electronic equipment, lighting
equipment, products with eco-labels are highly preferred.

Hybrid or electric vehicles with low emissions and high efficiency
engines are more preferred.

Cleaning suppliers that low volatile organic compounds (VOC) are
more preferred.

Climate change

Climate change is a global challenge that affects communities
and businesses as a whole. One of the consequences of
climate change is extreme weather events, such as hurricanes
and flooding which may directly affect the Company’s daily
operations. The Company has been planning to develop climate-
related risk identification, management policies and emergency
plans to respond and minimise the possible disruptions in
business operations. As mentioned in previous paragraphs,
the Company also makes every effort to run an environmental-
friendly and low-carbon emission business to help fight against
global climate change.
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Community Investment

Dedicated in integrating corporate social responsibility into
business activities through caring the society, the Company
strives to make positive contributions to the community through
various employee-volunteer programs and donations, with an aim
to build trust between community and other stakeholders.

5 Years Plus Caring Company

With years of unremitting efforts in community investment, the
Company has been acknowledged as a “Caring Company 5 Years
Plus” by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service in 2021. We are
honored to have been awarded as for more than 5 consecutive
years for satisfying at least 3 out of the 6 Caring Company
criteria, including Volunteering, Employee Friendly, Employing
Vulnerable, Caring for the Environment, Mentoring and Giving.
It is a recognition of consecutive commitment in fulfilling social
responsibility and the long-term partnership with charitable
organisations, and the contributions to our proactive fulfillment in
social responsibilities.
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caringcompany

Awarded by The Hong Kong Council of Social Ser\iice
HanteERisiEEs

5 Year Plus Caring Company Certificate
I R RAIRS £ Plus 1®5S

120 |

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B g RE IR

Proactively Supporting Charitable Works

The company actively cooperates closely with other
charitable organizations. The company considers donates
cash or necessities to charities according to the needs of
the communities. During our reporting period, we donated
office furniture and HK$5,000 to the Kowloon Federation of
Associations Kwun Tong Sau Mau Ping Community Service Centre
and The Salvation Army to help community development. The
Company also donated HK$10,000 to charity organizations as for
financial assistance throughout the year 2021.

The Company exert influence of creating positive impacts on the
community through the joint participation of our employees in
volunteering activities to directly engage with the community.
The Company has been supporting U-Hearts by establishing a
long-term cooperating relationship, which is an influential local
charitable organisation for their efforts in empowering youths in
Mainland China and Hong Kong, so as caring for local elderly. Our
volunteer team have been proactively participating in voluntary
work and donation activity as continuously supporting U-Heart’s
initiatives, such as Elderly Caring Program with preparing “lucky
bags” of essential daily necessities, such as rice, noodles,
toiletries, etc. More than 500 “lucky bags” were delivered to
grass-roots families and solitary elderly on a monthly basis since
October 2018, to further support people in need in Hong Kong.
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Combating the COVID-19 Pandemic

Even though the continuous outbreak of COVID-19 in HK
and its corresponding impacts has resulted in challenging
circumstances for our development, the Company remains
proactively creating values with great efforts. To safeguard the
interests of our employees and the community, the company
implement effective epidemic prevention and control works to
ensure the safety and health of employees, meanwhile, to donate
necessary as support for the needy in the society.

Safeguarding safety and health of our employees

The Company arrange disinfection of the office every working
day with 1:99 diluted in all corners of the office, covering public
area, meeting rooms, restaurants, pantry and etc., and in-
depth disinfection and cleaning service for the office provided
by professional disinfection company to ensure the hygienic
condition of the working environment of employees. The staff
canteen is temporarily closed, while lunch is provided in lunch
box, and employees are required to eat at respective work
stations. To encourage our employees to be vaccinated, 2-days
vaccine leaves are provided. By avoiding close contact among
employees, the Company also implements work shift systems
and flexible work-from-home policies for all employees.

The Company has distributed epidemic prevention materials to
employees, including but not limited to 35,000 masks, sterilized
alcohol cotton swab, sterilized alcohol-based handrubs, boxes of
disinfectant wipes, disinfectant sprays, paper towel, disinfectant
hand soap and disinfectant shower gel and epidemic prevention
shopping vouchers.
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Support the needy in the society TiEHE
On 18 September 2021, which is before the mid-autumn festival, —ZE_-—&h B+ /N\H > EFMKEBH > &AAF

the Company donated 300 “lucky bags” with food, facial mask 3888 T 300(@ 1853 FIEEFIRM TMth—i0 2
and daily necessities to elderlies living alone and low-income  EZ&EBBEREE RBEWRAKE B8 AYE
families under U-Hearts, the non-profitable organisation, withan ~ FEGEHEYE OS2 - KEMBAEARTE
aim to provide practical assistance to those in need to tide over &% UHBABEEM A TIRHEEHE H#

the difficult period together. BRI BT
¥ Ymie—i
3 Hearts
FEE 2021
2021.09.18

RIMIRDIZEIRABIR AT

EOEN ROEEMLEE -
a0 TLBRE  LIFNE,
T RS R !

&

M — D ER
BEEY

U-hearts President Appreciation Certificate

MRy 3t — 0 ) = JRX &R

With regards to the unknown future impacts that COVID-19  HRHEREFEHHIBNAAE HEEENA
still has on the market and daily operation of the Company, X2 KA BB IFEIHIR O AERIZIEN > UL
the Company will regularly review relevant possible prevention ~BAEIEFIEEIE

measures to fight against COVID-19 effectively and efficiently.
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Performance Data

Environmental Performance

2021 2020

—E—F BT
Emissions’ HE4"
Air Pollutants? X555 242

Total Total
Types Units Emissions Emissions
p et B LHE L E
Sulphur oxides FRE1E¥I(SOx) Tonnes ‘A~ ME 119x10°® 761x10*
Nitrogen oxides @& 1E#I(NOy) Tonnes AN 2.85x10* 6.84x107
Particulate matter # % M F(PM) Tonnes AN 773x10® 3.69x10°
Carbon monoxide —&1EH%(CO) Tonnes Mg 2.56x10° 2.07x10°
GHG Emissions® ;A E R 2 HERE

Total Total
Types Units Emissions Emissions
p it =<4 v “WEERE HEHEmE
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from vehicle use ~ Tonnes COze 214 6.64
HE—  BWMEAEENERRERBIR P FEIRE S
Scope 1 emissions per employee Tonnes COze per employee 015 0.47
BRETIHEHE IR N EEREE

BRET
Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from Tonnes CO2e 3114 33.28
electricity use

HE"  BEEENBERRERREYER P FEIRE S
Scope 2 emissions per office area Tonnes COze per sq. ft 2.58x10° 2.76x10°

WMAZEETHRAEEE —FFR

AP_FERESE
BFHR

1 The company owns two vehicles in 2020 and renews the vehicle rights in 2021, the company has only one vehicle during the
reporting period. The loss of ownership in one of the vehicle contributed to the significant loss on the emissions in comparing

to 2020.
zgﬂﬂ;a%z TTFBEAMWAE TE_T - —FENERE FARERSHARE AR BR8N T 20205 5K
BEFR#E ¢°

2 The calculation method of the emissions from vehicle use references the EMEFP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission Inventory
Guidebook 2016 issued by the European Environment Agency.

HEWMERASRENSTE R E2E TEUNIRIEZE (European Environment Agency) Z i FI(EMEP/EEAZE

2016)°

RS HEFRUREIER

124

According to A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard issued by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, Scope 1 emissions is
defined as the direct GHG emissions occur from sources that are owned or controlled by the Company, for example, emissions
from combustion in owned vehicles, while Scope 2 emissions is defined as the indirect GHG emissions from the generation of
purchased electmcr% steam, heatl/@ and cooling consumed by the Compan

R RERBBZER @Fﬁéﬁff¥ﬁﬁﬁ<¢¥ﬁ%ﬂ$ ERAE) & x&%ﬁ%% A B ES SIEHIAY AR > P10 0 B A BRI
AR E M B A = IR S | BE B AR AR EENE S R éﬂjﬁun RMEENEFRERBIIRE-

The calculation method and relevant emission factors of direct GHG emissions references the Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong
Kong issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department and the Environmental Protection Department of Hong

Eh‘&iﬁﬂsmﬁﬂzﬁ?%%ﬁii&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂiﬁl%%{ﬂ%%%&% s TREMRRREZLFEM(EBERY @E - FERNAH
A AR =R BRINZEMIREHES]) -

The calculation method and relevant emission factors of indirect GHG emissions references A Corporate Accounting

and Reporting Standard and the Susta/nab/[/ty Report 2020 issued by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol and the HK Electric

Investments respectivel Fﬁ%ﬁ&%ﬁ%ﬂ?tmﬁﬁ STE T EREE R ARM I 2T R EREZERAPTEMI(CEZERRE

REE) R BB ENRER R AT EMAY(2020F A FFEHRIKRE)
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Wastes BEEY)

Total Total
Types Units Emissions Emissions
p =4 v BHmE HEHEE
Non-hazardous waste: Domestic waste® Tonnes 210 2.36
mEEERY) | £IENIRS YNL]
Domestic waste per employee Tonnes per employee 015 016
SHEBTEENAENR AW/ BLET
Hazardous waste: Toner cartridge’ Tonnes 4.8x10° 4.4x10°
BEEEERY) . i YN
Toner cartridge per employee Tonnes per employee 3.43x10% 2.75x10%
SRETELENHRME AW/ BLET

EFABRBIF BT A2 LRI RESE M (EBERENERRE - — - NEFNRFAHEF) -

Bttt

The calculation method of domestic waste references the Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong — Waste Statistics for 2019.

In 2021, The measurement units of and categories are in accordance with the ESG Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules on
the Stock Exchange, the 2020 data has been restated to improve data comparability.
TE T -5 S EBUNER BRI AT EHRAIMER27 (ESGHES | ) VR TE » tE

TETREMBET TR LIRS
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Use of Resources & R{&EA

Types Units Amount Amount
p =4 v HE e
Electricity consumption® kWh in 000’ 43.87 41.08
RE=® TEF R B

Electricity consumption per office area kWh in 000’s per sq. ft 3.64x10°% 3.41x10°
WAEGTHRNEIIHFE FEFERE/SFA5R

Gasoline consumption?® kWh in 000’s 7.31 22.68
FUHAES TEF R B

Gasoline consumption per employee kWh in 00Q0’s per employee 0.52 1.62
BRETINSHEE FEFERE S%8T

Purchased water'? m3 2.27 1.97
SNEEFRKE T HAK

Purchased water per employee m? per employee 016 012
SRETIHNINERKE AR/ BRET

Use of paper kg 12.43 12.43
MoRfEA T

Use of paper per employee kg per employee 0.89 0.78
BUBTHMAKRER Fr/ 8%8T

8 The emission data was calculated in accordance with the 2020 emission factors of HK Electric stated in the HK Electric

Investment 2020 Sustainability Report.

FRBERREEEEIRE (2020574

BRBE)MENBE S SFHRRA T E

9  The company owned two vehicles in 2020 and renews the vehicle rights in 2021, the company has only one car during the
reporting period, resulting in a significant drop in gasoline consumption compared to 2020.

ARBE_E_SFHEMESE T

FAELL  HHBERIE T

—FEMEREAR ARARNERSHARE—WAE ERTHE_ZTF

10 The Company operates in an office which its supply of water is managed by a third-party property management company and
the water usage data could not be obtained. Hence, purchased water includes purchased bottles of drinking water only.

EREMAENKRERAE=SYEEEREESR > FrUELUESAKEE it SNERKER ML ZEEHRIS

FEHREE K
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Social Performance’

Total Workforce & & 428

HEER"

Types Number of employees Percentage
Wl BEAH &L
By sex Male 8 570%
ZIERIE D %
Female 6 43.0%
%z
By employment type'? Full-time 14 100%
IR EIREE D" e
Part-time 0 0%
e
Senior level 2 14%
=
Middle level 6 43%
i
Junior level 6 43%
Hig
By age®™ Below 30 3 21%
HEHE D 30R U T
30-40 5 36%
30-40%%
41-50 3 21%
41-508%
51 or above 3 21%
51mx 3 £
By geographical region' Mainland China 5 36%
i@ E o FRE Ay ]
Hong Kong 9 64%
BE

11 The Company continues to collect social performance data with consistent methodologies to allow meaningful comparisons

over time.

RABFERA-H T EREREER

MEE > LIHERAE B ERNLEER-

12 Some values increase due to round-off, resulting in that a sum greater than 100%. The error is within the normal and

acceptable range.

RIS I A BRI D BEL > BIRERKRIN100% ZREEERGELEN -

13 Some values increase due to round-off, resulting in that a sum greater than 100%, The error is within the normal and

acceptable range.

BRPE I A BRI D BEL > BIRERKRIN100% ZREEERSEELEN -

14 Some values increase due to round-off, resulting in that a sum greater than 100%, The error is within the normal and

acceptable range.

BRPE I A BRI D BEL > BIRERKRIN100% ZREEERSEELEN -
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Employee Turnover {8 237tk

Number of employees
Types leaving employment Percentage'sad16
85! TR ANE fiLE1sRe
By sex Male 2 25%
gkl sy 5
Female 1 17%
%
By employment type Full-time & 21%
REREILE D 3
Part-time 0 0%
TR
Senior level 2 33%
B
Middle level 1 17%
g
Junior level 0 0%
g
By age Below 30 1 33%
BEREI D 30T
30-40 2 40%
30-40%%
41-50 0 0%
41-505%
51 or above 0 0%
SImE AL
By geographical region Mainland China 2 40%
i@ 85 FREI A
Hong Kong 1 1%
aB

15 The denominator of turnover rate is calculated is half of the number of employees at the beginning of the Reporting Period plus
the number of employees at the end of Reporting Period.

SHERKRERPIERND BRREHRE T ARG

16 The turnover rate is calculated based on Total Number of Employee Turnover per category dived by Total Number of Employee

per category”.

HBENHER iR SEENNETHEAY SEHNE TR -
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Development and Training 2% /& £ 123l

Number of people
Types trained Percentage'
85! EAII A f&LE”
No. and rate of employees Male 8 571%
trained by sex 3
R oY B T AR Female 6 42.8%
et %
No. and rate of employees Senior level 2 14.3%
trained by employment type =
RiEEELE D8 TIE Middle level 6 42.8%
ANBRAGLE I
Junior level 6 42.8%
g
Types Average training hours™
85! T
Average no. of training hours Male 36.8
per employee by sex 3
bl kI E Pl SRS SRS S35 Female 18
%
Average no. of training hours per Senior level 10.5
employee by employment type =)
REEHREE DI FEIEZIRE Middle level 29.3
HE
Junior level 33
g

17 The rate of the number of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of trained employees in this category by the

total number of trained employees.

ETHIABAELEFERER | ZIENZINETIHRURINE TR AR

18 The average number of hours for an employee is calculated by dividing the total hours of trained employees in that category by

the number of employees in that category.

BTN THREERER | 2R E TRFHIRUZEN ST AR
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Occupational Health and Safety i ¥ @ FEH % 2

Types Number Rate
85 g EEER
No. and rate of work-related fatality 0 0%
HTERAEMIE TR ABUREEE

2021/ =T _—1F 0 0%
2020/ =%=% 0 0%
2019/=2—H4F 0 0%
No. and rate of work-related lost days due to injuries 0 0%

E TR FRMZBPAERN TIFEH
No. and rate of work-related injury 0 0%

ETEREMZEIABRLE

Supply Chain Management {3 f& $& & 12

Types Number Rate

3l e B

No. and rate of suppliers by Mainland China 0 0%

geographical region FRE Ay ]

i@ s DI HE R 2B KR (hLE Hong Kong 51 100
BH

Product Responsibility Z @& E

No. of complaints received 0

BHENKRREUE

Anti-corruption Number

R&5 8

No. of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 0

the Company or our employees

HETASHESRE Y EBENESFARHENE

No. of total required anti-corruption trainings hours provided for each 15
Board members

MEUEE SN ERHIRBBIEIIEEH

No. of total anti-corruption trainings Hig 13

hours requiredor each employees

B8 TIEE R E RIS I8 2 as 16.5
= 15
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Appendix: The ESG Reporting Guide Index

Content Index of ESG Reporting Guide

& R 6w

PiyR © BE3ZFRESGHS5 |25
(RIE M ERERREES)ABRSI

Mandatory Description Relevant Section
Disclosure Haat in the Report
Requirements IR EERAEER
SRR EE
Governance A statement from the board containing the following elements: Corporate Governance
Structure HEFERLNER BERHEB TIINS - TEER
TR () adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;
REEEEHRE - HEREREENRE
(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and
EXEENRE - HEREREERHARE BETE  BREY REE
BEENRIE -HEREREMERE (BEHETAEBNER MEE; &
(ili) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.
SEERNARERE - HEREREMBERRANER  TRECMNME
BITAEBBE#AE
Reporting A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting | About this Report
Principles Principles in the preparation of the ESG report. BRARE
BER R BN RRTRERE L EREARSFHNARR T ERRA
Reporting A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and |About this Report
Boundary describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are |BARZAIRE
R E included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should
explain the difference and reason for the change.
RERE - HEREARENEREE RELKETLEERNEBFAAR
B HERERRENERE - SERBERMIE BT ARRERRZER
EERHA -
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By~ tba RERRE
General Description Relevant Section
Disclosures and it in the Report
Key Performance AR SIERAEE
Indicators (KPI)
—MRIRBE X
FARAEMIER (KPI)
A.Environmental
AIRGEE
Aspect A1: Emission
BEAT : S
General Disclosure | Information on: Environmental
—MRiE (a) the policies;and Stewardship
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on |IRIEEIE
the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRBRKRZEREIN mKRIHNEES - BERBEREMNELEN
(a) BZ% ) EZ
b) BTHETABEAXENERERRRANEE -
KPIA11 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental
BB BRI R Performance
RIGEX
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy direct (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, | Environmental
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
BEREENRERBZEE)DERZREFRECEA B AMERZEWNSER |RIRER
B BERME) e
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | Environmental
unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
FELBEREMEECIE D RWBRAZEWNSESR( - BERMH) . | REER
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. | Environmental
per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
FELEEREMEECIEIBERWBRAZEWUSEER( BERMH) . | REEN
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of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
HLREEERESEEMNG % RHIPTT AR B R R AEDELRRM
PRENRY 2P B o

General Description Relevant Section

Disclosures and it in the Report

Key Performance AR SIERAEE

Indicators (KPI)

—MRIRER

PRRERIER (KPI)

KPIA1.5 Description of emission target(s) and steps taken to achieve them. Environmental
R T U RBENE B IR R AERE L BRI BR o Stewardship

RIGERE
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and description | Environmental

Stewardship
REERE

BEA2 . BEEH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

reference to per unit produced

RpimPrAEEMHNBECIEH B RMBRASEERUEE -

General Disclosure | Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, and other raw | Environmental

— R & materials. Stewardship
BREREREFEER KR EMEMERER RIGEE

KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total | Environmental
(kWh'in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
RENENNERR/AEEERIE  RUNEREUTETREEOREE [RIFEN
WU BEEEN BER1E) -

KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | Environmental
facility). Performance
BEKERBEWUCEBEN BERMAE) IRIFEN

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) and steps taken to achieve them | Environmental
achieved. Stewardship
R ST L MAERIE A X B IR R A E G L B RIS 8 o RIGERE

KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water | Environmental
efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Stewardship
RSB A AR LI B ERIERE URETIMNAKNGEERRAEHNELER REEE
FrEREXRY 7 B8R o

KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with | Not applicable'

FBR"

19 Since there are no sales of actual products in the direct business operation of the Company, the use of packaging materials
was not involved during the Reporting Period.

22 )i /NN =E 3

SRR R N E B E > RIS NI 0 R A SRR R -

RIMIRGIERERAR — S —FEHRSE |
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
—MRiEER
RREIERE (KPI)

Description
it

Relevant Section
in the Report
KRS R

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 : IRIERARAER

General Disclosure

—RRiRE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Environmental
Stewardship

BEETANRRRRAERENEAR BNHR- RIGERE
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural | Not applicable?
resources and the actions taken to manage them. AERY

HAEH S RRERRAERNEAT ERERNEEERZT BT

[BEAL © RIREE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure | Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which | Environmental

—RmE have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. Stewardship
B REHEE KA EGHETAELY ENEARBHEFASENER RIGEE

KPI A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those | Environmental

which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

Stewardship
RIGEE

BUERRIETHETAEERENEARFEREE ) KEHTH-
B. Social
BAtZEE

EEB1 : B

Aspect B1: Employment

General Disclosure
—iRikE

Information on:

(@) thepolicies;and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

B EE BERS A TR R TERE 2t RIBFEUREM

FERENN

(@) BUR; K

b) BTHETABEARXENEREIZRRANER -

Employment Policies
and Regulations

{EfRER R 2R

20 Due to the negligible impact of the Company’s direct business operation on the environment and natural resources, no
activities were taken to manage the impact.

HRAERBDEE
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General Description Relevant Section

Disclosures and it in the Report

Key Performance AR SIERAEE

Indicators (KPI)

—MRIRER

PRRERIER (KPI)

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. Social Performance
with) RS Tl KR DN ESER HEEN

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Social Performance

IR AR R B EIH NS Rk R

HEEXN

Aspect B2: Health and
[EmmB2 : RRERZ2

Safety

General Disclosure | Information on: Health and Safety
— MR E (a) the policies;and BERZE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
BRRMLZE TERERGEREEFRHETREN
(@) BUR, K&
b) BTHETABEAXENERERRRANER
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years | Employee Health and
including the reporting year. Safety
BE = OEERFDSFRIUANARRLE- EERERZZ
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Social Performance
RAIGREIERH- HEEN
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are | Employee Health and
implemented and monitored. Safety
PR X R R 21 U AR TRER % BERRRZ2

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : &R Kkl

General Disclosure | Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. | Talent Training and
— iR & Description of training activities. Development
BRARHE S 1T LIER S RO 3 R i A BV BUR o it 315 S o =
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior | Social Performance
management, middle management). HEEN
wIthRESERNMEREER PREEESIDNZIIEEA DI
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category. | Social Performance

Bt REERRE D BRES TR TR

HEEXN

RIBIRDIERARAR — S —FEHRS |
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
—MRiEER
RREIERE (KPI)

Description
it

Relevant Section
in the Report
KRS R

[E B4 : %5 T %8|

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Disclosure

—RRiRE

Information on:

(a) thepolicies;and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRARS B T asamI % T

(@ BER; R

(b) BFHETABEAXENEMERRRANER

Employment Policies
and Regulations

{E{RER R 2R

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced | Employment Policies
labour. and Regulations
iR BB E B R E T Kaaf|% T o RIEBER AR

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Employment Policies
W T ERER B NRE R RSP R &R o and Regulations

REBR K2R

Aspect B5 :Supply Chain Management

JEEBS : HtAEHEIR

General Disclosure | Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain

—MRIKE BEHRENIRE R B RRERE Management

e B8

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Social Performance
R DHEREEE - HEEN

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the | Supply Chain
practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and monitored. Management
WA REERERENES nENTEMENNMHEEYE  URBERENNRT |HEEERE
KREEZ &

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the | Supply Chain
supply chain,and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
W BMANERESERMANRE R ERENEN UREEARTRERZ |HEEEE

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promotes environmentally preferable products and | Supply Chain
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
WA REREERECSARREDRRBNEN W EMRATERER A |HEBHERE
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
—MRiEER
RREIERE (KPI)

Description
it

Relevant Section
in the Report
KRS R

JEEB6 : EmA(E

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

General Disclosure

—RRiRE

Information on:

(a) thepolicies;and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to

products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRFfRMERNRBNRREZ S -BE RERAREE UMY EN

(@ BER; R

b) BTHETAGEAXENERERRRANER

Service Quality and
Responsibility?’
BB EMEE

implemented and monitored.

HIHEEENRERARBR BRI TRER A

KPIB6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject recalls for safety and health | Not applicable?
reasons TER”
CEYEEXEMEHTRZL EREEAMARIKNE AL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt | Service Quality and
with. Responsibility
BRERREDMRENEFHBEUREHFZ- Social Performance

RBEENERE
HEEN

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property | Service Quality and
rights. Responsibility
i B A 5 R (RIS R B A AR RV IE A o RBEEMEE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. | Not applicable
B S BT B R EmEIWEF el

KPI BB.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are | Service Quality and

Responsibility
RBEEMEE

21 Since there are no sales of actual products in the direct business operation of the Company, no matters relating to product
labelling were involved during the Reporting Period.

HRAEREERE

22

MEMEZRUEHEERED AENRSHANL B RERERRENER -

recalls were involved during the Reporting Period.

HRAERBDEE

KEMEFT I ENEERES RIENREHANLES RERERERNER-

RIMIRGIERERAR — S —FEHRSE |
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General
Disclosures and
Key Performance
Indicators (KPI)
—MRiEER
RREIERE (KPI)

Description
it

Relevant Section
in the Report
KRS R

[BHEB7 . RE5

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure

—RRiRE

Information on:

(a) thepolicies;and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRALLIRR SR ML REN

(@) BUR; K

(b) BFHETABEAXENEMERRRANER

Anti-corruption
R&5

HAREERE TRHNRESE

KPI B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the | Social Performance
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. HEEN
RERAAHETASHESR LT BEENESHAZGNHE RFLER

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are | Anti-corruption
implemented and monitored. R&5
WL SR R R LU BRI T R B R A4

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-corruption

k&5
Social Performance
HEEXN

[EEB8 : HtERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Disclosure | Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities | Community

— i & where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the | Investment
communities’ interests. HERE
BREUMB2ARTREBMEMERENBREEZHIHEE BHEN @AV
Ho

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, | Community
health, culture, sport). Investment
EIERERMAE RREE S IER BE XL EE)- HERE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social Performance
AEABBMBAE RS R o HEEN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

15 37 A% YR i

TO THE MEMBERS OF GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 147
to 248, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as
at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at
31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HNRMIREIERBRABRER
(R EFREEMNIINARAE)
2R

BMEEFRMREERARAR (E25)) &
HIf B AT (s TE5EE)) 58551472248
BENREYHBRS 8  RTE-—F+_8
= +—HNGEEERER BEXALFERN
REEARm@T GoEmEPR VGERER
BR URGEMHBREWT BETEg 5K
R

BFIRD ZFREYHBRERESTEGNR
g ((EBGFHAE) BMNEBMBREEL

(BEAMBHRERER) EEMP KRR &
EEE_Z_—F+_A=1+—HNGEBEER
BRKBEZB LFENREMBERREMIREIR
TR WEBREBATRAIAIREREZS
B

ERAVER

HPEREEBEAMAGRMI(EBETE
A1) (KEBESHER)) EITES - RPIEZF
ZR T AENEEEESRRS LB ENTE R
B RRAENTEI B D PRE— DR 1R
BERGSHN ARG (FEESSHMERTR]

(PR > MBI S&EE L EBITTEH
PR EMBEBESE - FFIBE  RFIFER
MEEREETE NBEEM AR FINEFTERR
HERE -
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to notes 2(g), 3(a), 6, 30(e) and 30(f) to the consolidated
financial statements.

The investment properties are a key component of the Group’s
net assets value as at year end and financial performance for
the year. The Group recognised the fair values of the investment
properties of HK$3,282.5 million in the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2021 and the investment properties
revaluation gains of HK$97.1 million in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The investment properties of the Group comprise retail shops,
office buildings, industrial properties, and car parking spaces.
Management determined the fair values of these properties, with
reference to the valuation performed by external valuer engaged
by the Group (the “Valuer”), using the income capitalisation
approach in the valuation of investment properties. The income
capitalisation approach involved significant estimates, the key
assumptions used such as rental rates and capitalisation rates
taking into consideration of the locations, sizes, and qualities of
the properties to derive the fair values of each of the properties.

140 |

FRESSFR

HEES FEERERMANEEHE DB
G e BRANERAEENEH -%FE

IEEE’E?)%TF‘?% SPERREMBRENHARRE

TLURE BT HZEFREHERER

REMFMGE

B 2RGREMBIRRMEE2(g) 3(a)~ 6 30(e) X
30(f)

ZEREMESR BEBEREFRNEEFE
RENMBRIENEZERD KN T —F
—I— A=+—H' BRERGeEEARRT

=) ?X ¢@¥@${E3 2825B & BT MRNEE
2+ A=t+—HUIFEFEEENER
RPESRREYESEWEI7IBE BT

BEEENREVECETEE - WAKE TR
RIERGHEM -BEESE SHEEZREMINGS
fhER (MEER) ETHIEE  HEREYER
ERWEBE RN EEEZ TR A TE Wk
EREEPREAMGE GRS LR R E R
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WREE LISHEBEYERNAFE
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We focused on auditing the valuation of investment properties
because the estimation of fair values of the investment
properties was inherently subjective and subject to high degree
of estimation uncertainty due to the significant estimates
involved. Changes in these estimates could result in material
changes to the valuation of the properties and hence the results
of the Group.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

Assessed the Valuer's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

« Obtained and read the valuation reports issued by the Valuer
which covered the property valuation of all investment
properties of the Group;

« Assessed the management data and key inputs used by the
Valuer, including rental rates, capitalisation rates, occupancy
rate used in the management’s valuation process, tenancy
schedules and relevant details; and

Assessed the valuation methodologies and the key
assumptions used by the Valuer.
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Based on the above, we considered that management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the valuation of
investment properties were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 9
March 2021.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

144

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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« conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

« evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 8 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GEBEEAMRE

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
—ET—fF BT
+=A +=A
=8 =+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s BT T BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment properties KEY= 6 3,282,500 3,183,500
Investment in associates REBE R ZIRE 8 4,561,304 3,869,478
Property, plant and equipment L ERE EYS Gy 5 524,425 531,765
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 9 - 16,913
Deferred tax asset IRIETRIBE B 13 104 104
8,368,333 7,601,760
Current assets TMBEE
Amounts due from associates FEW G A B RIB 8 209 161
Amount due from an intermediate FEW P EIER AR 2 7B
holding company 10 1,300 =
Prepayments, deposits and FENER -HEREME
other receivables WRIE 12 21,753 11,439
Current tax recoverable TmEn ] W olFR1E 3,157 2,340
Accounts receivable & U zh1E 11 2,705 4,360
Restricted cash SIRHIRE 15(a) - 6,226
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTE R 26 329,571 212,637
358,695 237,063
Total assets MEE 8,727,028 7,838,823
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Loan from an intermediate KEFEERARZ
holding company B™% 14 - 3,848,434
Lease liabilities HEaR 17 - 12,994
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTISIR AR 13 13,436 6,975
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtENRIBERESTEBE 16 - 386,149
13,436 4,254,552
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GeBEEAMRE (8)

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
—B—F TZTTF
+=A +=A
=+-g =+-8
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B 5 BT T AT
Current liabilities mENaE
Loans from an intermediate REFEERAT
holding company B™® 14 4,750,091 -
Amount due to an intermediate holding  FE{ A RIIZEARA B RRIE
company 190
Bank borrowing RITIEE 15 - 901,032
Lease liabilities HESE 17 1,820 4,958
Current tax liabilities BIEAfRIEEE 101 540
Other payables and accrued liabilities HENRIBERESTEBE 16 560,499 37,047
5,312,701 943,577
Total liabilities FEy=F= 5,326,137 5,198,129
EQUITY 7fém
Capital and reserves BEAR K EE
Share capital B 18 156,775 156,775
Reserves G2 19 3,244,116 2,483,919
Total equity ‘ERE T 3,400,891 2,640,694
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 8,727,028 7,838,823
The notes on pages 153 to 248 are an integral part of these S153BZE 2B ZELR AR

consolidated financial statements. Z—EZB5 o
Mr. Wang Hai Mr. Xu Yongle

R =t RS Y
Chairman Director

FE S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GAarmlER
Year ended 31 December
BHE+-BA=1+—HLEE
2021 2020
—ET—F “BEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
bz BT BT
Revenue Iz 4 120,448 130,239
Other income and gains or losses H A A LR W 7 5 E5 18 781 109
Rental and utilities sk a4 (14,280) (13,318)
Depreciation e 5,9 (10,039) (12,524)
Impairment of property, plant and D~ 12 el LU 2 AR
equipment and right-of-use assets HEERE 59 (4,070) (92,884)
Other operating expenses Hh &= 21 (48,939) (49,455)
Fair value gain/(loss) on BEMEANTEWE,
investment properties (B518) 6 97,074 (170,576)
Operating profit/(loss) RERN (BR) 140,975 (208,409)
Net finance cost BSR4 R ER 22 (146,382) (160,929)
Share of profits of associates FE(LEE N BB 8 773,512 57,578
Profit/(loss) before income tax PREFISMAIRA, (B518) 768,105 (311,760)
Income tax expense TSR 23 (8,427) (7,820)
Profit/(loss) for the year 2ERF, (BB 759,678 (319,580)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Garmlak (8)

Year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
“E—F 2T
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
BIEE AT T BT
Other comprehensive income HZ2mEmUA
ltem that may be/has been reclassified ~ H#%&n] / BEHDLEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzIEE -
Currency translation difference GRERERELZ
on consolidation PERE%E 519 1,102
519 1102
Other comprehensive income 2FEHMEEBA (RRE)
for the year, net of tax 519 1,102
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2E2EBA 7 (E518) 4858
for the year 760,197 (318,478)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEMLRF) (B518) -
Equity holders of the Company KAEIETIFBA 759,678 (319,580)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EEEZEIA (B518)
attributable to: “EER .
Equity holders of the Company RAEIERTFBA 760,197 (318,478)
Earnings/(loss) per share SRE (58 25
Basic %N HK48.46cents71ll (HK20.38 cents7L)
Diluted e HK48.46cents7Efll (HK20.38 centsiEL)
The notes on pages 153 to 248 are an integral part of these SB153EEH248H 2 M RILFLRESRMFREKR L
consolidated financial statements. —&B7e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GalRERE

Year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z_—F+_A=+—HLtEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AREEGRE AEL
Reserves
1k
Share Share Contributed Merger Other Retained Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserves profits equity
A REE  HARE AHEE HEMEE  RIRA mies
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT A¥Tr BBTx  B¥Tx BT BT BETx
Balance at 1 January 2021 A —F—-F—H&H 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 334,703 1,797,004 2,640,694
Comprehensive income 2EKA
Profit for the year 2ERF - - - - - 759,678 759,678
Other comprehensive income Hit2EBA - - - - 519 - 519
Total comprehensive income 2HERALLE - - - - 519 759,678 760,197
Balance at 31 December2021 R -ZE-—%&
+ZA=+—R%&&k 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 335222 2,556,682 3,400,891
Balance at 1January 2020 RIZEZZE—F—HEH 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,601 2,116,584 2,959,172
Comprehensive (loss)/income 27 (§518) /A
Loss for the year 2FER - - - - - (319,580)  (319,580)
Other comprehensive income Hth2EBA - - - - 1102 - 1102
Total comprehensive income 2EWALE - - - - 1102 (319580)  (318,478)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-Z_BF
+ZA=+—RB%&Ek 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 334703 1797004 2,640,694
The notes on pages 153 to 248 are an integral part of these $B153EEH248H Z MG AL FLREMFRERZ
consolidated financial statements. —HZp e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GollenEx

Year ended 31 December

HE+-B=+—RALLEE

2021 2020
BT —fF TEIRE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5F BT T BT
Cash flows from operating activities KRETETHZHERE
Cash generated from operations REES IR 26(a) 54,491 68,475
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEBHNER (3,223) (9,061)
Net cash generated from operating RETFELEZFRE
activities 51,268 59,414
Cash flows from investing activities REZFZRERE
Purchase of property, plant and BAMZE BB RFE
equipment 5 (134) (293)
Addition of investment properties REREYE 6 (1,926) (2,876)
Interest received BUF S 22 42 296
Disposal of financial asset at HERATEFT AE=N
fair value through profit or loss TREE - 1,270
Dividend income from an associate RE—KBE AT
% B U A 8 67,095 -
Repayment of loan from an associate KE—KBE AT
EmER 8 14,591 -
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 6,226 4,000
Net cash generated from investing KRETHELEZFRE
activities 85,894 2,397
Cash flows from financing activities METBZRERE
Advances from an intermediate RREERA B BR
holding company 190 =
Proceeds from loan from an REFEERABIZER
intermediate holding company FRiSFIE 901,657 -
Repayment of bank borrowing BERIETTEE (901,657) -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERE 17 (5,496) (5,416)
Interest paid [SENEAES (14,974) (26,046)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFTE RS (20,280) (31,462)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& RIS EE 2 7FEM 116,882 30,349
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate FBEXREH) ~ 222 152 (67)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—HA—BZIRE&X&
REEE 212,537 182,255
Cash and cash equivalents at R+ZB=+—HZREX
31 December HEEE 26(b) 329,571 212,537

The notes on pages 153 to 248 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G5B BB R I A

(a)

Corporate information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability. Its principal place of business
in Hong Kong is 21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12
Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are (a)
property investment and (b) financial services.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”). They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties, as further explained
below.

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting year
commencing 1 January 2021:

« Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 -
amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

- COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 — amendments to HKFRS 16

1. AEER

ARB /RN BREAMMIIZEREA
RETAT -ARBENEBZ T EZEFMES
AEBRIRE BB 258 EBIRITH 02118

RAEE  FABKRENB AT (Wi 45
H)) 2 FEEHEEQYERE RO)ERR
o

. EEGSECRIEE

RISV B IRARPIER . T 2G5 BIRY
HU T -BRBAVIRIN LEEFEREE
BEERRFIAEREE-

A B

IHFEREMBREDIRBPIA BRSBTS
WEER (BBMBREER) RRILF
MBRERIVIRBELRAER ERE > WAL
BEREYMFEES] FEHIN T

() ZEERAAZ AT RANEE TR

FERR T —F—H-HEERHEF
EHREFEFRAUTERET

« FRBEENE-F_EER-BFBYHR
HERFE BB ERIEIR B
BUBREERE7S EBMHREE
ISR R BB BREERIE 1658 (B
5]) e

. B —F#RA=tHBZHUSERE
FHBAHEESER - B BMBREELE
1688 (1B5])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGEBCRIBE (B
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) RHEE (@)

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (i) ZEEFIRZ F5T RANEE TR (B
(Continued)
The Group has not early applied any new or amended prREAMBIREERF 165 (BF]) Z 5 °—
HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current accounting FRA=THEBEZHEERFESEEREEE
period except for the amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Roh > REBTRIZRIEA RS sHHAR E R
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021. AR ERF] RSB TES BT FIREE

Ao

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the i TEE R E RS SRR R T R
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to 2 At AT EHER R RIPBEREK
significantly affect the current or future periods. T

(ii) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (if) KL e KRR Z Fr 5 TRl R 2 FE
by the Group

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have ET st R REEEEMELIFN ZE
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December T+ A=+—HREHERFERE
2021 reporting periods and have not been early adopted FEREBIRAIN - ZEEAN BRI R
by the Group. These standards are not expected to have IR HAR R I TR R 3R 2 32 5 M A FE ER
a material impact on the entity in the current or future SHERENEATE-

reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

- Reference to the Conceptual Framework — amendments - TRBLSIEZR - BB IR EERIFH3R
to HKFRS 3 (G

«  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and . REEFRHBEATNGErECHE
its Associate or Joint Venture — amendments to HKFRS EHEYTE -FEBHBIRKAEDFE10
10 and HKAS 28 3 SRR E Bt ER)E 285K (1B5]) 2

« Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments — o RESHRAERETT -EBMBRmERE
HKFRS 17 2 BI551 7552

« Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — . BEPEARIIIERE -EA DA
amendments to HKAS 1 24 BIZE 15 (IBE]) 24

- Disclosure of Accounting Policies — amendments to . SEBERINEBE-SAGHERFINKK
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 2 EBVBRESERNBEHREH 2N (B

502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGEBCRIBE (B
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) () FHEE B

(i) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (i) ZZE[F KRN 2 75 T2E R R 22 FE (4B)
by the Group (Continued)

Definition of Accounting Estimates — amendments to
HKAS 82

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction — amendments to HKAS 12 2

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before
Intended Use — amendments to HKAS 16

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract -
Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020 -
amendments to HKFRSs !

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

GEAF Z ER - BB G ER|FEBH
CEIE

HE-XZETNEEKRBEERNE
SERIE— BB ST ERIE125% (BF]) ?

W) 2~ 2SR ar f — IR E AR RTBVFR 1S
MIE-BAESHERIE 165 (BF])

EEAN- BT EHNRA - BB
SERIA79E (EET)
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B RN BB A
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HAR £
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HARI AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 B ok Ak

2.

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation

(i)

156

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December 2021.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Except for acquisitions under common control, the Group
uses the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 B ok Ak

2.

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)

158

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Interests in subsidiaries in the Company’s balance sheet are
accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Business combinations — common control
combinations

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the combining entities in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining entities first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling parties’
perspective. No amount is recognised in consideration
for goodwill or excess of acquirers’ interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common
control combination, to the extent of the continuation of the
controlling party’s interests.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income
includes the results of each of the combining entities from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities first came under the common control,
where there is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the
common control combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

0]

160

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Business combinations — common control
combinations (Continued)

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities had been
combined at the previous year end date or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by those
entities. All intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between combining entities
are eliminated on consolidation.

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration
fees, costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs
or losses incurred in combining operations of the previously
separate businesses, etc., incurred in relation to the common
control combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting is recognised as an expense in the period
in which itis incurred.

I  GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021

EEEFBRBE (&

mEEE @

() HIBLE] (&)

EBESH-—REAEN G0 (&

mEMBRRANZIERERZ2YABNZE
BePS A A SRR S B R AR R (U EE
HAR ) Bfife

S BRI — PR IR o & R
FIEEEAERS BB RREZANRE
UG S 84

REMA BREEXER EME - mRRRE
HEMNER BRI ABIUEBSHME
LA BREFTRRAGHIHEARRR
HEEZERIGHARBBRZ BB EEHH
Yz H o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGEBCRIBE (B

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(ii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and post-acquisition movements in reserves of associates
is included in the Group’s profit or loss and consolidated
reserves respectively. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profits of
associates’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

()

(d)
(i)

(i)

162

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the Group’s Chief Executive Officer.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the profit or loss, except when deferred in
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on investments in equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income are
included in other comprehensive income.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGHEBCREE @
(Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (d) SMNEEIRE (4B)

(ii) Transactions and balances (Continued) (i) X5 K45 (B)
Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost BB AEE AR ER ER TR R
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying 55 MEREE 2 Eth& SR i h sl o

amount are recognised in equity.

(iii) Group companies (iii) EE 5]

On consolidation, the balance sheet of subsidiaries and ELB AR B AR KRS AT AIME
associates denominated in foreign currencies are translated SrMEZEEABR HUAEH ZEXR
at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date B maElERIIZTEHEXRITE AL
whilst the statement of comprehensive income is translated MEFZEGEEINAERHEN BHE
at an average rate. The resulting translation differences ERIZEW B AT HBE AT STAlRiZ
are included in the translation reserve. When any of these B AR RS AR 2 A ERERE
subsidiaries or associates is sold, any translation differences HEMD BRI

previously recognised in respect of such subsidiary or
associate are reclassified to the profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the R BB EEMEEZHERAFER
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and BoOERZBINEECBEEKRBREERE
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing MR R ERITE o FREE M ER ZZEIN
rate. Currency translation differences arising are recognised H 2 U ARED

in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 B ok Ak

2.

(e)

164

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and
is after deduction of any trade discounts. A performance
obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

« provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

« creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs;or

« does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
goods or service. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R R R &

2.

(e)

(f)

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Asset management and investment advisory related
services, corporate investment advisory related services and
consultancy service fee are recognised over time during the
service period.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than assets in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Cost may also include transfers
from hedging reserve of any gains/losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant
and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

(f)

166

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:

- leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease

term of 2 to 50 years or

useful life
- buildings 100 years
- computer equipment 3to 4 years

3to 10 years
3to 10 years
3to 10 years

- office equipment
- office furniture
- vehicle

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

(f)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2.

(f)

(g

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment
properties are measured initially at costs, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are carried at fair values, with changes in fair
values recognised in the profit or loss. The methods used to
determine the fair values of the investment properties are set
out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

2.

EREFBREE (8

() = R RKRE (@

RIBIRDIERARAR — S —FEHRS |

EREEMYEEAEED (BEEE LM
RIEF D) 1FR AT RE > 2E8AEBZRI0E

SRR AT ELLAIDECEEE Lt fiE
FRD 28 e (WAERE MR 0B FHE
BmliEaMSinRP 2575 EARE
B ERAFEREDET ARIFRE
MEERIN  ENBEATAMEE LAY
FEERTFHD RARDE D BRI DA

REME

REYEIERFRIESNEREEN —F
FEZYZE - REVEN T ENE (BEAR
RS WA stE RIS MHERE  REWETS
BATHESER MATFEZEFANED
FESE - AUEERBYEATEZ AN
Y FFRARIFES

167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

()]

168

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Subsequent expenditure on an investment property is
included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair
value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
accounting purposes.

If an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference
resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value
of this property at the date of transfer is recognised as a
movement in the asset revaluation reserve. Such movement
will not be subsequently recycled to profit or loss. However, if
a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain
is recognised in the profit or loss.

2.

EEEFBRBE (&

@ KREME®

I  GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021

—BREVMECREXHETHEBRAERZ
REEBEHN BRI S RE LR > B
B ASER RMET B ZIBR T HEETA
BEZREE -FIEEMEERFREERY
RiEEEERmRPIIFRs -

H—IBREYE A BRYE  RIREND
BaME - HEkRE ERENOEEH

Z A HERIER AR
H—IEERYERNERRMASKREY

FoZEMEZRAEEENBEERZ AT
BZEMERERSAEEEGLREZEE-
EREZHERI BB ARm -2 HA
FHEW @ PI R B R E RS 1R > B R D
PR R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2.

(h)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

(h)

170

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at
amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial
direct costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or
dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the
net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on
the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease
are counted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts
for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, recognising the
remaining lease payments as income on a either a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the remaining
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R R R &

2.

(h)

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

« fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 B ok Ak

2.

(h)

172

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

« amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

« the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

« payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs; and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

(h)

(i)
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174

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarters and office equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets
is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the carrying amount of the assets to
their recoverable amount.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2.

)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable arising
from contracts with customers which are initial measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) ()]

(i) Financial assets 0]

176

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

« thefinancial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

« thecontractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as
measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2. EESHBERBEE @)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

() ERIA®

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

() THEE (B

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including accounts receivable,
deposits and other receivables, cash and bank balances,
restricted cash, amounts due from associates and an
intermediate holding company). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

)
0]

178

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experiences, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

FEBERBEE @)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. B
(Continued)

() ERIA®

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

() THEE (B

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B
- Significant increase in credit risk - (EERRREEE
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased REMEEERE BB RELERED

significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default

BE IR0 - K%@tb?‘fﬂlﬁﬁ“%&
S B REARER BRI
HALIRIZAIRI R o (R ST RS - ZIK%I

occurring on the financial instrument at the date of ZRAERFEENEEREMER
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group BEBTRREREBTEE TV ENAS
considers both quantitative and qualitative information BRI PESAIRTREE Bk o

that is reasonable and supportable, including historical

experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

LHERZ L EERR BB LIR
ERCREENFEEE B TER

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

TR TEINR NA) RS ET
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« an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market - GEERBHINHIZIERESER
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in B FAIMNEEEEXNBHEANEE
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for BAs B AIEIEN ;
the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M B HRERME ()

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGHEBCREE @
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) () ERITHE @

(i) Financial assets (Continued) () Z=HEE #B)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B
- Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) - EERBREEEM (@

« existing or forecast adverse changes in business, .
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in the .
operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change .
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, Nom s 4E R e AEBERER
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased BHNNFEIRBE0RFR  EERMRE
significantly since initial recognition when contractual VAR LR ERBE LN FRIEAEER
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the BEEAEMAERNBERERAMER
Group has reasonable and supportable information that BYEREm

demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEEHERBEE @
(Continued)
() Financial instruments (Continued) () EMTH®B
(i) Financial assets (Continued) () Z=HEE #B)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B
- Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) - EERBREEEM (@
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the BEBELARE &N RESHAEMT
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased BB EREAREEERR  BIRE
significantly since initial recognition if the debt BEREEH LANEEARB R
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the DR AG AR BEZEIE N o i H IR T 71BN
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have AEFTAGHIEAEAREEER
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the % (VEEABRELSRRE ;i) B2 A
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual TR AR RN EHNIRERETEE
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse 115 Reliii) RIEBEM S AE RZEFARRAIAR
changes in economic and business conditions in the FMEF BRI EERNERREERAEIT
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the SNREREFNEN - BE—EEHBL
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow BAYRNEBSINERE BT Ak 2 IKEBARY
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to EERF AEERAHEAFTRE
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external EERkE-

credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 B ok Ak

(%)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

182

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGHEBCREE @
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) () sMITAE®B

(i) Financial assets (Continued) () Z=HEE #B)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE ()

- Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) -

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

)

BB R AR (81)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

184

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2. EEGHEBCREE @
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued) () ERITHE @

() ZHEZE (@)
=M EERE (&

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss or reversal
of impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amounts,
with the exception of accounts receivable where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

186

Classifications as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

2.

0
()

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(j) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

2. EEEFERIEE (8

() ERIA®
(i) ZTHEERKETA (&

(Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including other payables, bank
borrowings, loans from an intermediate holding company
and amount due to an intermediate holding company)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(k) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The par value of the
shares issued and fully paid is recognised in the share capital
account. Any excess of proceeds from a new issue of shares
(net of any incremental costs directly attributable to the new
issue) over the par value of the shares issued is recognised in
the share premium account.

K

AT B ZMEE

TR SR (BEEMEARUAIRITER 2R
BHEERAB Z EM R EM REIERAE
IR HE BRI AIZ BN AFT8 -

IR MR

EHEEREENSEERENS  BUHIEIH
By AEE S GRIEERSREE & 1L
BB EREEEEVREMAEZE
BYEERT P IBm s o

ez

EERFEAED BRI RBERRZR
Pz EERRERPES  EITHRMPIE
IE (DFRETTIR (D EREG ZEAEESN
AR BE & TRMEEZ TR KRG
BRI

RUIRGIERABRAR —_ T —FE®%KE | 187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

v

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Other payables

Other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired from suppliers. Other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

188

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it
will then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(n) Current and deferred income tax

Income tax expense is the aggregate amount included in
the determination of profit or loss for the year in respect of
current tax and deferred tax.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

190

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities for such investment properties are
measured in accordance with the above general principles
set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered).

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
thereis a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R R R &

2.

(o)

(p)

(%)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Shareholders, or directors, where appropriate.

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
Scheme for all qualifying employees employed in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes the lower of HK$1,500 per month as a mandatory
contribution or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiary are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no forfeited
contribution under the Defined Contribution Schemes
available which may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions, nor any contribution under the
Defined Contribution Schemes was forfeited by the Group
during the two years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

3.

(a)

192

Critical accounting estimates and judgement

Management are required to exercise significant estimates
and judgments, which are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, in the selection and
application of accounting principles.

Fair value of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties is performed in
accordance with the “Valuation Standards on Valuation
of Properties” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation is reviewed semi-annually by
qualified valuers by considering the information from a
variety of sources including but not limited to:

() comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market; and

(i) rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for any reversionary income potential.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

3.

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Fair value of investment properties (Continued)

The fair value of investment properties is determined by
using valuation technique. Details of the judgement and
assumptions have been disclosed in Note 6.

Changes to the assumptions used in deriving the valuation
including the impacts of COVID-19 could have a significant
risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts
in the balance sheet. Please refer to Note 30(e) for details.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
depreciation for future periods are adjusted if there are
material changes from previous estimates.

3. FAREsHhstRFIER (8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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3.

()
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(%)

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Lease term and discount rate determination

In determining the lease term, the Group’s management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive and concluded not to exercise a
termination option. Periods after the expiration of the
termination options are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain not terminated. The assessment
is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment
and that is within the control of the lessee. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the management performed
reassessment on the lease term. Details are set out in note 9.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to
exercise considerable judgement in relation to determining
the discount rate taking into account the nature of the
underlying assets and the terms and conditions of the leases,
at both the commencement date and the effective date of the
modification.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

4. WK ERE R

4. Revenue and segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the Group, who reviews
the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. The Company’s management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group has two reportable segments, namely property
investment and financial services segments, for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Property investment segment holds various retail,
commercial and industrial properties and car parking spaces
in Hong Kong. It derives revenue through leasing out its
properties.

Financial services segment mainly holds licences to carry
out Type 1 (dealing in securities) (restricted by certain
conditions), Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the SFO. It also derived interest revenue from
loan investment.

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on profit or
loss after tax. The Group considers that the measurement
principles for profit or loss after tax are consistent with those
used in measuring the corresponding amounts in the Group’s
financial statements. Hence, profit or loss after tax is used
for reporting segment profit or loss. Although no segment
assets or liabilities is regularly provided to or reviewed by the
chief operating decision-maker, monthly updates presenting
the Group’s consolidated balance sheet by subsidiaries are
provided for the purpose of assessment.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies except that interest in the profit or loss of
associates is accounted for on the basis of dividend received
or receivable in segment profit or loss while such interest
is accounted for under the equity method in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M B HRERME ()

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different marketing strategies. Transactions (if any) between
reportable segments are accounted for on arm’s length basis.

Revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 consists of revenue from property investment and
financial services segments. The revenue for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 were HK$120,448,000 and
HK$130,239,000 respectively.

Substantially all the activities of the Group are based in
Hong Kong and below is segment information by reportable

segments:

(a) Reportable segment profit or loss

4. Wi R D ERE R} (&

AEBZ BRI EBRHRHBTEERK
ARFS 2 SRESIEEFF AL - AN R EFERT
Bz G E R B RIS DB ERE
B RARENBZENR S (NA) BATER
AIEEEDIER -

rEEBE_ T —FK_ZEEF+A
—t+—HEFENKmBREMERERS
BRBE DBz WH - BE_E_—FR_FT

TEEt A=t —HIEFEZ WS
120,448,000787T2130,239,00078 7T °

panllrs

AEBAE LPAAEEBHIUETEREM M
RIEPIRE D BB D Z DERERHD T -

(@) FI¥RE D EPEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_Z”_—S+"_A=1+—HLEE
Property Financial
investment services Total
MELE ERLARTS Hast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T AT T BT T
Revenue from external customers SNRE R Z W e 119,148 1,300 120,448
Profit/(loss) for reportable segments 3RS EEA],
(B518) 131,205 (5,167) 126,038
Net finance cost B AS R R (15,124) (2) (15,126)
Depreciation e (9,286) (48) (9,334)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #2£ ~ 1428 K 58 & L
and right-of-use assets KRB ERE (4,070) - (4,070)
Income tax expense TSR (8,427) - (8,427)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)
(a) Reportable segment profit or loss (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

4, WK DEPER (@)
(a) mIEREDEPIEE (@)

BEEEF+_A=+—HLFE

Property Financial
investment services Total
MERE T REARTS wast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BIEF T BT IT AT TT
Revenue from external customers SRER 2N 104,102 26,137 130,239
(Loss)/profit for reportable segments AR S Es (B518)
B (237,832) 1,239 (236,593)
Net finance (cost)/income B () A
SREE (29,504) 97 (29,407)
Depreciation e (11,485) (322) (11,807)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #J3 ~ BiE K& 58 & U
and right-of-use assets RiEAEEERE (92,821) - (92,821)
Income tax expense FriSinF (6,573) (1,247) (7,820)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss to

profit/(loss) for the year

iRER

(b) FIERENEEEERFRT (BB H

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-_A=+—AILEE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT T BT
Profit/(loss) for reportable segments AIEREDIEF] S (BB 126,038 (236,593)
Reconciling items: HIRER :
Share of profits of associates under equity RIEREDGHAELEE AR
method of accounting el 773,512 57,578
Finance cost for financing the Group’s MAEELE—RIGE QB ET
investment in an associate (Note) B MRS R A (AL (131,240) (131,600)
Other corporate and treasury activities HM XK ERES (8,632) (8,965)
Profit/(loss) for the year e el et ) 759,678 (319,580)
Note: The finance cost of HK$131,240,000 (2020: MIzE: 131,240,000 (ZEZF4F .

HK$131,600,000) is not allocated to the above
reportable segments as this finance cost was incurred
for financing the Group’s investment in an associate.
Please refer to Notes 8 and 14 for details.

131,600,0007870) Z M FE AR D
BEEUEAHREDETHRZY
BRAABRAERRE —KIGE
NEETHEMEL FHIBE2H
MizE8 R 140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4,

(c)

(d)

198

(%)

Revenue and segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The PRC excludes Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC.

The revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020 are all derived from Hong Kong, amounted to
HK$120,448,000 and HK$130,239,000 respectively. As
at 31 December 2021, the total non-current assets other
than deferred tax asset located in Hong Kong and the
PRC amounted to HK$8,368,218,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$7,601,638,000) and HK$11,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$18,000), respectively.

Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 December 2021, there is one customer

contributed more than 10% of the Group’s revenue (for the
year ended 31 December 2020: one).

4.

()

(@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

5. Property, plant and equipment

5. )% e Rt

Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment  equipment furniture improvement Buildings Vehicle Total
HEME
BiEEE BRERHE  WAEEHE HETHE 18F BE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT AT AT
Net book value at RZEZ—%—F—H
1 January 2021 ZIRESE 2 825 548 3,562 526,433 395 531,765
Additions HE - 75 3 56 - - 134
Written-off b6} - (208) (154) (33) - - (395)
Depreciation nE (1) (148) (82) (408) (6,297) (143) (7,079)
Net book value at RIEZ—4F
31 December 2021 +ZB=+—-Hz
IREFE 1 544 315 3177 520,136 252 524,425
At 31 December 2021 S
+ZR=+-H
Cost A 18 1,330 637 5,303 629,750 717 637,755
Accumulated depreciation REMERAEESE
and impairment losses (17) (786) (322) (2,126) (109,614) (465) (113,330)
Net book value at RIZZ-%
31 December 2021 +ZA=+—-A2
REEE 1 544 315 3,177 520,136 252 524,425
Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment equipment furniture  improvement Buildings Vehicle Total
HEME
Bl WRER WAERE wEIR 1BF B W5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Net book value at RZIZ2ZZF—-F—H
1 January 2020 ZIREZE 8 1132 659 3918 625,552 538 631,807
Additions hE = = = 293 - - 293
Impairment (Note) RE (W15 = (63) - - (92,821) - (92,884)
Depreciation E (6) (244) 11 (649) (6,298) (143) (7.451)
Net book value at RIE-%E
31 December 2020 +-B=+-Hz
REFE 2 825 548 3,562 526,433 395 531765
At 31 December 2020 R-E-ZE
+-BA=+-H
Cost A 239 2,402 1,105 5,327 629,750 717 641,440
Accumulated depreciation REHTERAEESE
and impairment losses (2137) (1,577) (657) (1,765) (103,317) (322) (109,675)
Net book value at RIZE-ZE
31 December 2020 +ZB=+-Bz
REFE 2 825 548 3,562 526,433 395 531,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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5. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

5. ¥ tRIR Rkt (&

Note: The impairment loss for the year ended 31 December Mizt: HE_Z-_ZHE+_A=+—RHILEEEZ
2020 was related to the portions of 20th Floor and ﬂa@@ﬂaEﬂ%lfﬁ?ﬁ$/&\20$§&21%%Z%E
21st Floor of Bank of America Tower together with a DER—EFESBEUNR S _EF+Z
car parking space of which the fair value being less E:-i——EIZQ}i{Ei\ﬁ’:‘EEE@?FE%EJ £/
than the carrying value as at 31 December 2020. The % A T P 2= H r] UK [BI R IE537,750,00078 7T »
cost of the premise was written down to its recoverable DE2ERPENFERAEERLET (ZEE
amount of HK$537,750,000, which was determined MAERRENTE) - RAZETEGHEH
by referencing to the premise’s fair value less costs BABTHRI7ETEISETLHNMIBEE
of disposal (taking into consideration the impact of K275% 2 BARICLEE > ThEIEEMEE
COVID-19). The main valuation inputs used were a market BIEEE o B BEMEMRBBRAERES
value of HK$97 — HK$98 psf and capitalisation rate of RAMER_TITEFA=+—HY
2.75% as determined by an independent professional BEETHE - 2TEHERBE_S-Z
valuer. Income capitalisation approach was adopted F+ZA=Z+—HIEFEZHREZEKWER
by the independent professional valuer for valuing the RARESD -
premise as at 31 December 2020. The whole amount
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020.

6. Investment properties 6. KEME

2021 2020
—B—HF TZITF
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT

At 1 January T—HB—H 3,183,500 3,351,200

Fair value change: NEEEE)

- Capitalised expenses —BAbAx 1,926 2,876

~ Fair value gain/(loss) —AFEWE (B8 97,074 (170,576)

At 31 December w+—-—A=+—8 3,282,500 3,183,500

200

The Group leases out its investment properties under
operating leases. Leases typically run for an initial period of
one to eight years, with some having the option to renew, at
which time all terms are renegotiated.

AEBLUSEHREHEEREYE  HEY)
SHR—RA—ZENE HRHEHHEHERS

EEEER EREMT AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

6. Investment properties (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties were valued by an
independent professional valuer, Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited (31 December 2020: Savills
Valuation and Professional Services Limited) to determine
their fair values as at 31 December 2021. The Group has
adopted such valuation and recognised a fair value gain
of HK$97,074,000 (31 December 2020: fair value loss of
HK$170,576,000) accordingly. The principal assumptions
underlying management’s estimation of fair values of
the investment properties and the basis of valuation are
consistent with those applied in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, except
for the rental rates and capitalisation rates. Rental rates
are estimated based on recent lettings of HK$50.0 psf* to
58.0 psf for retail shops (31 December 2020: HK$32.2 psf*
to HK$55.0 psf), HK$50.0 psf* to HK$96.0 psf for office
buildings (31 December 2020: HK$32.2 psf* to HK$98.0
psf), HK$10.0 psf to HK$29.7 psf for industrial properties
(81 December 2020: HK$10.0 psf to HK$29.7 psf) and
HK$3,379.0 per car parking space (31 December 2020:
HK$3,326.0 per car parking space). With other variable(s)
held constant, the lower the rents, the lower the fair value. At
31 December 2021, capitalisation rates of 2.65% to 3.90% (at
31 December 2020: 2.75% to 3.90%) are used in the income
capitalisation approach for retail shops, office buildings,
industrial properties and car parking spaces. With other
variable(s) held constant, the higher the rates, the lower the
fair value. The investment properties have been measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2021, by the level 3 (31
December 2020: level 3) in the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value treatment is categorised. There is no transfer
between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring
the fair value of the investment properties during the year.

. REYE (B

AEBEEYECHB I EEGEMNFE K
FRAENGEREXBERBERAR (T2
THE+"A=+—H | F—KFHMEHEE
KREXBEEARAR) T UEEZEE
RNIEZ—F+ZA=F+—HZRAFE K
EEEHEMNARMGE > WA T EI
#97074,0008T (CE - EE+ "B =+—
B AY{EE518170,576,000587T)  EIEE
R REYELATFEZ T ERIKLGER
ERHEEZTTEF+/=1+—HIEFE

ZIREMERRFIERE 5 BREELE
FEARICEEE Mo %H”ftl:“@%ﬁ%)%%’%fi
FHR0.0ABTTFESF HR80ET (CTEZ
EF+ZA=1+—H . §FAHRN22ETE
¥ HRS5.0/87T) ~ A KIESTHIR50.0
BT ESF ARG T (CE_ZE+
B=+—0H : 8FHR22B*EEFHR
98.0870) ~ IESFAHRI0COBTESTEA
R29787T (CEZEFE+-"B=1+—H:
FHERI100BTESFHFR297ET) REE
{FEIZE3,379.08T (CEZEF+A
=+—H : 8EEFEERE3,326.087T) B
MRS TER - M EME B AT RE > AIfE
THE AFEREE- R 22 —F+A
=t+—H HBAWRABREHEHENSE
[E A KIE TERFEBEAERE2.65%
£390% (MZEEF+-HA=+—H:
275%ZFE3.90%) BEAR(CEEE ofﬁﬁﬂ*ﬁ*
MR BILEERRS ATFEME ZE
EMEER T —F+HA=+—H#%
NEREZ FIRATFESNE CEEE
+ZB=+—H : $34R) > MAFERIED
o FRMEEREMELTFEMANA
FEZRBND R

RMIETIZERARAS _S_—FE®RS | 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. IREWE (&
For the year ended 31 December 2021, direct operating BE_Z_—F+_A=1+—HIEFE 4
expenses of HK$24,129,000 (2020: HK$20,917,000) arising HerERaRENFEESEERAZRE
from investment properties that generated rental income Y| Bz B E R 24,129,0008 7T (=
and no direct operating expense arising from investment T T 1 20917000/87T) » RHAFELRE
properties that did not generate rental income (2020: WAZKEYERES I RERLSERS
Nil), were charged to the consolidated statement of TTEF Mo
comprehensive income.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total future minimum RIEZ—F+"H=+—H > ~E£EBRE
rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases HIGEME AR ERE 2 R R RHE
for its investment properties are as follows: M EEWGRIEAEERWT -
2021 2020
T —fF <= 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
AT BT
Not later than one year BB —F 80,879 62,487
Later than one year but not later than HBR—FERBBRE
five years 145,429 86,837
Over five years HBiahF 2,828 8,823
229,136 158,147
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. IREWE (&
Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at TR —FRIEIEF+A=+—H
31 December 2021 and 2020: FEFEFFIREYEFE -
Property Type Lease term
S $HRY FHHR

(i) 20th and 21st Floors and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 21, 22 and Offices and car parking spaces Long
23 on 4th Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road,
Central, Hong Kong

EARAPIRE BB 125 EFIRTP 020K 21MERMEZ 2122 WAEREEHIFEN £HA
T 235R (B B I5 B AU
(ii) Ground and 1st Floors, Block B, Ko Fai Industrial Building, 7 Industrial building Medium
Ko Fai Road, Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BANERESIBEESET X KEBEM N 118 I= FREHR
(i) The lobby on G/F and the front (or southern) portions of Office and retail shop Medium

the 1st, 2nd and 3rd Floors including the staircase therein

leading up to the 3rd Floor and the lift therein serving the

1st and 2nd Floors only and portion of the canopy on the 1st

Floor level, Yue King Building, 26, 26A, 27, 28, 29 & 30 Canal

Road West, 1-7 Leighton Road and 41-47 Morrison Hill Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

EREBFTREEF2626A 2728 20K%305%  BIBE1E WAERTERE R
TRREEEBNENELRRREH T RER 2R3 Z

AIER (SFEER) (BiEEMBERIE R R ERF 1 R2AB 2%

1) > U188y L3

(iv)  8th Floor of Block C, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, North Industrial building Medium
Point, Hong Kong
BHEILAEEESTER KECEESIE IE thER

(V) Kwai Fong Plaza, Kwai Fong Estate, 177 Hing Fong Road, Retail shops and car parking Medium

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong spaces
BB ALBRS 77N BEEES T RSB E FRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. IREWE (&
Investment properties comprise: KREYEBIE
2021 2020
BT TR
HK$°000 HK$ 000
AT BT
Long term leasehold (not less than 50 years)  REFFAA (RLRE+5) 532,500 532,500
Medium term leasehold (less than 50 years RERFEA (DR AE+HEERDR

but not less than 10 years) +4) 2,750,000 2,651,000
3,282,500 3,183,500

Fair value measurements using significant EREATNIHREHABEN AT ES

unobservable inputs =
Retail shops
and car
parking Office Industrial
spaces buildings properties Total
TEER
BEIBE HAKE Is wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BIETIT BIETIT BT BIETIT
At 1 January 2020 RZE-_TF—F—H 1,832,000 1,150,000 369,200 3,351,200
Fair value change: ANEEES !
- Capitalised expenses —BREHE% 2733 - 143 2,876
- Fair value gain/(loss) - unrealised —AF{ER G, (518 —KEE 5,267 (149,500) (26,343) (170,576)
At 31 December 2020 A ZEZTF+ZA=1+—H 1,840,000 1,000,500 343,000 3,183,500
At 1 January 2021 R_Z_—F—F—H 1,840,000 1,000,500 343,000 3,183,500
Fair value change: NTEES) !
- Capitalised expenses —BREHEX 1,926 - - 1,926
- Fair value gain - unrealised —AFERE-FER 90,074 7,000 - 97,074
At 31 December 2021 A BT —F+ZA=1+—H 1,932,000 1,007,500 343,000 3,282,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

6. REWE (&

6. Investment properties (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were revalued by
independent professionally qualified valuer Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited at 31 December 2021
and 2020, who hold a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued. For all
investment properties, their current valuations are based on
the highest and best use. The Group’s finance department
includes a team that review the valuations performed by the
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes. The
revaluation gains or losses are shown as “Fair value gain or
loss on investment properties” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

At each financial year end, the finance department:

- verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

- assesses property valuation movements when compared
to the prior year valuation report;

« holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Valuation techniques

Fair values of the retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces are derived using the
income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation
approach is based on the capitalisation of the net income
and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate
capitalisation rates, which are derived from actual location,
size and quality of the properties and taking into account
market data at the valuation date. The prevailing market
rents adopted in the valuation have reference to the actual
location, type and quality of the properties and supported by
the terms of any existing lease, other contracts or external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties.

FEFENGERE

FEBZREMEN T _—FKR-_Z"F
FHA=+—HHBUBRXESERMGEE
B — R FRAER S EREEBRARAT
EFADBANEREEER BERAIBY%
PR ENR B R 2 R R B SRE T (E)
BMGE - BRMEREMEZEEER
RAMRRERRIFL - AEBEBIEEPT
E—EEZERBRE I GEMRYHERS
RN EERS EEWESERNGS

E RN REYE AT ER S TER 5
fRe

REER B R > BAF5E6PT

- REEIGERSHIEIZEHNAME;

#;
- HEBUGEMESMASNRE -
HERE

TEE-WAKIE - TERFERHEUNA
TEERR@EREERS - Wk §$ﬁ£
DEPRABEERCLERBUAFER

HEERBRATUEREF L  MEA(CLER
TSIRBMENERUE REREETEE
HEHZTHEEE  FHEETRWAVIRE
THEHE2EMENERUE S KRE
8> WMERIRABAFRR  EthE493sh
RN ZEN B A HISEE 5
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Investment properties (Continued)
Valuation techniques (Continued)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during
the year.

Significant inputs used to determine fair value

Capitalisation rates are estimated by management, after
consultation with valuers based on the risk profile of the
properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower the
fair value. At 31 December 2021, capitalisation rates of 2.65%
to 3.90% (2020: 2.75% to 3.90%) are used in the income
capitalisation approach for the retail shops, office buildings,
industrial properties and car parking spaces. (2020: retail
shops, office buildings, industrial properties and car parking
spaces).

Rental rates are estimated based on recent lettings of
HK$50.0 psf* to 58.0 psf (2020: HK$32.2 psf* to HK$55.0
psf) for retail shops, HK$50.0 psf* to HK$96.0 psf (2020:
HK$32.2 psf* to HK$98.0 psf) for office buildings, HK$10.0
psf to HK$29.7 psf (2020: HK$10.0 psf to HK$29.7 psf) for
industrial properties and HK$3,379.0 per space (2020:
HK$3,326.0 per space) for car parking spaces respectively.
The lower the rents, the lower the fair value.

*  Yue King Building consists of retail shop and office buildings.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, fair valuation of the retail
shop portion and office building portion were measured under
a combined method and a single rate of HK$50.0 psf (2020:
HK$32.2 psf) was adopted (“combined method”) by Savills
Valuation and Professional Services Limited. The fair values of
Yue King Building as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2021 were HK$468 million and HK$475 million respectively.

I  GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

7. Interests in subsidiaries

7. MBATZEm

Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 31 to
the financial statements.

TEMNB R B BN B IRRWEE3 -

8. Investment in associates 8. NEFERTIZIKE
2021 2020
—E-—%F TETTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
At 1 January *—A—H 3,869,478 3,811,900
Share of profits of associates FE{LEE N B RF 773,512 57,578
Dividend from an associate FE—XRBENTHRE (67,095) -
Repayment of loan from an associate KE—XRBENTNEREE (14,591) =
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—H 4,561,304 3,869,478

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the balances included
investment in Everwell City Limited (“Everwell City”) and
Dymocks Franchise Systems (China) Limited (“Dymocks”).
Everwell City holds commercial properties and shopping
centers, plazas and carparks while Dymocks operated as a
bookshop.

Summarised financial information for the principal
associate

Set out below is the summarised financial information for
Everwell City as at 31 December 2021, which is accounted
for using the equity method. In the opinion of the Directors,
Everwell City is material to the Group.

BE_T_—FR-BEFT_HA
=—+—H SR8 FER Everwell City Limited

(TEverwell City]) BzDymocks Franchise
Systems (China) Limited (TDymocks 1) Z & o
Everwell CityF B E 2 UL BB B
B RASE S MDymocksBIIfEAE [E&TE o

FTEMERT B ENE

T #EFEverwell CityR —_E - —&+_H
=t+—HZMBEERBE  HUEREA
BR-EBERA > Everwell City i AEETM = 8
Ko
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M B HRERME ()

8. Investment in associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information for the principal
associate (Continued)

8. REHERTIZIRE (@)

TEMERTZHMHERNRE (8

Summarised balance sheet BEEEXHE
2021 2020
—E-—%F “ETEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current assets FERBEE 28,674,141 26,401,304
Current assets REEE 545,844 363,290
Non-current liabilities ERENEE (24,016,281) (23,872,628)
Current liabilities mEAaE (315,703) (370,431)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income FE a7 BE
2021 2020
—E-—% “EBTEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue W= 1,075,258 912,329
Profit and total comprehensive income for 2ERANLEEWALRLE
the year 1,977,653 158,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

8. Investment in associates (Continued) 8. ME=ZE AT ZIRE @&
Summarised financial information for the principal FEME AT ZMBEREE (@

associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information B ERIBIES R
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T AT IT
Net profit attributable to equity holders BEREREEAZRFRA 2,165,186 158,656
Group’s shareholdings REEZ RE 35.78% 35.78%
Group’s share of net profit attributable to AEERLEBRESRFBEAZ
equity holders (Note (i) BB W) 774,704 56,767
2021 2020
—ET—fF T_BE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Net assets attributable to equity holders FBERBEABERREAZ
of the associate BEFE 4,084,880 2,107,227
Group’s shareholdings RER R 35.78% 35.78%
Group’s share of net assets attributable to rEBRGERBEN#ER
equity holders (Note (i) FEAZEEZFE W) 1,461,570 753,966
Shareholders loan RERER 3,095,063 3,109,654
Carrying amount FREE 4,556,633 3,863,620
2021 2020
—EZ—fF -
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Amounts due from associates FEUL B = A B RIE 209 161

The balances represent the amounts due from Dymocks and
its immediate holding company. They are unsecured, interest-

R AU Dymocks R HEZIER AT
Ho-HARIER - RE - REREEREZE

free, repayable on demand and trading in nature. Ho
Note: M5t
(i) The effective share of profits of the Group from each underlying () ZEEEKBEEverwell CityWIZBRAEBHE

Hong Kong subsidiary of Everwell City remains at approximately

29.9%.

AB) 2 BRBILEFERR

#929.9% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

9. Right-of-use assets

The following represents the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movement during the year.

9. FAMEE

UTRERKEREREEENEE -

2021 2020

T T TEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT AT IT

Balance as at 1 January R—A—B4ER 16,913 21,986
Effect of lease term reassessment (Note (3)  THERREI LS E (W5t@) (9,883) =
Impairment (Note (b)) A HtaEb)) (4,070) -
Depreciation e (2,960) (5,073)
Balance as at 31 December N+Z_A=+—H#&&% - 16,913

210

The total cash outflow for leases in the year ended 31
December 2021 was HK$5,496,000 (2020: HK$5,416,000).

Notes:

(a)

(b)

On 31 July 2021, the Group signed a lease agreement to
lease one of its properties with a new lessee that was within
the control of the Group and considered it having impact on
the usage of the underlying asset having right of use under
the existing license agreement. This significant change in
circumstance has caused the management to reassess
whether it is reasonably certain not to exercise the termination
option of the existing license agreement. Based on the
reassessment date, the management decided to exercise the
termination option on the coming option date, 30 April 2022.

The impairment loss is related to the licence right of the use
of 1/F. to 3/F. of the exterior of the Yue King Building which
value in use being less than the carrying value as at 31 July
2021.The cost of the right-of-use asset was written down to its
recoverable amount of nil, which was determined by the value
in use based on profit forecast. As a result, impairment loss of
HK$4,070,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: nil).

RE&EE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE"
FRERS R 4REEA5,496,0008 T (C2
T|AF 5,416,000 7T) ©

MI5E

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

10. Amount due from an intermediate holding 10. FEUR R RIS A B 2 /38

company

As at 31 December 2021, the amount due from an N_EBE_—F+_F=+—H> BT
intermediate holding company of HK$1,300,000 represents IRAT) 2 FRIE1,300,0008 T EBAREEC
mainly the consultancy income receivable for the year ended T —F+_A=1+—HIEEERRAAT]
31 December 2021 from China Great Wall AMC (International) PREERARFERMEE ER) ERER
Holdings Company Limited (“Great Wall International”), an A (R AW A o 2R IR R
intermediate holding company of the Company. The amount B RE - REREEKREZEE - ARF
is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and trading R EEBE+ZEAAERERR

in nature. The Company will demand repayment within twelve
months from the balance sheet date.

11.Accounts receivable 1. FEURFR1E
An ageing analysis of accounts receivable as at the end of the HERESFER BUGIEZERE DTN T !

reporting year is as follows:

2021 2020
T —ETERE
Balance Percentage Balance Percentage
“EER Bt AEER Bkt
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
BT T % BT T %
Current BNHA 254 8.4 2,605 59.7
Less than 30 days #wH R =+H
past due 2,060 68.3 1,578 36.2
31 to 60 days past due BHi=+—HZE
7~ H 211 7.0 117 2.7
61 to 90 days past due BHAST—HE
h+H 4 0.2 1 0.1
Over 90 days past due BHZNA+H 486 16.1 59 1.3
3,015 100.0 4,360 100.0
Allowance for impairment 75 {8 # & (310) -
Total #ast 2,705 4,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B HRERME ()

11.Accounts receivable (Continued) 1. BYEIE (B
Below is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable that are MTFARREHPEARERHIRBAEZE
past due as at the reporting date but not impaired: WERIE 2 BRER 4T -
2021 2020
—ET—fF -
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT AT IT
Less than 30 days past due mE DR =+H 2,051 1,578
31 to 60 days past due BE=+—HZE/TH 205 117
61 to 90 days past due B +—HEATH 1 1
Over 90 days past due BHAZ AT H 194 59
Total accounts receivable past due but not BaHAE R IR E 2 BN
impaired 4R 2,451 1,755
Accounts receivable past due but not impaired represent BRI ERHIRE Y ENEIEIE A E IR
balances that the Group considered to be fully recoverable BUER R R P BB E 2 8% - BRIk
based on past experience. For the credit risk management of W (E B R G EIE A 2RMIEE30(d)
the accounts receivable, please refer to Note 30(d).
The movements in the allowance for impairment during the FRREREBZEENT
year are as follows:
2021 2020
—ET—fF .-
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T TT
At 1 January n—A—~H = =
Impairment provision made BEfEHRERE 310 41
Accounts written off as uncollectible AR miMEE AR B = (41)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 310 -
For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to ERGEERBENMBEREERR  F2RANE
Note 30(d). 30(d)°
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12.Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 12, FE{T & & & R EHMEKTIE

As at 31 December 2021, the balance represents mainly the RIEZ—F+"A=-+—H &HRIEEH
utility and management fee deposits of HK$3,669,000 (as at KEREIEEL3,669,0008T (2=
31 December 2020: HK$3,697,000) and rent-free receivables BE+_A=+—H : 3,6970005T) KEiE
of HK$15,028,000 (as at 31 December 2020: HK$5,345,000). FEWLRRIE15,028,000/8 7T (R -2 ZF+_

HA=-+—H : 534500057 °

For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to BERAGERBNMBRERER F2RWE
Note 30(d). 30(d) e

13.Deferred tax 13. 3 RIEFR IR
Deferred tax are calculated in full on temporary differences FIERIBRA B AN YR ERER MG
under the liability method. The following are the deferred B o M XHIAFE RBFFEPAMERIREL
tax assets (deferred income tax liabilities) recognised and MIBEE CREFFSHER) REEF) :

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Accelerated

tax

depreciation

NRIRIRITEE

HK$'000

A&

At 1 January 2020 RIEZZEF—H—H (3,506)
Charged to loss for the year REE BEBINR (3,365)
At 31 December 2020 R_B_EFE+_A=+—H (6,871)
Charged to profit for the year KEEBEBAIER (6,461)
At 31 December 2021 N B —F+"H=+—H (13,332)
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13.Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deterred income tax liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they
relate to the same tax authority. The following amounts,
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the
consolidated balance sheet:

3IEIEFRIA (18

TEMIBE E RIEIEFMSREBENE AN
HATHER BN IR S ER R IE S
& B[R —MF%REAERD R T LIRS o X
TEREBERHBRETE  JTRGESEE

IS(EE

2021 2020

B T T4

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT BT

Deferred tax asset IRIERIBE E 104 104
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEFRISIARE (13,436) (6,975)
(13,332) (6,871)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$32,258,000 (2020:
HK$30,497,000) to carry forward against future taxable
income and the expiry dates of these tax losses are shown as
follows:

EEREB AR BRERZRIEN =

O RE B B AR KRIEFRBFIKREIRE LL
MIBEEH WD ANEE A AEAHER
RIEFERIRUR ALY 2 R IERE A
32,258,0005 7T (Z = - 24 © 30,497,000587T)
KzERIERIE Y EmBET

2021 2020

—EB—F “EBTERF

HK$°000 HK$ 000

BT T AHEF T

After the fifth year ELF®E 32,258 30,497
32,258 30,497

214

The Group has not recognised such tax losses and deferred
tax assets of HK$5,323,000 (2020: HK$5,032,000) as the
realisation of the related tax benefit is not probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

14.Loans from an intermediate holding company

In 2017, an intermediate holding company, Great Wall
International, had agreed to provide loan facilities up to
HK$4,130,000,000 for financing the Group’s investment
in an associate, Everwell City. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group has drawn down HK$3,848,434,000 (as at 31
December 2020: HK$3,848,434,000). The loan from Great
Wall International is denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest
bearing at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.9% per
annum and is repayable by November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Great Wall
International has also agreed to provide a term loan in the
principal amount of HK$901,657,000 for repaying the Group’s
outstanding bank borrowing as described in Note 15. During
the year, the Group has used HK$901,657,000 to fully settle
the bank borrowing. The loan from Great Wall International
is denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest bearing at Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.4% per annum and is
repayable by February 2022.

The Directors of the Company consider the loans are on
normal commercial terms. The carrying values of the loans
approximate their fair values.

14. KRB PREIER AT ZEN

RIZE—t 5 PEERARRBEEER
BIR R #B154,130,000,00058 T B FRLE -
MUAREBILERE A BEverwell Cityle &
F RIE—F+ZA=+—8 Ft5£H
BE1EEN3,848,434,0008 7T (R ZE 22 F+Z
A=+—8 : 3,848,434,00057T) 2k B &I
B> B LB TTEHE  EIRE > F£HXS
BBIRITEZEREFNEM.O%  WAEAR S
—H+—HAiER.

BHE_Z_—F+-A=+—HIFE E
iﬁJZ!IEmHEH%TET/ﬁ%aEz%%w,657,000
Bz EHER MEEN 1otz &%
EERERRTEE FRNAEECEFER
901,657,000 LB BIRITEE RBE
MBI 2 BB TTEHE B FFX
AEBIRTRERENEM.4%  WEARZ
T " F_AFifEiEe

ﬁ@ﬁ%?%?\%éﬁ‘gﬁx ?ﬁ—”ﬁ%ﬂ%?ﬂ
511 - EMZ BREEEE A FEHEE
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15.Bank Borrowing

15.8R17EE

2021 2020
—EC—F —ETTHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current EU 2R
Bank loan (Note (a) IRITER Wit @) - 901,032

Notes:

(a)

The loan was denominated in HK$ and was fully repaid in
February 2021. The effective interest rate of the loan for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is 2.01% (for the year
ended 31 December 2020: 2.84%). As at 31 December 2021,
the Group has no undrawn bank facility (31 December
2020: HK$35,000,000). As at 31 December 2020, the
Group has pledged an investment property of fair value of
HK$1,840,000,000 and a restricted cash of HK$6,226,000 to the
lender, as a collateral of bank loan.

In addition to the undrawn bank facility mentioned in (a), as at
31 December 2020, the Group had an undrawn bank facility of
principal amount of HK$450,000,000. There is no undrawn bank
facilities as at 31 December 2021.

5T

(a)

EXRUEBTHETIBAR S —F"A%2
HEEBE_T-_—F+B=1+—HIt
FENERZEBFES201% HEZE
—“E+—ﬁ*+ HIEERE 1 2.84%) oK
—E+ZA=+—R > AEEWESLK
RERTTHIE W22 224+ A =+—
H :35,000,000/87T) -RZEZEF+_"H
=t+—B > AEEERERARRRATES
1,840,000,00078 7T 2 I BE¥) 2 56,226,000
Bz RERE (EARITERZER

]
an°

— =

A — a5 —

L — = —

fr(a)IBZ RIZEVIR 1T RRE S -
TE+R=1+—RH AEEALTEZER
450,000,000/ w2 RIBEURITRE - 718 =
T —E+"A=+—H FERTERE
EERITRIE -

The carrying amount of bank borrowing approximates the fair IRITIEEZREBEEERATEES LT
value, and is denominated in the following currency: FIEHEHE -
2021 2020
B =
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
HK$ BT = 901,032
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16.0ther payables and accrued liabilities 16. HftE(IIBE KR EST&IE
2021 2020
—E-—%F T4
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Interest payable ENES) 517,389 386,938
Deposits received from tenants BWHEFZE 26,554 19,042
Other payables and accrued expenses HhENRIB R EE R 9,968 12,953
Rental received in advance FEURFE & 4,884 3,106
Others HA1th 1,704 1157
560,499 423,196
Represented by: 25)%
Non-current portion JERENER — 386,149
Current portion Vi a 560,499 37,047
560,499 423,196
17. Lease liabilities 17. BB &E
The following represents the Group’s lease liabilities and the UTAFERAEERESERES-

movement during the year.

2021 2020

T —fF T TE4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Balance as at 1 January K—B—B4&&R 17,952 22,664

Interest expenses FMEXZH 375 704

Lease payment iEN=UNEN (5,496) (5,416)

Effect of lease term reassessment (Note) HERENTENEE (W) (11,011) =

Balance as at 31 December R+B=+—H#&% 1,820 17,952
Represented by: 29%

Non-current portion JERENEL - 12,994

Current portion TRENER D 1,820 4,958

1,820 17952
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e M B HRERME ()

17. Lease liabilities (Continued)
Note:
On 31 July 2021, the management decided to exercise the

termination option on the coming option date, 30 April 2022. Please
refer to Note 9(a) for further details.

17. HE&E @)
MI5E
N_E-—F+B=+—01 > BEERENREE

FRMVEERAR CE2_FHA=+H) 17
e IR - EZEHIEF 2 RMIEE9(a)

18.Share capital 18. f& 7
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
B2 —F+"H=+—H TEIEF+ZRA=+—H
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
i £%E RR# ot
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T BT I
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of SREE0I0BITZ
HK$0.10 each AN 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
Opening and AW R HAR 4 B
ending balance 1,567,745,596 156,775 1,567,745,596 156,775
19.Reserves (RE
(a) Group (a) &EH

Movements of the Group’s reserves for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 151.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess
of the nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued
in exchange during the Group reorganisation in 1990, less
dividend distributions.
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19.Reserves (Continued) 19. & (@&
(a) Group (Continued) (a) =~E£E @)
The Group’s other reserves consist of the following KEEEMEEFE B THERENS
components:
Asset
revaluation Translation
reserve reserve Total
BESHHE BE R E #act
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TT AT TT AT
Balance as at 1 January 2020 R _EF
—B—H#& 334,065 (464) 333,601
Other comprehensive income Hh2mEm®EA
Currency translation difference on FERBRELZ
consolidation PERERE - 1,102 1,102
Total comprehensive income 2EFUWALRER - 1,102 1,102
Balance as at 31 December 2020 M- _BE
+ZA=+—H
4EBR 334,065 638 334,703
Balance as at 1 January 2021 ATE—F
—B—B#%&k 334,065 638 334,703
Other comprehensive income HZ2EmBA
Currency translation difference on RERERELZ
consolidation PEERERE - 519 519
Total comprehensive income 2FIRNALELE - 519 519
RIEZ—F
+ZR=+—H
Balance as at 31 December 2021 EER 334,065 1,157 335,222
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19.Reserves (Continued) 19. 1 (&
(b) Company (b) AT
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
& An e BARER RERIE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2020 RIEZZE—F—H 50,382 588,719 (284,680) 354,421
Loss for the year 2FEIE - - (137,390) (137,390)
At 31 December 2020 AZETZF+-B=+—H 50,382 588,719 (422,070) 217,031
At 1January 2021 RZIZEZ—%—H—H 50,382 588,719 (422,070) 217,031
Loss for the year PEEFE - - (138,849) (138,849)
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ_—F+-H=+—H 50,382 588,719 (560,919) 78,182

220

Loss for the year of the Company mainly comes from finance
cost of HK$131,248,000 (2020: HK$131,710,000), legal and
professional fees of HK$6,409,000 (2020: HK$4,049,000),
rental expense of HK$339,000 (2020: HK$321,000) and staff
costs of HK$13,612,000 (2020: HK$13,317,000).

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation in 1990 and represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s
Shares so allotted and the consolidated net asset value
of the acquired subsidiaries and associate less dividends
distribution. Under Bermudan law, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders under certain circumstances.

In addition, the Company’s share premium of HK$50,382,000
(2020: HK$50,382,000) can be distributed as fully paid-
up bonus shares or applied towards eliminating the
accumulated losses of the Company.

I GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021

ERBAFNEEREITERBEMBRE

131,248,000/87T (CE_=F :

131,710,000

A7) ERKREEER6,400,0008T (CF

TTLE 1 4,049,000 7T)
BT (CEIE

13,612,000/ 70 (2 -Z 4 : 13,317,000
7T) ©
KABZEABESGIHE—QNEEREES

FHBH52339,000
£ 1 321,000/ 70) RETIRZE

MEFTES  IE R ARACEE Z IR D EERPTUR
BZWBRARAKMEATNZEHEEREZ
VKR ETR - RIBAREZE

;Eﬁéi\ /}E‘ZIZ%HQ/\_;

B A RERP]

ﬁ/\\%:Fhﬂ/E—F

/&%HX% °

IEAN - A A Bl 2 B 1715 850,382,00078 7T (Z
TR © 50,382,000 7T) AIER BN AL
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GaMBHREME (8)

20.Staff costs 20. ET R A
2021 2020
B .-
HK$'000 HK$000
BT T HEFTT

Staff costs BTRA (BIEEEME)
(including directors’ remuneration)

Wages, salaries and bonuses (note) TE e RIE4 (s 16,887 17,689
Directors’ fee ik 913 940
17,800 18,629

Note: No forfeited contributions to defined contribution retirement
plan have been applied by the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021.

(a) Five highest paid individuals

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid
individuals during the year are set out below:

M BE_E_BFER_E_—F+BA=+—
BIEEE  ~EEMESH DR IKRHFE MR
RIS BIRVHRR MR EHIRA KT -

(@) Afus=#HAL

FR> BuRSHMA T ZIEFEEHTIWN
T

2021 2020

—E-—% TETT4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R RIFIRERN m 8,233 8,620
Retirement scheme contributions RIREH R 310 317
Bonuses paid and payable B R ETTEAL 454 359
8,997 9,296

The remuneration of the five (2020: five) highest paid
individuals fell within the following bands:

B (CEZZE A1) REFHMA T 2B
ENFTHIE8E :

2021 2020
B —TZF

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% —1,500,00038 7% 2 2
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T —2,000,0005 72 1 1
HK$2,000,001 ~ HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% — 2,500,000 7% 1 1
HK$3,000,001 ~ HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T —3,500,00058 7¢ 1 1
5 5
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20.

(a)

(b)

Staff costs (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The success of the Group hinges on the performance and
commitment of our employees. As the Group continues to
grow, the Group’s compensation philosophy is designed to
provide employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,
while aligning with our business strategies and values. The
Group’s remuneration policy aims to recognise outstanding
performance, retain and attract key talents and ensure
alignment with the interests of our businesses, and thereby
enhancing shareholder value.

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is
set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2021:

20.BT A @&
(@) AABEHMAL @

AEBZRIHEE T 2 R\ KAESBHE
B AEAREEXBEBER AEBZH
MEPBIES T A EERMEEER R A E RN
W BEFIBEB RIS R EERAEE
e RERBZHMBREESEELZES
R RERRABEE NS W REAAER
EBMm—B0 MR RREE

(b) EFRITEHEEME
BEERITEARS 85N T ¢

BE_E-—F+BA=+—HILEE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
HREEE (BAAZARAENBARER) ExNARKzHE

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
Remuneration connection
paid or with the
Employer's receivable  management
Estimated contributionto  inrespectof  of the affairs
moneyvalue  aretirement accepting  of the Company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas orits subsidiary
Name # Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking Total
HEFER
FAFHE
WEARSEH
BEH GERREA  WEMES
HithigRIAY RUEN  EBERA s
[k b 9] AN HREE  HHEREE  HENER REEEE e E @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BB AT AT BB AT AT BB AT
Non-executive Directors FHTES
YuXiangging (note (j|3) KRB Wa2)3) = = = = = = = = =
LvJia note (14) B WZ04) = = = = = = = = =
Independent Non-executive BUEaiTEs
Directors
Song Ming REK - 180 - - - - - - 180
Sun Mingchun BAE - 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan 2 = 180 = = = = = = 180
Executive Directors BTES
Wang Hai (note (j1)) T8 W) - 73 - - - - - - 73
Xuongle (note (i)l2) note (i) HKESE (Wt
(i) M) - 200 - - - - - - 200
Huang Hu (note (112) BIE Wi12) - 100 - = = - - - 100
Meng Xuefeng (note (i) L8 (W) = - - - - - = - -
- 913 - - - - - - 913
Note: M5t

No director received any emolument from the Group as an inducement

to join or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office. A EBENRBEI T EABERmE-
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20.Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
(Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is
set out below: (Continued)

Note:

U]

(i)

On 20 August 2021, the following changes are effective:

m

Mr. Wang Hai was appointed as an executive Director,
the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Huang Hu resigned as an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu Xianging was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Ms. Lv Jia resigned as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

On 19 July 2021, the following changes are effective:

M

Mr. Meng Xuefeng resigned as an executive Director, a
member of Remuneration Committee, the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and Authorised Representative of the
Company.

Mr. Xu Yongle (served as an executive Director from
26 March 2021) was appointed as a member of
the Remuneration Committee and the Authorised
Representative of the Company.

(iii) On 26 March 2021, Mr. Xu Yongle was appointed as an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

20.E TR (@&

BEERITEMRSZINEEIINT : (8

P5E

0)

(i)

(iii)

RIGREEZERARQF T —FERE |

WTEER " —F/\B+HEXN:
(1) EBREESZERTRATNTES E
EEEIRERIEREEGT R

(2) BRELEREARBDNTES - EFT
FRKIEREEETIE

Q) REBLEEZTAXRATIENTE
ERBZEEGRE -

4) EEXLTRERLABFRTEFRSE
REEEME-
UTEER - —FtA+NBEN:

FTERELERBRITES  Fl

1) HEIE
ZEEME BITEREARERR

(2) HRx&ELEE B2 —F=BZ+
HEEEEHITES) EREAR A FH
MEE T E RIRERR

R_ZE_——

FEZRZ+NE HRKSLEE
EEARABDRITESR MITHAEE:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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20.Staff costs (Continued) 20.ET RS (48

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's remuneration  (b) EEKR{THEEIMNE @&
(Continued)
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is BREERATBHEH =& IMT © (@

set out below: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020: BHE_ZTEZF+_A=+—HIHFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
SERES ERATLTIERBATSE) Ex Rl e
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
Remuneration connection
paid or with the
Employer’s receivable  management
Estimated  contribution to inrespectof  oftheaffairs
money value aretirement accepting  of the Company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas ~ orits subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director undertaking Total
HEFER
FATHH
HWEARES
BRI  HEREE  NEMKRS
HfEREY  BFIGES  AESERN Esfd

Name iz e e KT HEEE  HHEEEER 3 RS el & izt
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$ 000
BETT BT BETT BETT BT BT BETT BT BETT
Non-executive Directors FHiTER
Chen Zenan (note (1)) BREE (W) = = = S S S S S =
LvJia Bf = = = = = = = = =
Independent Non-executive BukaiTEs
Directors
Song Ming R - 180 - - - - - - 180
Sun Mingchun hEE = 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan Eld - 180 - - - - - - 180
Executive Directors HTER
Huang Hu (note (i12) R W2) - 200 - - - - - = 200
Meng Xuefeng A3 S 200 = S = 10 S = 210
- 940 - - - 10 - - 950
Note: MIEE -
No director received any emolument from the Group as an inducement 1BE 4 28 AN A S B U B eI M <& VB 23 0 A SR
to join or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office. FAEENRB R EABRREE-
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20.Staff costs (Continued) 20.B TR (@&

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

(Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is
set out below: (Continued)

Note:
(i)  On 8 December 2020, the following changes are effective:

(1) Mr. Chen Zenan resigned as a non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

(2) Mr. Huang Hu (served as an executive Director of the Company
from 15 March 2019 until 8 December 2020) was appointed as
the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a Director and/or
the Chief Executive Officer waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration in respect of the year.

Directors’ fees paid or payable to independent non-
executive Directors during the year were HK$540,000 (2020:
HK$540,000). There was no Directors’ fees received or
receivable by other non-executive Directors during the year
(2020: Nil). Save from the aforesaid, there were no other
emoluments paid or payable to non-executive Directors in
2021 and 2020.

No options were granted to Directors and/or the Chief
Executive Officer to acquire Shares of the Company in 2021
and 2020.

BEERITEMRSZINEEIINT : (8

P5E
() UTEER_Z-TE+"FNBEN:

(1) FRERAERERRARFNTES EFS
IR MRRBERTIRKEREEEHE

TE+T )%)\EI?%TEZ!K Tﬁtﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%
ufiﬁﬁ NBIEFEIRAREREZEEEE
J_ko

BREERRTHRSREERNZHNE
HRAERERSNERNZINE -

FREZNHENTRUERITEEZESR
HWEA540,0008 7T (ZB -4 | 540,000
70) cFREAEMIFERITESERTEKRZ
EF0E CEIEF | o kL XmuE
R IEBEI—FRZEZEFHREENH
FEMIIERITEEMEMBNE -

PAN/NET =S _—EE)E'Z ZTTFMEET
BER/ RITBHE R TR LA A
aIpR R ©

RHIBEGIZERARAS _ S —FE®RE | 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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20.Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

(Continued)

The Director’s fee per annum of each of the independent
non-executive Directors of HK$180,000 (2020: HK$180,000)
is fixed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority
granted by the Shareholders at the Company’s annual
general meeting. Each non-executive Director, including
independent non-executive Director, serving on the Board
Committees does not receive any additional fee (2020: Nil).

The Directors’ remunerations are determined with reference
to directors’ remunerations paid by other companies in Hong

Kong.

21.0ther operating expenses

Other operating expenses represent the following;:

20. E TRz (48

(b) EFRITEHEEME (B

BEIUIERITER 2 FEEEEE180,0008
7T (CZE T4 180000870 HEESIRE
RENRAABREBERSRT 2 ESIFE
E-BHEEERETZERZEBMUIFNITE
= (BEBIUIFNTEDSR FZUWREEAEEIN
We (CEZZFE 8o

EEME2REBEM EHARMTES
P=TmEEE

21. S ERx

HAEERHImAT

2021 2020

T —fF “ETTHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Staff costs (Note 20) BT A (Bat20) 17,800 18,629
Legal and professional fee ERREXER 7,009 7,218
Agency fee AIPE 2,237 1,761
Asset management fee BEEEEE 6,174 6,174
Leasing fee HEE 965 948
Telecommunication expenses BEMAX 1,036 1743
Others HA1th 13,718 12,982
48,939 49,455
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GaMBHREME (8)

21.0ther operating expenses (Continued)

Asset management fee and leasing fee represent the fee
charged by an independent third party for managing one
of the investment properties and for entering into new and
renewed leases with tenants respectively.

The remuneration of the Directors and the chief executives is
included in the staff costs (Note 20).

Auditor’s remuneration (included in the legal and
professional fee) for the current year amounted to

HK$1,300,000 (2020: HK$1,816,000).

22.Net finance cost

21. S ER% (8

EEEEBENEEBER IS =HMEERK
PIEP—TERBEYE DU B R ET IR K
B TAHAWENAVE ] -

ERRTBHBHAFHFME AR LA (5
20) ©

NEEZEENNE GIALEREEER) A
1,300,0005870 (Z =B _Z4F © 1,816,000587T) °

22. BATE PN AP

2021 2020
—EBI—F S
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT AT
Finance cost/(income) BAFE R A, (A
— Interest expense on the loans from an —REFEERABZERZH]
intermediate holding company (Note 74) B (Wat14) 142,549 131,600
- Interest expenses on bank borrowing —IRITERMELZH Hz15)
(Note 15) 2,786 24,840
- Loan arrangement fee —BRZHER 714 4,081
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HHEaENEXH 375 704
— Interest income from bank —IRITFEUA (42) (296)
146,382 160,929
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)

BB R AR (81)

23.Income tax expense 23

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year. The PRC corporate income tax rate is 25% (2020:
25%). The subsidiaries operating in the PRC are loss making
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 and are
not subject to PRC corporate income tax.

SRS

BRI UER G ERIRBF H216.5%
(CE-ZF 1 16.5%) MEEF -HETE
FRSIIR R 525% (T B - F4E 1 25%) o jAf
REENBARNEE_ S —FEK_%
TEE+_A=+—HILEEREFE ¥
BRSPS

2021 2020
T —EIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T AT IT
Current income tax BRAERFR1SHR
- Hong Kong profits tax —&HENER 2,453 4,486
— Over provision in prior year — P FEBEEE (487) (31
Deferred income tax EIEPTISIR
— Deferred tax expense —IRIERRIERI 6,461 3,365
8,427 7,820

The taxation on the profit/(loss) before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
taxation rates applicable to the places of operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries as follows:

BRPTSIATERF], (B518) PREL 2 RTERR
ERBARERENB RS EMBERR
RABFELEZERETTRAFTAR 515
(I

2021 2020

—ET—fF -

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Profit/(loss) before income tax BREFIGIRAIRA], (B51B) 768,105 (311,760)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% BIRE165% (CE-ZHF .

(2020:16.5%) 16.5%) 5t 8 126,737 (51,440)
Income not subject to taxation BERBUA (136,836) (2,550)
Tax losses not recognised RIESRZ NIBREIE 1,067 955
Utilisation of tax losses FARIEEE 8 -
Expenses not deductible for REETELMIBINRZ B

taxation purposes 17,954 60,886
Over provision in prior year T FEBREEEE (487) (31)
Income tax expense FTigiReEs~ 8,427 7,820
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24.Dividends 24.f% 8
The Board has resolved not to declare any interim dividend EXERANEIREMAPIEERE I FREE
or to recommend any final dividend for the years ended KEHE_E_—FR_ZEZEF+R
31 December 2021 and 2020. —t+—HIEFEZEAERARE
25.Earnings/(loss) per share 25. e A, (E518)
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based SREARAM (BR) DREHEE_Z
on the profit attributable to shareholders for the year ended T+ ZA=t+—"HLEFEREKREML
31 December 2021 of HK$759,678,000 (loss attributable 2B #759,678,0008 T (BEZSZEF
to shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2020: +ZA=t+—HLEFERKREHLHZEIE
HK$319,580,000) and the weighted average of 1,567.745,596 319,580,0005877) 2 4EP91,567745,506A NI
shares in issue (2020: 1,567,745,596 shares in issue) during FHEETRG (CETEE | 1,567745,596
the year. BTG T8
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share was the same as basic BE_Z_—F+-A=+—HLFE H
earnings/(loss) per share as there were no potential dilutive R B ST BT E E S @R RIS R
ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 31 December HERT) (51 BeREART (BB
2021 (for the year ended 31 December 2020: Nil). HE BEZEEF+"A=+—HULHF
E e
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26.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 26. xR R=RMEE

Flows
(a) Reconciliation of operating profit/(loss) to cash (a) &KEBF) (518 BLKESEE 2 IREH
generated from operations: RER
2021 2020
s B TEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B BT BT T
Operating profit/(loss) KERF, (B518) 140,975 (208,409)
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment REYENTE Km)
properties 518 (97,074) 170,576
Depreciation and impairment rERRIE 5,9 14,109 105,408
Loss on write off of property, plant and WEEY) = IR R E
equipment 518 395 -
Gain on effect of lease term reassessment & EH L L 2 NG (1,128) =
Exchange loss PE 518 367 1,015
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable FEU R IE D~ (3E10) 1,655 (620)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FENER BEREMEY
deposits and other receivables I (g R (10,314) 5,409
Increase in amounts due from associates FEUREGE A B IEIE N (48) (96)
Increase in amount due from an JE AT FR S 422 B B) R IE HE T
intermediate holding company (1,300) -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HhENRIBRESAE
and accrued liabilities #mn, GRi) 16 6,854 (4,808)
Cash generated from operations KEEEZRE 54,491 68,475
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) IREKRIREEE
2021 2020
T —fF “EBTEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Cash at bank and in hand IRIT R FERE 265,990 148,963
Short-term bank deposits with original RS =E R U TR RRT
maturity of less than three months T3 63,581 63,574
329,571 212,537
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26.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 26. xR R=RMEE
Flows

(c) Net debt reconciliation (c) FEEHIE

This section sets out the movements in net debt for each of
the periods presented.

FENES B PRI FEEES -

Loansfroman  Amount due to
intermediate anintermediate  Total liabilities

Lease Bank holding holding ~ from financing
liabilities borrowing* company* company activities
REHH FEft R

ERAT FERAT MEEY

fEaf RiTfET* W& ;B BERE

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

BETT  BETR  BETR  #ETR  #ETR
Asat 1January 2020 RZ2Z%%-B—H (22,664) (898,946) (4,102,983) = (5,024,593)
Cash flow Rang 5,416 25712 - - 31,128
Other non-cash movement Hit3EREEH (704) (28,587) (131,600) - (160,891)
As at 31 December 2020 RIBZEF+ZA=1+—H (17952) (901,821) (4,234,583) - (5,154,356)
As at 1January 2021 RZE_—-F-F—-H (17,952) (901,821) (4,234,583) - (5,154,356)
Cash flow Réne 5,496 905,232 (890,348) (190) 20,190
Other non-cash movement HftERE 28 (375) (3,411) (142,549) - (146,335)
Effect of lease term reassessment HAEMMENT 2 11,011 - - - 11,011
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ-£+ZA=1+-H (1,820) - (5,267,480) (190)  (5,269,490)

* Interest payable (included in other payables and accrued * HRHIRREESFELSABEENMAALRL

liabilities) are included for the purpose of reconciliation of
liabilities from financing activities.

HRE GtARMBENRERESER)

27. Capital risk management 27. EXRREREIE

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue its businesses as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group structures its capital with due consideration to
risk. The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure
in the light of the changes in economic conditions and risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, repurchase
Shares of the Company from Shareholders, issue new Shares,
or increase or reduce borrowings.

FEBREEEAZHZARRERAERS
BENFFEEE HER M EH A5 MEES
PARER T R B3R Fe A3 HLA A m AR A A IR (R A

Z< o

m

FERKERERRRERSBERERE
B AERFFEBERRZBERIBFEE
ZRAREHEENFABREBERRE  BER
WFEBHERRE AEETHEIRNT TR
RZRETRE MRRBRIAAT RN &
TR MR DB o
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27. Capital risk management (Continued)

For the purpose of calculating the net debt-to-capital ratio,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes the
loans from an intermediate holding company and amount
due to an intermediate holding company) (2020: loan from
an intermediate holding company and bank borrowing) less
cash and bank balances, and capital as all components of
equity. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
debt-to-capital ratio.

The net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2021 was as

27.

BEXRERERE (&

Pt EFRRERLEERME ’ZIK%@H%‘}%%
BEEREHRE (BEKRETEERA
ZERRBENTEERARME) CTZ T
F REPEHERADZERIRTEER) #
fﬁ%&fﬁﬁ iR MEAERAE@ZFTA
EAER D - AEERBFPEBER L REE

KRB —F+"A=+—RZFEEESX

follows: EERUNF
2021 2020
T —fF <= 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Total borrowings E4azE 4,750,281 4,749,466
Less: cash and cash equivalents B IRENREEE (329,571) (212,537)
Net debt FEE 4,420,710 4,536,929
Total equity Y 3,400,891 2,640,694
Total capital HEER 7,821,601 7177623
Net debt-to-capital ratio FEREBEARLLE 56.5% 63.2%

28.Capital commitments

The slight decrease in debt-to-capital ratio is mainly due
to the increase in shareholders’ funds as a result of the fair
value increase of the investment properties.

28.

BEERLLERME LA ETZRNKREY*
NHEENERRRE SRR

B KIE
2021 2020
—ET—4F “ETFEF
HK$’000 HK$'000

BEFT  EMTR

Contracted, but not provided for BERJAERER

— Capital expenditures on investment

properties

—REVEZ BRI

= 428

232

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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GaMBHREME (8)

29.Balance sheet of the Company 2. K NEBEEEER
2021 2020
T T T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 BT T BT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JEREE E
Property, plant and equipment LER T Yo 4,248 4,996
Investments in subsidiaries RRB AT ZRE 4,718,471 4,774,488
Interests in associates g Bz #Em 2,607 2,607
4,725,326 4,782,091
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from associates FEW S A B RIB 48 =
Prepayments, deposits and other ANER -tk
receivables HhpE U= IE 3,035 2,416
Cash and cash equivalents BeEAIREEE 117,907 69,579
120,990 71,995
Total assets MEE 4,846,316 4,854,086
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities EREERE
Loan from an intermediate holding REFEERAT ZER
company - 3,848,434
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtEIBRES 8% - 386,149
- 4,234,583
Current liabilities VEI=N
Loan from an intermediate holding REFEEZERABIZER
company 3,848,434 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENEIE 242,541 243111
Other payable and accrued expenses HtEmIB R ESTE R 520,384 2,586
4,611,359 245,697
Total liabilities BEE 4,611,359 4,480,280
EQUITY e
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital il 156,775 156,775
Reserves (G 19(b) 78,182 217,031
Total equity “BREE 234,957 373,806
Total equity and liabilities MEDREE 4,846,316 4,854,086
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the KABIEEBERBEERS ‘TZ%ZZEZ

Board of Directors on 8 March 2022 and was signed on its

behalf.

Mr. Wang Hai
ekt
Chairman

ESE

Mr. Xu Yongle

Director

5%

BANBHAETHAUTATARESZERE
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30.Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
particularly liquidity and credit risks. Where appropriate, the
Group’s risk management policies seek to minimise potential
adverse effects of these risks on the financial performance
of the Group. The policies for managing these risks are
summarised below.

(a) Cash flow interest rate risk

234

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from cash
balances placed with authorised financial institutions,
loans from an intermediate holding company and bank
borrowing, which generate interest income and incur interest
expense for the Group. The Group manages its interest rate
risk for cash balances by placing such balances on various
maturities and interest rate terms.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had loans from an
intermediate holding company of HK$4,750,091,000 (2020:
HK$3,848,434,000) and bank borrowing of HK$nil (2020:
HK$901,032,000). It is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s profit for the year and total equity by approximately
HK$47,896,000 (2020: HK$47,631,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the balance sheet date and had been applied to the interest-
bearing financial instruments in existence at that date.

30. TR AR EIE

@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Group’s objective in managing this risk is to
maintain a balance between the continuity and the flexibility
of funding through the use of bank loans and overdraft, if
necessary, and the loan from group companies.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at the balance
sheet date, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates as at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The balance includes the accrued
interest for the loans from an intermediate holding company
and bank borrowing. For details, please refer to Notes 14 and
15.

30. AU AR EE (&

(b) FENEEERE

NPETRRIEAERNBEITRESRMEEE
< EBRESNE B AEEEEZ
Bz BERDEBERIRTEMRRES

FEDEETETEE FE (HED KR
BEBARZEM

TRITHREHEHAEBSHEBEZGR TS
HHARREEIS  DEREREHNRITIRZIRERE

(BREEKAGNNEAEZMENMT HE
ZFEFE AIBREEH 2 F)E) RAEE
AR NRIEZ RF R RBEEERETHE
ERABIZERRIRTEE Z BB o 5%
1BE 2 RIMIEE145150

Other payables and Loans from an intermediate
accrued liabilities holding company* Bank borrowing Lease liabilities
HEMtEMTIEREARE  REPEERADZER” RITEE HEER

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ZPT-& C3-TF ZB-—% TZIITE ZF-F ICF T "TIDE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BIETT BT BIETT BETT BT BETT BET T
Within 1 year or on demand —FERGREKR 43,110 36,259 5,385,957 - - 904,655 1,832 5,496
More than 1 but less than 2 years BE—FEORmE - - - 4,481,962 - - - 5736
More than 2 but less than 5 years BEMEEORAE - - - - - - - 7808
More than 5 years BBAE - - - - - - - -
Total undiscounted cash flows KURRETERE 43,110 36,259 5,385,957 4,481,962 - 904,655 1,832 19,040
Carrying amount REE 43,110 36,259 5,267,480 4,234,583 - 901,032 1,820 17,952

* Interest payable (included in other payables and accrued

liabilities) are included for the purpose of reconciliation.

*

HRHRE N ABAMNE GIARMBEIRIE
REStEE) o

RIBIRDERARAS T
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30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Currency risk

236

Currency risk arises on account of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency. There is no non-monetary exposure on the Group.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
are denominated predominantly in Hong Kong Dollars. The
Group’s only significant exposure to foreign exchange risk
arises from its cash at bank in RMB and cash at bank in US$.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash at bank in RMB
of HK$2,113,000 (2020: HK$2,527,000) and cash at bank in
US$ of HK$31,972,000 (2020: HK$32,282,000).

If the RMB had strengthened/weakened by 10% against
Hong Kong Dollars with all other variables held constant, it
would increase/decrease the pre-tax profit for the year by
HK$211,000 (2020: HK$253,000). As US$ is pegged to HK$,
the Group does not expect any significant movement in the
US$/HK$ exchange rate.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in exchange rate had occurred at
the balance sheet date.

30. &Rl

"SQ:IE (II\E

(c) E¥&=p
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from its deposits with
banks and accounts receivable.

Bank deposits are mainly placed with high-credit-quality

30. AU AR EE (&

(d) EERE

FrEEZEERER
Wewkag -

EREHIBITHERRIE

RTEREZERNERARTNSERER

financial institutions. The credit quality of bank deposits g RITEARNEEERT2RBRUTING
can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if EEF4R WH) a1
available) as follows:
2021 2020
—ET—fF BT
% %
% %
AA- AA- 40.0 35.6
At At 377 527
A A 2.4 3.3
BBB BBB 19.9 8.4
100.0 100.0

The Group manages its credit risk associated with accounts
receivable through the application of credit approvals, credit
ratings and monitoring procedures including the impact of
COVID-19.

Credit sales are only made to customers with appropriate
credit history or high credit standing while sales to new
customers or customers of low credit standing are usually
made on an advance payment or cash on delivery basis.

FEBEBFAEEEM EETRREE
TR EIEHBWEER Z EE AR
(BEHEERRZZTE)

FEBEAFRABRFEECHIUBSER
Sz ERETRE BV R R SEERT

REEZEZR BERARLARAEEY

M TVETR S °
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30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

238

In respect of credit exposures to tenants, management
conducts credit evaluations on prospective tenants before
lease agreements are entered into with tenants. The Group
also has policies in place to ensure that rental security
deposits are required from tenants prior to commencement
of leases. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses is made for irrecoverable
amounts.

As part of the ongoing risk assessment process,
management during the year ended 31 December 2021
has also considered specific implications of COVID-19 on
its credit exposure to tenants. These implications were
considered minimal due to the business nature of its tenant
population and location of the leased assets which primarily
serve basic consumer needs in established districts, where
demand and consumption remains relatively stable during
the pandemic. Therefore, existing leases entered, mostly
with remaining lease terms of 1-3 years and performance of
contractual lease payments are assessed as insignificantly
impacted even during COVID-19.

As at 31 December 2021, the total accounts receivable are
from 40 customers (2020: 36 customers) only.
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30. AU AR EE (&

(d) EERE (&)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information. Indicators
including actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the tenants’ ability to
meet its obligations and if changes in the payment status
of tenants is noted. A significant increase in credit risk is
defined by management as any contractual payment which is
more than 30 days past due. Any contractual payment which
is more than 90 days past due is considered credit impaired.

The Group considers that accounts receivable is financial
instrument that have not exposed to a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition (“stage 1”). The Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
expected credit losses by individual assessment. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the amounts of impairment
loss of HK$310,000 (2020: nil) on accounts receivables was
recognised.

As at 31 December 2021, the accounts receivable subjected
to significant increase in credit risk is limited. The impairment
of accounts receivable, if any, that is in stage 2 and 3 are
immaterial to the Group.

mIEEERRAE DR > AEE LR
BERRS BRVENRRER )T R E
HIRENRR > WE BrS e ERAERS
RBURIBEIE B, - 15 R EIE R MK
BERRNBRNTRINER TN EE) > ZF
IERRARERE R BITHEBIENELE
BEREF UK EREEPHMRRERS

REEEBRENEERRRBEL BB
BT ROEAEGONTRERSHEERE

REBRARKRRA BT EBLUK
EERRIEEE RNz EMTA (M5B
ER)) - AEEC RSB EIREEERF5R
BbAstE2ATEREERBZBEEE -
AEEZER T HECTHRPEERE -8
“ET—F+"BA=-+—HIEFE BRE
W BRFRE E518310,00058 70 (T T4 ©

p
$) o

B —F+RB=+—H EEaAkE
ZIEMBFEUEIRIRA IR o 2R R K 3P R
MREMERTURIE (NA) HAEEMS L AE
%o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 B ok Ak

(%)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

(e)

240

The Group considers that deposits and other receivables are
financial instruments that have not exposed to a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition (“stage 1”) and
considers the probability of default of deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 to be close to
zero as the counterparties have strong capacity to meet their
contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss
allowance has been recognised based on 12-month ECL as
any such impairment would be insignificant to the Group.

No significant changes to estimating techniques or
assumptions were made during the reporting period.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are
set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

Fair value estimation

The Group’s investment properties are measured at fair
value. The Group classifies fair value measurements using a
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (Level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

30. &Rl

"SQ:IE (II\E

(d) EERE (&)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)
()

(e) Fairvalue estimation (Continued)

See Notes 6 for disclosures of the investment properties that
are measured at fair value.

30.

TREREE (&
DFEGE (@

B AT EAEZREYEZRESK
B2 HMEGe

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1R E24R E34R izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BMTR BRI EETR
Investment properties as at A _E_—F+"HA=+—H
31 December 2021 =g ES
Investment properties BEME - - 3,282,500 3,282,500
Investment properties as at A ZEZTF+ZA=1+—H
31 December 2020 B
Investment properties i a=CYES - - 3,183,500 3,183,500

There was no transfer between levels during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

As part of the periodic evaluation by management,
implications of COVID-19 on its fair value estimation process
have been considered. Management engages an external
valuer using the income capitalisation approach which takes
into account market information with reference to sales
evidence as available on the market. Management considers
that such market information is already reflective of the
impact of COVID-19 during the year on achievable rental
yields and capitalisation rates of the implied valuation as at
the valuation date. Management is also aware of potential
valuation uncertainty given the unknown future impact that

RBEE_Z-_—Fx_ZF_ZTF+_H
=+—HLEFERSED REHR-

EREERE R MN—52 BEEHE
HNEBHE AT ENLBENRZE -
BZEINBEEM AERWmEARESE
ETEE 2R A RHISERLS E TS
LRIESRHERE - EEER S INEE
BER > BRI E R B R RE AR ELE AR RE
SHABRATR@m T RERCLERS | F G
BENFE - BN E AR KRS H
BEARRNTE BEETIAEMLEN
BENREN T EEEEREEEERE
RS M= SER R S B A EREERS

COVID-19 might have in the short term and longer term, and 1o
continues to monitor and reassess potential indicators due to
COVID-19 affecting valuations at the relevant reporting dates.
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e M B HRERME ()

30.Financial risk management (Continued) 30. TRUEGEIR (B

(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable

inputs

The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning
balance to the ending balance for fair value measurement in

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

(=|

H EaFTERRABENSRIANG

TRIVHEATERETUEIMR A TESE
FUREREERSEROVEER

2021 2020

—E-—fF BB

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Opening balance FEEER 3,183,500 3,352,316

Additions during the year FARE 1,926 2,876

Disposal during the year FAHE — (1,270)

Unrealised gain/(loss) recognised FARBRBIAREIRNRE (518

during the year 97,074 (170,576)

Exchange difference B =R - 154

Closing balance FREER 3,282,500 3,183,500
Net changes in unrealised gains/(losses) BRI EFRBIR G (B518) B9

for Level 3 investment EEEE 97,074 (170,576)

* For identification purpose only

* EHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

30.Financial risk management (Continued)

(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable
inputs (Continued)

30. LA ERE (B

H EaFTERRABENSRIANG
B (@

Balance of investment properties as at 31 December 2021: RIE - —F+-HA=1+—HREWENLE
B
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE ATE GERE FOBERBAYE tEfl/EEE
HK$'000
BT T
Investment properties 3,282,500  Income Capitalisation rate: 2.65%-3.90% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(Refer to Note 6 capitalisation the lower the fair value
for details) approach
KREME GHEF2HM 3282500 WAEBREAE BEARMEE! 2.65%%E3.90% BXEREE ATEREE
*6)

Rental rates:
Retail shops:
HK$50.0 psf-
Office buildings
HK$50.0 psf-
Industrial prope
HK$10.0 psf-
Car parking spa

The lower the rents, the lower the
fair value
HK$58.0 psf
HK$96.0 psf
rties:
HK$29.7 psf
ce:

HK$3,379.0 per space

e :
TEE!

HEBE A TEI-E

BYHR0.0BTESTAR

58.0/87T
WAKIE

SYAR0.0BTEGTAR

96.0 7T
IE:

B¥HRI00BTESFAR

29787t
{SHEIGHE

FEEEIHE(3,379.0/87T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M B HRERME ()

30.Financial risk management (Continued) 30. RAGEIE (B
(f) Valuation of financial instruments with unobservable (f) 23 FHEREHARENERTENG
inputs (Continued) ENEE)
Balance of investment properties as at 31 December 2020: RIZZEBF+"A=1+—HREWFENG
B
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE ATE GERE FOBERBAYE tEfl/EEE
HK$'000
BT T
Investment properties 3,183,500  Income Capitalisation rate: 2.75%-3.90% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(Refer to Note 6 capitalisation the lower the fair value
for details) approach
REME 3183500 WABAXEAZE BAREER:275%E3.90% BXEREE ATEREE
(F#1BFE2RMES)
Rental rates: The lower the rents, the lower the
Retail shops: fair value

HK$32.2 psf-HK$55.0 psf
Office buildings:
HK$32.2 psf- HK$98.0 psf
Industrial properties:
HK$10.0 psf- HK$29.7 psf
Car parking space:
HK$3,326.0 per space
e HEHE AT ERBIE
BEIE:
FEHRI22BTEGTEAR
5507 7T
MAKKE !
BTHRI22BTEGF AR
98.0787T
Is:
SXAHRI00BTESESR
29787T
BEGEN
SEREIHFE3,326.087T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREME (8)

31.Subsidiaries and associates

31. B A B K= AT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and the
Group’s principal associates as at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 are as follows:

RIE_—F+_A=+—HAR_E_TF
+IBE=+—B ARENEERBLE R
FEBRNTEMEQTFBEOT

Subsidiaries M AT
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
registration and operations  issued/registered
Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital Proportion held Nature of business
ML EMREENE
NGIEL CEELZEER) BE#1T EMEAEE AR EHME
Direct Indirect
B iE3
Great Wall Pan Asia Hong Kong Ordinary HK$25,560,000 S 100% Asset management services
Asset Management Limited (limited liability company)
RHRGEEEEBRA &% (BRRAE) 1 8%25,560,00078 7T EEBERE
Great Wall Pan Asia Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 S 100% Corporate finance services
Corporate Finance Limited (limited liability company)
RPIRERMERRAR &5 (BRAE) E3B#25,000,000% 7T T EMBER
Lyton Investment Limited The Commonwealth of Ordinary US$2 S 100% Property holding
The Bahamas
(limited liability company)
EBreBHANE (BRAR) BER2ET MERH
Macheer Properties Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 S 100% Property holding
(limited liability company)
HEERREE BRAE) BBERIET MERH
Nanchao Yau Tong Limited The British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 = 100% Property holding
(limited liability company)
HEERREE BRAE) BBERIET MERH
Sunny Bright Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100% Property holding
Limited (limited liability company)
HRIEERARAT &5 (BRAE) EBER2ET MERE
Sunny Success Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 S 100% Property holding
Limited (limited liability company)
MARERERAR &5 (BRAE) EBER2ET MERHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M B HRERME ()

31.Subsidiaries and associates (Continued)

3. B AR K= AT &

Subsidiaries (Continued) MEBAE @)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
registration and operations  issued/registered
Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital Proportion held Nature of business
MR MR EENE
REVLTE CEELEER) BE#1T /EMEAEE FRLE EBUE
Direct Indirect
Hiz 1%
Ray Glory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 S 100% Property holding
(limited liability company)
HEBRAT &% (BRAE) Z@ER1IET MESE
Shen Zhen Great Wall Pan Asia The PRC Registered capital of S 100% Corporate consultancy
International Equity Investment  (limited liability company) RMB13,298,665 services
Fund Management Company
Limited
FIRBIRCEERERERES  HE (BRAR) HMEAARE 1 ERRER
EEFRAR 13,298,6657T
Associates HERE
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
registration and operations  issued/registered Percentage of equity
Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital attributable to the Group Nature of business
ML Rk EENE
REVTE CEELEER) BT EMEAEE FEERGRATDL EBUE
Dymocks Franchise Systems Hong Kong Ordinary HK$7700,000 45% Bookshop operation
(China) Limited* (limited liability company)
&8 (BRAE) E48A%7700,00078 7T BEES
Everwell City Limited* The British Virgin Islands Ordinary HK$10,001 35.78% Property holding
(limited liability company)
HEETARNE BRAT)  TERI0,0018T MERH
#  The financial statements of these company were not audited by Y RERBZHMBERRLIFEAEBIULGCER

EAMEBMERADHAETBILGEERS
SHMEHAARAB ZHMB AT EZ-

BDO Limited or the member firms of BDO Limited.

EERR LRI ZARBTMBLRE KR
EEZHMEATNNTERFTRNEEREAR
& FEAEREEFEEALLLA -EER
7 HYEMNB AR Z s+l E R S (PR
i@ R

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company and
associates of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries and associates would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREME (8)

32.Related party transactions

As at the balance sheet date, the Directors regard Great Wall
Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited as the immediate holding
company of the Company, Great Wall International as an
intermediate holding company of the Company and GWAMCC
as the ultimate holding company of the Company.

(a) Transactions with GWAMCC and its group of
subsidiaries

Significant transactions with GWAMCC and its group of
subsidiaries are as follow:

32. Al 53 5

REEE H > EERGreat Wall Pan Asia (BVI)
Holding LimitedB3AAB 2 BIFIERAE &
WERARAR Z FEEZERAR MPEE
WMEBEARNAT 2 REERAE]

(@) BFERRBEERENBATZRS

BRI EERENBAT ZERRZZM
T

2021 2020
—ET—fF TERCRE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T TT
Lease of investment properties to an HMEREYETHEERAE
intermediate holding company
- Rental income —HEWHA 16,774 16,774
Rendering of services to an intermediate RHRBE T HREERAE]
holding company
- Asset management service —BEBERS - 25,667
- Consultancy service —EAARTE 1,300 -
Loans from an intermediate holding company Z& B HRIZR AT 2 B
— Interest expense (Note 22) —MBRZ Hzt22) 142,549 131,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M B HRERME ()

32.Related party transactions (Continued)

(a) Transactions with GWAMCC and its group of

32. Rl A5 ()

/|

(@) BFERBEERENBATZRS

subsidiaries (Continued) #@&
2021 2020
—g—F “E2TEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Amount due from an intermediate holding FEUN R REERG A BIFRIE
company 1,300 =
Loans from an intermediate holding company Z& B HRIZR AT 2 B
~ Loan payable —FEIER 4,750,091 3,848,434
— Interest payable —FELFIE 517,389 386,149
Amount due to an intermediate holding FE PR A B FUIE
company 190 =
(b) Key management personnel compensation (b) FEESEAEZME
2021 2020
B —F “EBIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other short-term e R EMEEAESER
employee benefits 1,083 1,660
Post-employment benefits BIREET - 10
1,083 1,670

33.Subsequent events

There is no significant subsequent event after the reporting

period.

34.Approval of the financial statements 34 ATEIRFR 2L
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the PiN S Pt =t
Board of Directors on 8 March 2022. sEgitEe
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
o 4F Bt s i

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA KRERIER TS

Year ended 31 December

BETZAZ+-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
(in HK$ millions, unless otherwise stated)  (BEAETT: BRBAEREIN EC-F oS “T-NF T \¥ “B—tF
OPERATING RESULTS F
Revenue Wi 120 130 168 145 123
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit*** RN (5518) /B /YA (38) 70 51 44
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment REMEATE (BB /e
properties 97 (171 169 401 221
Operating (loss)/profit T (5518 /BF 141 (208) 239 454 268
Share of profits/(losses) of associates ELEEEARRE/ (518 774 58 427 280 0)
Income tax expense FrisiBEs 8) 8) (6) (6) (12)
Net (loss)/profit attributable to REEGREFELCEERY
Shareholders from continuing F (518 /B
operations 760 (320) 487 583 252
Net (loss)/profit attributable to RRELTRBERIELELE
Shareholders from discontinued 2% (B518) /BA
operations - = = = =
Net (loss)/profit attributable to Shareholders FRERFELLF (8518) /& A 760 (320) 487 583 252
PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK EEkEk
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit SREAZLE (518 /BF
per share (in HK cents) (B 2.75 (2.42) 446 3.23 283
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SREAL (1) /&R (BL)
(in HK cents) 48.46 (20.38) 31.06 37.22 15.89
Diluted adjusted operating (loss)/profit SRBBCHERLE (BB /
per share (in HK cents) B &) 2.75 (2.42) 446 3.23 2.83
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREE (518) /&R (B
(in HK cents) 48.46 (20.38) 31.06 3722 15.89
Dividend per share (in HK cents) SREE (B - = = S S
Net asset value per share (in HK$) SREEFE (B 217 1.68 1.89 158 1.21
FINANCIAL POSITION BN
Property, plant and equipment LERN B 524 532 632 4 5
Total assets mEE 8,727 7,839 8,032 7513 3,363
Loan from an intermediate holding REFEERATZER
company (4,750) (3,848) (3,848) (3,915) (1,436)
Loan from a non-controlling Shareholder ~ ZRE—RIEEFIMRER 2 B - S = = S
Total liabilities F=L (5,326) (5,198) (5,073) (5,041) (1,471)
Net assets attributable to Shareholders RERLEEESE 3,401 2,641 2,959 2,473 1,892
Number of Shares inissue BETRHHE 1,567,745,596 1567745596 1567745596 1567745596  1,567745,596
KEY RATIOS BB
Adjusted operating (loss)/profit torevenue &SRS (5518) /
BRI @EE 37% -29% 42% 35% 36%
Return on average equity TARARRE 25.15% -11.41% 1793% 26.75% 14.09%
Return on average total assets THRBELRE 917% -4.03% 6.26% 10.73% 9.91%
Gearing BESELE 56.5% 63.2% 60.7% 65.5% £11%
Current assets to current liabilities MBEERLRBAR 7% 25% 399% 177% 49.56%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (Continued)

hFEMEHE (5)

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (Continued)

The financial results for media business for the years ended 31
December 2017 were presented as discontinued operations.

*** Adjusted operating profit is defined as operating profit before other
income and fair value gain on investment properties.

R T 80E (8)

BE_Z—tHF+A=+—HLEFEEERX
B BEEETRERILEEXER-

oo R BEERNRATESRTHMBARKEY
ERTEREZEERT]
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GLOSSARY
] %

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following glossaries shall have the following meanings:

RAERER  BFEXESBFEIN THAREBUTEE !

“Board”
EE -l

“Bye-Laws”
I/ASIEEUR

“China” or “PRC”
MR

“Company”

MR AT SRR AR |

“Corporate Governance Code”
Mb2E/ASTAL

“Director(s)”
&)

“Great Wall International”

MR8 B

“GFOUp”, “We”, or “our”

S ENEAES 2T

“GWAMCC”

MEREEE]

“HK$”
BT

*  Foridentification purpose only

o EHRES

the board of directors of the Company
KABEERE

the Bye-Laws of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRBEAEEST Z A B4R

the People’s Republic of China
hE ARHEME

Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the issued Shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 583)
RRHBREERERAE ) — XN BREZMAINEREFRA
8 HE TR ICE R T4k E ({5 U5E @ 583)

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules

EmRRRIM S+ PSR (X B G TR

(a) director(s) of the Company
KABESR

China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited,
a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited
liability and a controlling Shareholder of the Company

FEERBEE @R ZERERAE —FKIREERAEGIZMAIIH
BRABRARBZIERKRE

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time
RRBREAKZNBAS

China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd., a financial
conglomerate engaged in a broad range of integrated financial
services and an ultimate controlling Shareholder of the Company

THEHREEEERMNABERAT —HARSEZGFEEHRT 2
MEBRAAT ZREIZRRER

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BBEEEE
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GLOSSARY
] %

“Hong Kong”
r&48)

“Latest Practicable Date”
RBERATHE

“Listing Rules
FEmRAL

“Main Board”

MMy

“Memorandum of Association and
Bye-Laws”

K EEE =t SN Y SN N

“Model Code”

TESEFA

%)

F

c
b5

s

18

= |

“SFO”

5 R E R A

“Share(s)”

MR&1%

“Shareholder(s)”
MR ER

“Stock Exchange”
TES 2P

“US$”

=S

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEBRITHRE

20 April 2022
. S— LS s &

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(as amended from time to time)

32 P s 75 E AR R (EARBHES])

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the
Stock Exchange which is independent of and operated in parallel
with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

BRI ENE SR T (FEIER#ETS) » EIEI 50 B Pr
GEMILTRE(E

the Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company, as
amended from time to time
RABRAFHES] 2 BB ER KA R TR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

LR PIE( EHETAEFETESXZHNRETR)

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BERSREEHEREES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time)

BERAEOIENERF MGG (AR EST Bt U H AR
&2

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
KABRAPEREECI0ETTZ EERK

holder(s) of Share(s) from time to time

R ZRMAFE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMERZAERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of
America

Eu ZNBREREEEER
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GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REFREZMURIZBRAR)
(Stock Code REA 155 : 583)

HEFIREBRB129ERMRITH L2118
21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
www.gwpaholdings.com

* For identification purpose only
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